
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

POLICE ADVISORY BOARD 
MEETING PACKET 

 

 FOR  
 

Thursday, November 18, 2021 
7 p.m. 

 
 
 

Meeting held virtually through Teams.  
Pursuant to Executive Order 20-16, this meeting 
will be conducted electronically and will be live 

streamed at 
https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood. 

https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood


 
Home of the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge 

 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
  

 

Police Advisory Board 
Date & Time:  Thursday -  November 18, 2021 7:00 pm 
Location:  Pursuant to House Bill 4212 (2020), this meeting will 

be conducted electronically and will be live streamed 
at https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood.  

Attendees 
 

 

1. Call to Order (Chair) 
2. Roll Call (Chair/Staff) 
3. Approval of Minutes (Chair) 
4. Board Member Announcements (Chair) 
5. Business (Chair) 

a. 2021 SWOT Report (2021 Template & 2020 Report Attached) 
6. Traffic Safety Update (Chair & TSC Liaisons) 
7. Councilor News 
8. Staff Report(s) 
9. Citizen Comment 

Pursuant to Executive Order 20-16, citizen comments must be submitted in writing to:  
hassa@sherwoodoregon.gov. To be included in the record for this meeting, the email must clearly state that it is 
intended as a citizen comment for this meeting and must be received at least 24 hours in advance of the scheduled meeting 
time. Per Council Rules Ch. 2 Section (V)(D)(5), Citizen Comments, “Speakers shall identify themselves by their names 
and by their city of residence.” Anonymous comments will not be accepted into the meeting record.  

10. Adjourn (Chair) 

P.A.B. Members: Council Liaison: 
Brian Dorsey - Chair Councilor Kim Young 
Megan Thornton - Vice Chair City Staff: 
Diane Foster Jeff Groth - Police Chief 
Mike Meyer Ty Hanlon – Police Captain 
Marie Schapp Angie Hass – Executive Assistant 
Mike Schultz  
Mike Smith  
Chris West  
Laurie Zwingli  

https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood
mailto:hassa@sherwoodoregon.gov


Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021 Annual Boards & Commissions Report to City Council – SWOT 
Police Advisory Board 

City Council Meeting (TIME & DATE) (TBD) 
LOCATION OR VIRTUAL (TBD) 

 
 
Strengths 

•  
•  
•  
•  

 
 
 
Weaknesses 

•  
•  
•  
•  

 
 
 
Opportunities 

•  
•  
•  
•  

 
 
 
 
Threats 

•  
•  
•  
•  

 
 
 

1. What are your two or three most significant accomplishments for this past year as a board 
or commission? 



Page 2 of 2 
 

 

A. 

B. 

C. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. What are your two or three major goals for the upcoming year as a board or commission? 
 

A. 

B. 

C. 

 



Page 1 of 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2020 Annual Boards & Commissions Report to City Council – SWOT 
Police Advisory Board 

 
 
Strengths 

• We represent a cross-section of the Sherwood community. 
• We are passionate about maintaining a positive relationship between the SPD and Community. 
• We maintain positive public perception. 

 
Weaknesses 

• Public communication and education. 
• COVID limitations. 

 
Opportunities 

• Public re-engagement post COVID. 
 
Threats 

• Not engaging in, or showing complacency towards, the conversations/discussions regarding 
policing. 

 
1. What are your two or three most significant accomplishments for this past year as a board 

or commission? 
 
A. Helped establish the Traffic Safety Committee. 
B. Worked in concert with City Council to strengthen municipal code language regarding 

standards of policing and routine police policy review. 
C. Heightened awareness of the Police Advisory Board. 

2. What are your two or three major goals for the upcoming year as a board or commission? 
 

A. Continue consistent review of police policies and provide input as necessary. 
B. Gain a deeper understanding of the implications and impacts of recreational marijuana and 

Ballot Measure 110. 
C. Re-implement police-community programs like the Police Citizen Academy, post COVID. 

 



 
Home of the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge 

Meeting Minutes 
DRAFT 

 
 

 

Police Advisory Board 
Date & Time:  October 21, 2021 - 7:00 pm 
Location:  Meeting held virtually through Teams. 

 
 

 

 

This meeting was recorded and is available for viewing on the City of Sherwood’s 
YouTube channel: 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CjVLEycwOSc    
 

 
1. Call to Order 
 

Vice Chair Thornton called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
2. Roll Call 
 

Board Members Present: Chair Brian Dorsey (departed the meeting early), Vice Chair Megan 
Thornton, Diane Foster, Mike Meyer, Mike Schultz, Mike Smith, Chris West and Laurie Zwingli 

 
Board Members Absent: Marie Schapp 
 
Staff & City Council Liaison Present: Captain Ty Hanlon, Chief Jeff Groth, City Manager-Keith 
Campbell, Councilor Kim Young and Executive Assistant Angie Hass 
 

3. Approval of Minutes 
 

September 16, 2021 Meeting Minutes 
Mr. Smith moved that the September meeting minutes be approved as submitted. Ms. Zwingli 
seconded the motion.  

P.A.B. Members: Council Liaison: 
Brian Dorsey - Chair Councilor Kim Young 
Megan Thornton - Vice Chair City Staff: 
Diane Foster Ty Hanlon – Police Captain 
Mike Meyer Jeff Groth – Police Chief 
Marie Schapp  Angie Hass – Executive Assistant 
Mike Schultz  
Mike Smith Guest: New Sherwood City Manager 
Chris West Keith Campbell 
Laurie Zwingli  

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CjVLEycwOSc


 

Police Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2021 
Page 2 of 8 

 

4. Board Member Announcements (Chair) 
Ms. Zwingli stated that she recently had the pleasure of meeting the new City Manager, Keith 
Campbell. She was glad to see that he attended this meeting so he could introduce himself to the 
board members. 
 
Ms. Zwingli shared that the Sherwood Police Foundation has started the discussion and process 
for planning the next fund raising gala. It will take place on May 14th, 2022. They are always looking 
for bodies to help and new members. She asked the board members to let her know if they know 
of anyone or have ideas.   
 
Mr. Smith reminded the group that he had previously attended the FBI Citizens Academy. This 
was six weeks of intensely interesting stuff. If anyone has an interest in doing this, they are 
welcome to reach out to him and he can help to hook them up. As a result of this, he has been 
volunteering at PDX, helping to train TSA agents. He’s the guy that tries to get through the 
screening process with items in his suitcase or he’s wearing some smelly stuff that the dogs point 
to, etc. He finds this work absolutely fascinating. That being said, the first time he gets tased or 
bitten, he’s out.  
 
Mr. Meyer shared that he has a small business in town and the other night, an Officer left a “Night 
Eyes” note on their business door. He had not been aware of this program where Police Officers 
get out of their cars and check on different businesses in town. Vice Chair Thornton asked for a 
little more clarification on this program. The Chief explained that the Sherwood PD has had this 
crime prevention program in place for at least a decade, if not decades.  
 
Mr. West said that, with his clients, they always start their meetings with some kind of safety tip. 
He thought it would be nice to do that, this evening. The tip he had shared with his clients that day 
had to do with the changing weather. It’s a good idea to make sure you have good windshield 
wipers and tires. Now that we have slick roads again, be sure your vehicles are in good shape 
and ready for the rain.  
 
Chair Dorsey shared a bit about his recent police ride along with Officer Dean Borges. He stated 
that it was phenomenal to see Sherwood’s finest in action. (Chair Dorsey excused himself from 
the meeting at this time.) 
 
Vice Chair Thornton said that she had attended a women’s march a few weeks ago. It was entirely 
peaceful and wonderful to see hundreds of people out and not have one incident.  
 

5. Business (Chair) 
 

a. New City Manager, Keith Campbell – Introduction 
Mr. Campbell thanked Chief Groth for inviting him to this meeting. This was his second week 
with the City. During that time, he had met a few of the board members, as he has been 



 

Police Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2021 
Page 3 of 8 

 

reaching out to different community members and stakeholders to try to get to know them. 
With the Police Chief search coming up, he’s asking folks to help him come up with 
characteristics and attributes that they’d like to see in the new Police Chief. What is it that he 
needs to know, coming into the community, and what is the community looking for? This will 
help him in making good decisions going forward. He is happy to answer any questions 
and/or meet with anyone. He has an open door policy as he gets engaged and involved with 
the community.  
 
Vice Chair Thornton asked Mr. Campbell what attracted him to the City Manager position. 
Mr. Campbell stated that Chief Groth and Captain Hanlon were a big factor in making that 
decision. They had both reached out to him and encouraged him to apply when the position 
opened up. Personally and professionally, it seemed like a really great fit.  
 
Councilor Young elaborated a bit on the relationship between the three (Mr. Campbell, Chief 
Groth and Captain Hanlon), reminding the board of a time, not too long ago, when Captain 
Hanlon served as the temporary Police Chief for the City of Stayton.  
 
Chief Groth added that through his work co-chairing the Executive Resources Committee 
through the OACP (Oregon Association of Chiefs of Police), one of the key programs they 
provide, is assistance to cities when they need an interim Chief or an agency review. When 
Mr. Campbell was with the City of Stayton, he reached out to the OACP when they were in 
need of an interim Chief and needing assistance with putting together a recruitment for their 
next permanent Chief. It was during this time that the Chief reached out to the City of Stayton, 
recommending Captain Hanlon serve as the interim Chief. This is how they all became 
acquainted. Chief Groth went on to state that he was very impressed with Mr. Campbell’s 
professionalism, mannerisms, and how smart he was and dialed in with what needed to 
happen. When the Sherwood City Manager position became available, it seemed like a no-
brainer, that he should recommend Mr. Campbell to the recruiter.  
 
Mr. West asked Mr. Campbell how he plans to go about the Police Chief search. Mr. 
Campbell stated that they are trying to find a national recruiter so that they can conduct a 
national search. Kristen Switzer is engaged in that process, which began before he started 
his position with the City of Sherwood. The hope is that they will have some information to 
get out soon. Mr. Campbell indicated that he definitely wants this group to be part of the 
process, and stated that it is important that stakeholders are involved as they move forward.  
 
Vice Chair Thornton asked the Chief to provide the date / timeline for his departure. For those 
that may not have been aware of his retirement announcement, the Chief shared that he’s 
been in law enforcement for 32 years and the Chief for the Sherwood PD for nearly 14 years. 
His last day will be the end of December. He feels that every good leader should go out at 
the right time and not too late. The department is in a great position right now to move 
forward. Vice Chair Thornton stated that she had heard that he would be consulting for six 



 

Police Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2021 
Page 4 of 8 

 

months. Chief Groth explained that he, technically, retired at the end of June. The City and 
he agreed to a six-month continuation. That is what’s going on. It’s not really consulting. This 
is to help with the transition to the new Chief. At the time he retired, the City was getting 
ready to hire a new City Manager. It would not have been a good time for another key 
leadership person to just pick up and walk out.  
 
Councilor Young asked Mr. Campbell how he would like the board members to get their 
thoughts and suggestions to him. Vice Chair Thornton asked Ms. Hass to e-mail Mr. 
Campbell’s e-mail address to all of the board members.  
 
Captain Hanlon wanted to pass along to the board members a couple of dates for some 
upcoming PD events. Saturday, 10/23 from 10-2, there will be a Drug Take Back Event at 
the PD. On 10/30 from 9-noon, a Shred / Food Drive event will be taking place at the PD.  

 
b. Police Policy Updates (Captain Hanlon & Chief Groth) – Exhibit “A” 
Captain Hanlon said that he wouldn’t be able to state, exactly, what changes were made. 
Such as, if a comma was added or grammatical correction was made, etc. Most of the 
updates are pretty straightforward. (This update begins at the 23:36 minute of the YouTube 
video recording.)  
 
Captain Hanlon and the Chief explained the different reasons a policy is updated by Lexipol, 
in addition to formatting and grammatical corrections. Updates can be made due to legislative 
changes and/or new case law as well. This time around, some of the changes were made in 
order to come into compliance with the Oregon Accreditation Alliance.  
 
Captain Hanlon explained that the Sherwood PD is just wrapping up their most recent Re-
Accreditation process and a few changes needed to be made for that process. The 
documentation portion of this process is now complete. The next and final step is an on-site 
inspection, which will be taking place the following Tuesday.  
 
The Chief stated that a lot of the time, Lexipol prompts these updates, but in some cases, 
the Sherwood PD needs to make adjustments, like they did several months ago with the 
Pursuit Policy. He went on to elaborate a little more on the Re-Accreditation process and 
stated that policy is what guides them into best practice and helps them to meet their 
Accreditation standards.  
 
The Chief reminded the board that they are the first to vet the updated policies, before they 
are presented to the City Council for final approval. Ultimately, they will need to make a 
recommendation to the City Council. When the City Council makes the decision to approve, 
they will know that the Police Advisory Board has already reviewed the updated policies.  
 



 

Police Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2021 
Page 5 of 8 

 

Before Captain Hanlon started to go through the updates, Vice Chair Thornton asked about 
policy #306 Firearms. She wondered if an Officer would be disciplined if they failed to properly 
store their firearm at home. Captain Hanlon and Chief Groth both replied that would be 
addressed immediately and would be a policy violation (see 306.10.2) and cause for potential 
discipline. Captain Hanlon said that the Foundation purchased take home safes for all of the 
Officers; so that they would have a safe place to store their department issued firearms.  
 
Captain Hanlon then proceeded to read through the Police Policy Update Report with he and 
the Chief answering a few questions along the way.  
 
Mr. West moved that the policy updates be approved with the recommendation that the City 
Council also approve. Mr. Mike Smith seconded the motion and all present board members 
voted in favor.  

 
6. Traffic Safety Update (Staff and/or Liaisons) 

Ms. Foster and Ms. Zwingli are the new liaisons for the Traffic Safety Committee (TSC) and 
attended their first meeting in September. Ms. Foster provided an update to the board, sharing 
a few of the requests that the committee is currently working on and where the committee is in 
the process: 
 
• Improve the street lighting at SW Sunset Blvd and Ladd Hill Road 
• Relocation of the crosswalk located in front of the new Sherwood School District Office 

(formerly Hopkins Elementary) 
• Request for truncated domes at the entrance of the Senior Center 
• Concerns regarding visibility along Woodhaven between SW Hosler and the entrance into 

the YMCA (lots of cars parking along both sides of the street) 
 

Vice Chair Thornton stated that she and Chair Dorsey had previously discussed the possibility 
of the TSC liaisons taking turns attending the meetings and a few other possibilities, to help 
lessen the number of meetings for the two liaisons. She wondered if that could work. Ms. Foster 
shared that both her and Ms. Zwingli’s presence at the meeting was important for that committee 
to get to a quorum. Chief Groth added that the Municipal Code specifically states two liaisons 
from the Police Advisory Board are necessary to make up the TSC. He offered up a couple other 
suggestions, but didn’t know if, logistically, that would make sense. Mr. Smith felt that Ms. 
Foster’s and Ms. Zwingli’s presence at the meetings are making an impact. Just that day he 
noticed a Sherwood Officer had pulled over a speeder at Ladd Hill and Willow Drive. He thanked 
Ms. Foster for the TSC update.  
 

7. Councilor News 
Councilor Young was excited that the new City Manager was in attendance that evening and 
hoped that the board members would have an opportunity to meet him. He was two weeks in 
and she thought he was doing a great job. 



 

Police Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2021 
Page 6 of 8 

 

At their Work Session, a couple weeks ago, the Council, once again, discussed backyard 
chickens. City staff will be bringing an ordinance to them, eventually, to review and vote on. 
Chickens have been brought up a lot over the last 5 – 10 years and have never been approved. 
After looking at the surrounding areas, they discovered that Sherwood is the only city that does 
not allow chickens. City staff reached out to the different cities to see what kind of issues and 
complaints they have had. They learned that it was very minimal. The City of Sherwood’s 
ordinance will have restrictions, such as lot size, no roosters allowed, etc. The City Council will 
take public comment, when they get to that point.  
 
The City Council is revisiting outdoor dining. They had ended the Al Fresco Program when the 
Governor allowed 100% dining back inside. Because some people aren’t comfortable dining 
inside, as a result of COVID, the restaurants are still struggling. The Council invited the 
downtown businesses to attend a Work Session and provide their input regarding this. The 
Council reviewed what some of the surrounding cities are doing and Councilor Young felt that 
there are some good options out there. The City Council is hoping that City staff can come up 
with something so that those businesses can move out into their parking spots, which is what 
some of the other cities have allowed.  
 
At that same Work Session, the City Council approved the then Interim City Manager Pro Tem, 
Kristen Switzer, to sign a Professional Services Contract with KPFF, consulting engineers, for 
the design of the pedestrian bridge. This will be for a 30% design. Ms. Zwingli asked what a 30% 
design meant.  
 
City Manager, Keith Campbell, explained that a group of engineers and professionals go on-site 
to try and put together engineering plans to get to 30% completed. It’s really about getting the 
ground work started. Architects and engineers will take a look at the lay of the land, the utilities 
and all of the challenges, once the decision has been made that this is what we want. This is the 
first step. Vice Chair Thornton asked for confirmation that this is for the area from the YMCA to 
the new Sherwood High School. She was told that was correct. She had heard rumors that there 
was also going to be a pedestrian bridge going in at Meinecke. Councilor Young commented 
that there is one planned for that intersection and it is on the CIP (Capital Improvement Plan) 
list. It will be more expensive as they will have to lift HWY 99. Mr. Campbell stated that it will be 
a tunnel and the goal is longer term. The focus right now, is the bridge at the YMCA location. 
Vice Chair Thornton asked what the time frames are for both bridges. Councilor Young stated 
that the hope for the one at the YMCA to the High School is to be completed within two years. 
The one at Meinecke is not in the five-year forecast as they have yet to identify funding.  

 
8. Staff Report(s)   

Captain Hanlon announced that they have identified a School Resource Officer (SRO). The tentative 
start date is November 1st.  Vice Chair Thornton asked if they would be at the High School only. Captain 
Hanlon replied that the position is for the entire School District, but their main office will be at the High 
School. They will be available and have a presence at all of the schools. The Police Department is 



 

Police Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2021 
Page 7 of 8 

 

currently working out logistics at their end, as they have to pull someone out of Patrol. Both the Officer 
and the School District are excited. Chief Groth added that the primary responsibility for this position is 
at the High School.  
 
Ms. Zwingli shared with Mr. Campbell that the Police Advisory Board had been working on an additional 
SRO position for a few years and the idea that they were without one, for a while, bothers the PAB. 
The fact that one is now coming back makes them all happy. However, they will want a second one.  
 
Vice Chair Thornton stated that she would like to see one at every school. The Chief said that, ideally, 
they would have three. He explained that the second position has been funded. They just have to get 
the staffing in place and everything worked out with the School District to get that body in place. It is 
important that everyone understands that the City Council agreed and the Budget Committee approved 
a second SRO position. What the PD cannot control is the staffing and recruiting challenges that they 
are currently facing.  
 
Vice Chair Thornton mentioned that a few years back, funding was approved and granted for six 
additional PD positions. The six positions were to be filled over a 3-5 year period. She asked if she was 
remembering correctly. This was based on the Staffing Study that had been conducted.  
 
The Chief replied that the City Council strongly supported the Staffing Plan, which called for six 
positions over three years. The three years have passed, but status quo doesn’t exist in any 
organization. As the PD begins to add those positions, staff members make decisions to move their 
families to other states or other departments, leaving current positions to be filled. There are a myriad 
of things that happen with any organization. He spoke of the current hiring challenges and explained 
that this is not unique to the Sherwood PD. He reminded the board that when an Officer comes on 
board, it can be several months to over a year before they can work on their own. One of those six 
additional approved positions was a second SRO and was one of the last positions to be added to the 
plan. 
 
Captain Hanlon let the board know that the MHRT (Mental Health Resource Team) is up and running 
in South Cities. He gave kudos to the City Council for advocating and supporting this. He reported that 
this team had recently responded to a call in Sherwood. This team has been in existence for a while, 
but until recently, they had not had anything specific for the South Cities, which includes Sherwood, 
Tualatin, Tigard and King City. A mental health clinician will be riding with an officer from each city for 
a two-week period. Sherwood Police Officer, Adam Keesee, was selected to be part of this team. It is 
Sherwood’s turn to have the clinician ride along. Captain Hanlon is excited that Sherwood is part of this 
team to help those who are experiencing a mental health crisis. This is a fantastic resource.  

 
9. Citizen Comment 

N/A 
 



 

Police Advisory Board Meeting Minutes 
October 21, 2021 
Page 8 of 8 

 

Mr. Smith inquired about the procedure for signing up for a Ride Along. The Chief explained that the 
application is available on the City website. One can also be picked up at the PD. Once the form is 
received and a rudimentary background check is completed, the person will be contacted and the ride 
along scheduled. The Chief highly encouraged everyone to do a ride along, if they hadn’t already done 
so.  
 
Mr. Smith commented on the Chief’s upcoming retirement. He thanked the Chief and feels that Chief 
Groth has set the tone and knows that Mr. Campbell will get them someone wonderful to fill the position. 
The Chief has been superb and Mr. Smith truly appreciates him. The Chief thanked him for his kind 
words. 
 

10. Adjourn (Chair) 
Ms. Zwingli made a motion to adjourn and Mr. West seconded the motion. All board members were in 
favor and the meeting was adjourned at 8:28 p.m. 

 
The next meeting is scheduled for November 18th at 7 p.m. 

 
Approval of Minutes: 

 
 

           
Chair Brian Dorsey     Date 

 
Attest: 
 
 
           
Angie Hass, Executive Assistant   Date 



Sherwood Police Advisory Board 
Police Policy Update Report 

Background: 
The Sherwood Police Department subscribes to Lexipol for its Police Department Policy System/Manual. 
That subscription includes, at a minimum, two (2) annual updates to the policy manual, generally in July 
and December every year, or as needed. Lexipol releases policy updates for the Sherwood Police 
Department Policy Manual as a result of changes in case law, statutory changes and accepted best 
practices. Updates may also occur based on departmental need. The November 2021 updates contain 
changes to statutory coding, language changes based on new and/or modified legislation, changes in 
best practice, changes to accreditation standards and semantic and grammatical changes. 

The updates are as follows; 

• 303-Control Devices and Techniques: this policy was updated by Lexipol as a result of HB-2928,
which created new regulations around crowd control device usage and law enforcement actions
following usage.

• 305-Officer Involved Shootings and Deaths: this policy was updated by Lexipol to precisely define
the term “involved officer” and to add a new subsection to describe the considerations around
duty assignment restrictions.

• 306-Firearms: this policy was updated by police department staff to improve the language
regarding storage of firearms and training.

• 311-Domestic Violence: this policy was updated by Lexipol as a result of SB-183, which amended
the law surrounding foreign court orders and their entry into law enforcement data systems and to
make grammatical and formatting corrections.

• 312-Search and Seizure: this policy was updated by police department staff to bring the language
types of searches into compliance with accreditation standards (best practice).

• 313-Temporary Custody of Juveniles: this policy was updated by police department staff to
modify the language regarding no contact and separation of juveniles and adults, as
recommended by the Oregon Youth Development Division.

• 323-Standards of Conduct: this policy was updated by Lexipol to add a reference to gender
identity in the context of misconduct reporting and intervention standards.

• 401-Biased Based Policing: this policy was updated by police department staff to bring the
language regarding training into compliance with accreditation standards (best practice).

• 413-Immigration Violations: this policy was updated by Lexipol as a result of HB-3265 which
amended existing law and created new law pertaining to immigration, and requiring that agencies
notify individuals of certain rights after their detention, as well as prohibiting immigration status
inquiries. (see also 900-Temporary Custody of Adults)

• 422 Medical Marijuana: this policy was updated by Lexipol as a result of HB-3000 which changed
some of the terms and definitions within the policy.

• 425-Homeless Persons: this policy was updated by Lexipol to conform to emergency legislation
regarding homelessness. Most notably, the policy now contains language regarding an agency
liaison and adds several new responsibilities with respect to homeless persons and their property.
It also reorganized the overall content.

Exhibit "A"



• 429- First Amendment Assemblies: this policy was updated by Lexipol to conform to emergency 
legislation that describes how officers are expected to respond to public requests for 
identification.  

• 504-Impaired Driving: this policy was updated by Lexipol as a result of HB-3140, which added 
psilocybin to the list of substances for which a urine test may be administered.  

• 600-Investigation and Prosecution: this policy was updated by Lexipol as a result of SB-386, 
which required the development of protocol for interviewing child witnesses.  

• 800-Property and Evidence: this policy was updated by police department staff to bring the 
language into compliance with accreditation standards (best practice) regarding property and 
evidence audits.  

• 806-Protected Information: this policy was updated by Lexipol to correct the misidentification of a 
state agency.  

• 900-Temporary Custody of Adults: this policy was updated by Lexipol as a result of HB-3265 
which amended existing law and created new law pertaining to immigration, and requiring that 
agencies notify individuals of certain rights after their detention, as well as prohibiting immigration 
status inquiries. (see also 413-Immigration Violations)  

• 1000-Recruitment and Selection: this policy was updated by Lexipol to correct formatting errors.  
• 1011-Personnel Complaints: this policy was updated by Lexipol to correct grammatical and 

formatting errors.  
• 1017-Employee Awards and Recognition: this policy was updated by police department staff as a 

result of a change to our awards and recognition system and program.  
 
Lexipol law enforcement professionals and attorneys specializing in public safety law have thoroughly 
researched and reviewed these updates. The updates have also been reviewed and vetted by Chief Groth. 
 
With Police Advisory Board approval and recommendation these updates will be brought to Sherwood City 
Council for review and approval at their November 16th regular meeting. Once approved a copy of the 
updated manual will be uploaded to the PD website. 
 
Recommendation: 
Staff respectfully recommends the Police Advisory Board approve the policy updates. 



Policy

303
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Control Devices and Techniques - 54

Control Devices and Techniques
303.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides guidelines for the use and maintenance of control devices that are described
in this policy.

303.2   POLICY
In order to control subjects who are violent or who demonstrate the intent to be violent, the City
of Sherwood Police Department authorizes officers to use control devices in accordance with the
guidelines in this policy and the Use of Force Policy. The Police Chief may also authorize other
positions or individual Agency members to use specific control devices.

303.3   ISSUING, CARRYING, AND USING CONTROL DEVICES
Control devices described in this policy may be carried and used by members of this agency only
if the device has been issued by the Agency or approved by the Police Chief or the authorized
designee.

Only officers who have successfully completed agency-approved training in the use of any control
device are authorized to carry and use the device.

Control devices may be used when a decision has been made to control, restrain, or arrest a
subject who is violent or who demonstrates the intent to be violent, and the use of the device
appears reasonable under the circumstances. When reasonable, a verbal warning and opportunity
to comply should precede the use of these devices.

303.4   RESPONSIBILITIES

303.4.1   SHIFT SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES
The Shift Supervisor may authorize the use of a control device by selected personnel or members
of specialized units who have successfully completed the required training.

303.4.2   SUPPORT CAPTAIN RESPONSIBILITIES
The Support Captain shall control the inventory and issuance of all control devices and shall
ensure that all damaged, inoperative, outdated or expended control devices or munitions are
properly disposed of, repaired or replaced.

Every control device will be periodically inspected by the Support Captain or the designated
instructor for a particular control device. The inspection shall be documented.

303.4.3   USER RESPONSIBILITIES
All normal maintenance, charging or cleaning shall remain the responsibility of personnel using
the various devices.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Control Devices and Techniques

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Control Devices and Techniques - 55

Any damaged, inoperative, outdated or expended control devices or munitions, along with
documentation explaining the cause of the damage, shall be returned to the Support Captain for
disposition. Damage to City property forms shall also be prepared and forwarded through the
chain of command, when appropriate, explaining the cause of damage.

303.5   BATON GUIDELINES
The need to immediately control a suspect must be weighed against the risk of causing serious
injury. The head, neck, throat, spine, heart, kidneys and groin should not be intentionally targeted
except when the officer reasonably believes the suspect poses an imminent threat of serious
bodily injury or death to the officer or others.

When carrying a baton, uniformed personnel shall carry the baton in its authorized holder on the
equipment belt. Plainclothes and non-field personnel may carry the baton as authorized and in
accordance with the needs of their assignment or at the direction of their supervisor.

303.6   TEAR GAS GUIDELINES
Tear gas may be used for crowd control, crowd dispersal, or against barricaded suspects based
on the circumstances.

Only the Shift Supervisor, Incident Commander, or Crisis Response Unit Commander may
authorize the delivery and use of tear gas, and only after evaluating all conditions known at the
time and determining that such force reasonably appears justified and necessary.

When practicable, fire personnel should be alerted or summoned to the scene prior to the
deployment of tear gas to control any fires and to assist in providing medical aid or gas evacuation
if needed.

303.7   CROWD CONTROL GUIDELINES
Chemical incapacitants as defined by 2021 Oregon Laws, HB 2928 § 2 shall not be used for
crowd control except in circumstances that constitute a riot and the officer using the chemical
incapacitant reasonably believes that the use is necessary to terminate the riot (2021 Oregon
Laws, HB 2928 § 2).

A riot is when a person commits the crime of riot if while participating with five or more other
persons, the person engages in tumultuous and violent conduct and thereby intentionally or
recklessly creates a grave risk of causing public alarm (ORS 166.015; 2021 Oregon Laws, HB
2928 § 2).

303.7.1   ADDITIONAL CROWD CONTROL CONSIDERATIONS
Officers may not use a sound device for crowd control except to make announcements. When
possible, announcements shall be made both audibly and visually (2021 Oregon Laws, HB 2928
§ 2).

After deploying chemical incapacitants, kinetic impact projectiles, or sound devices, and when it
is possible to do so safely, officers shall (2021 Oregon, HB 2928 § 2):



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Control Devices and Techniques

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Control Devices and Techniques - 56

(a) Attempt to take injured individuals to safety or allow them to seek medical help.

(b) Allow emergency medical personnel to reach injured individuals.

(c) Take reasonable action to accommodate individuals with disabilities when issuing or
enforcing orders to disperse.

303.8   OLEORESIN CAPSICUM (OC) GUIDELINES
As with other control devices, oleoresin capsicum (OC) spray and pepper projectiles may be
considered for use to bring under control an individual or groups of individuals who are engaging in,
or are about to engage in violent behavior. Pepper projectiles and OC spray should not, however,
be used against individuals or groups who merely fail to disperse or do not reasonably appear to
present a risk to the safety of officers or the public.

303.8.1   OC SPRAY
Uniformed personnel carrying OC spray shall carry the device in its holster on the equipment belt.
Plainclothes and non-field personnel may carry OC spray as authorized, in accordance with the
needs of their assignment or at the direction of their supervisor.

303.8.2   PEPPER PROJECTILE SYSTEMS
Pepper projectiles are plastic spheres that are filled with a derivative of OC powder. Because the
compressed gas launcher delivers the projectiles with enough force to burst the projectiles on
impact and release the OC powder, the potential exists for the projectiles to inflict injury if they
strike the head, neck, spine, or groin. Therefore, personnel using a pepper projectile system should
not intentionally target those areas, except when the officer reasonably believes the suspect poses
an imminent threat of serious bodily injury or death to the officer or others.

Officers encountering a situation that warrants the use of a pepper projectile system shall notify
a supervisor as soon as practicable. A supervisor shall respond to all pepper projectile system
incidents where the suspect has been hit or exposed to the chemical agent. The supervisor shall
ensure that all notifications and reports are completed as required by the Use of Force Policy.

Each deployment of a pepper projectile system shall be documented. This includes situations
where the launcher was directed toward the suspect, whether or not the launcher was used.
Unintentional discharges shall be promptly reported to a supervisor and documented on the
appropriate report form. Only non-incident use of a pepper projectile system, such as training and
product demonstrations, is exempt from the reporting requirement.

303.8.3   TREATMENT FOR OC SPRAY EXPOSURE
Persons who have been sprayed with or otherwise affected by the use of OC should be promptly
provided with clean water to cleanse the affected areas. Those persons who complain of further
severe effects shall be examined by appropriate medical personnel.

303.9   POST-APPLICATION NOTICE
Whenever tear gas or OC has been introduced into a residence, building interior, vehicle, or
other enclosed area, officers should provide the owners or available occupants with notice of



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Control Devices and Techniques

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Control Devices and Techniques - 57

the possible presence of residue that could result in irritation or injury if the area is not properly
cleaned. Such notice should include advisement that cleanup will be at the owner’s expense.
Information regarding the method of notice and the individuals notified should be included in
related reports.

303.10   KINETIC ENERGY PROJECTILE GUIDELINES
This agency is committed to reducing the potential for violent confrontations. Kinetic energy
projectiles, when used properly, are less likely to result in death or serious physical injury and can
be used in an attempt to de-escalate a potentially deadly situation.

303.10.1   DEPLOYMENT AND USE
Only agency-approved kinetic energy munitions shall be carried and deployed. Approved
munitions may be used to compel an individual to cease his/her actions when such munitions
present a reasonable option.

Officers are not required or compelled to use approved munitions in lieu of other reasonable tactics
if the involved officer determines that deployment of these munitions cannot be done safely. The
safety of hostages, innocent persons and officers takes priority over the safety of subjects engaged
in criminal or suicidal behavior.

Circumstances appropriate for deployment include, but are not limited to, situations in which:

(a) The suspect is armed with a weapon and the tactical circumstances allow for the safe
application of approved munitions.

(b) The suspect has made credible threats to harm him/herself or others.

(c) The suspect is engaged in riotous behavior or is throwing rocks, bottles or other
dangerous projectiles at people and/or officers.

(d) There is probable cause to believe that the suspect has already committed a crime of
violence and is refusing to comply with lawful orders.

303.10.2   DEPLOYMENT CONSIDERATIONS
Before discharging projectiles, the officer should consider such factors as:

(a) Distance and angle to target.

(b) Type of munitions employed.

(c) Type and thickness of subject’s clothing.

(d) The subject’s proximity to others.

(e) The location of the subject.

(f) Whether the subject’s actions dictate the need for an immediate response and the use
of control devices appears appropriate.

A verbal warning of the intended use of the device should precede its application, unless it would
otherwise endanger the safety of officers or when it is not practicable due to the circumstances.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Control Devices and Techniques

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Control Devices and Techniques - 58

The purpose of the warning is to give the individual a reasonable opportunity to voluntarily comply
and to warn other officers and individuals that the device is being deployed.

Officers should keep in mind the manufacturer’s recommendations and their training regarding
effective distances and target areas. However, officers are not restricted solely to use according to
manufacturer recommendations. Each situation must be evaluated on the totality of circumstances
at the time of deployment.

The need to immediately incapacitate the subject must be weighed against the risk of causing
serious injury or death. The head and neck should not be intentionally targeted, except when the
officer reasonably believes the suspect poses an imminent threat of serious bodily injury or death
to the officer or others (2021 Oregon Laws, HB 2928 § 2).

303.10.3   SAFETY PROCEDURES
Shotguns specifically designated for use with kinetic energy projectiles will be specially marked
in a manner that makes them readily identifiable as such.

Officers will inspect the shotgun and projectiles at the beginning of each shift to ensure that the
shotgun is in proper working order and the projectiles are of the approved type and appear to be
free from defects.

When it is not in use, the shotgun will be unloaded and properly and securely stored in the vehicle.
When deploying the kinetic energy projectile shotgun, the officer shall visually inspect the kinetic
energy projectiles to ensure that conventional ammunition is not being loaded into the shotgun.

Absent compelling circumstances, officers who must transition from conventional ammunition to
kinetic energy projectiles will employ the two-person rule for loading. The two-person rule is a
safety measure in which a second officer watches the unloading and loading process to ensure
that the weapon is completely emptied of conventional ammunition.

303.11   TRAINING FOR CONTROL DEVICES
The Support Captain shall ensure that all personnel who are authorized to carry a control device
have been properly trained and certified to carry the specific control device and are retrained or
recertified as necessary.

(a) Proficiency training shall be monitored and documented by a certified, control-device
weapons or tactics instructor.

(b) All training and proficiency for control devices will be documented in the officer’s
training file.

(c) Officers who fail to demonstrate proficiency with the control device or knowledge of
this agency’s Use of Force Policy will be provided remedial training. If an officer cannot
demonstrate proficiency with a control device or knowledge of this agency’s Use of
Force Policy after remedial training, the officer will be restricted from carrying the
control device and may be subject to discipline.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Control Devices and Techniques

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Control Devices and Techniques - 59

303.12   REPORTING USE OF CONTROL DEVICES AND TECHNIQUES
Any application of a control device or technique listed in this policy shall be documented in the
related incident report and reported pursuant to the Use of Force Policy.



Policy

305
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 67

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths
305.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The purpose of this policy is to establish policy and procedures for the investigation of an incident
in which a person is injured or dies as the result of an officer-involved shooting or dies as a result
of another action of an officer.

In other incidents not covered by this policy, the Police Chief may decide that the investigation
will follow the process provided in this policy.

305.2   POLICY
The policy of the City of Sherwood Police Department is to ensure that officer-involved shootings
and deaths are investigated in a thorough, fair and impartial manner.

305.3   TYPES OF INVESTIGATIONS
Officer-involved shootings and deaths involve several separate investigations. The investigations
may include:

(a) A criminal investigation of the suspect's actions.

(b) A criminal investigation of the involved officer's actions.

(c) An administrative investigation as to policy compliance by involved officers.

(d) A civil investigation to determine potential liability.

305.4   CONTROL OF INVESTIGATIONS
Investigators from surrounding agencies may be assigned to work on the criminal investigation of
officer-involved shootings and deaths. This may include at least one investigator from the agency
that employs the involved officer.

Jurisdiction is determined by the location of the shooting or death and the agency employing the
involved officer. The following scenarios outline the jurisdictional responsibilities for investigating
officer-involved shootings and deaths.

305.4.1   CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION OF SUSPECT ACTIONS
The investigation of any possible criminal conduct by the suspect is controlled by the agency
in whose jurisdiction the suspect’s crime occurred. For example, the City of Sherwood Police
Department would control the investigation if the suspect’s crime occurred in Sherwood.

If multiple crimes have been committed in multiple jurisdictions, identification of the agency that
will control the investigation may be reached in the same way as with any other crime. The
investigation may be conducted by the agency in control of the criminal investigation of the involved
officer, at the discretion of the Police Chief and with concurrence from the other agency.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 68

305.4.2   CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION OF OFFICER ACTIONS
The control of the criminal investigation into the involved officer’s conduct during the incident will be
determined by the employing agency’s protocol. When an officer from this agency is involved, the
criminal investigation will include at least one investigator from another law enforcement agency
(ORS 181A.790).

Requests made of this agency to investigate a shooting or death involving an outside agency’s
officer shall be referred to the Police Chief or the authorized designee for approval.

305.4.3   ADMINISTRATIVE AND CIVIL INVESTIGATION
Regardless of where the incident occurs, the administrative and civil investigation of each involved
officer is controlled by the respective employing agency.

305.5   INVESTIGATION PROCESS
The following procedures are guidelines used in the investigation of an officer-involved shooting
or death.

305.5.1   UNINVOLVED OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES
Upon arrival at the scene of an officer-involved shooting or death, the first uninvolved SPD officer
will be the officer-in-charge and will assume the responsibilities of a supervisor until properly
relieved. This officer should, as appropriate:

(a) Secure the scene and identify and eliminate hazards for all those involved.

(b) Take reasonable steps to obtain emergency medical attention for injured individuals.

(c) Request additional resources from the Agency or other agencies.

(d) Coordinate a perimeter or pursuit of suspects.

(e) Check for injured persons and evacuate as needed.

(f) Brief the supervisor upon arrival.

305.5.2   SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES
Upon arrival at the scene, the first uninvolved SPD supervisor should ensure completion of the
duties as outlined above, plus:

(a) Attempt to obtain a brief overview of the situation from any uninvolved officers.

1. In the event that there are no uninvolved officers who can supply adequate
overview, the supervisor should attempt to obtain a brief voluntary overview from
one involved officer.

(b) If necessary, the supervisor may administratively order any SPD officer to immediately
provide public safety information necessary to secure the scene, identify injured
parties and pursue suspects.

1. Public safety information shall be limited to such things as outstanding suspect
information, number and direction of any shots fired, perimeter of the incident
scene, identity of known or potential witnesses and any other pertinent
information.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 69

2. The initial on-scene supervisor should not attempt to order any involved officer
to provide any information other than public safety information.

(c) Provide all available information to the Shift Supervisor and Dispatch. If feasible,
sensitive information should be communicated over secure networks.

(d) Take command of and secure the incident scene with additional SPD members until
properly relieved by another supervisor or other assigned personnel or investigator.

(e) As soon as practicable, ensure that involved officers are transported (separately, if
feasible) to a suitable location for further direction.

1. Each involved SPD officer should be given an administrative order not to
discuss the incident with other involved officers or SPD members pending further
direction from a supervisor.

2. When an involved officer’s weapon is taken or left at the scene for other than
officer-safety reasons (e.g., evidence), ensure that he/she is provided with a
comparable replacement weapon or transported by other officers.

305.5.3   SHIFT SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES
Upon learning of an officer-involved shooting or death, the Shift Supervisor shall be responsible
for coordinating all aspects of the incident until he/she is relieved by the Police Chief or a Section
Commander.

All outside inquiries about the incident shall be directed to the Shift Supervisor.

305.5.4   NOTIFICATIONS
The following persons shall be notified as soon as practicable:

• Police Chief

• Support Section Section Commander

• Washington County Officer Involved Shooting Protocol rollout team

• Outside agency investigators (if appropriate)

• Professional Standards Unit supervisor

• Civil liability response team

• Psychological/peer support personnel

• Chaplain

• Medical Examiner (if necessary)

• Involved officer’s agency representative (if requested)

• Public Information Officer

305.5.5   INVOLVED OFFICERS
The following shall be considered for the involved officer:



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 70

(a) Any request for legal representation will be accommodated.

1. Involved SPD officers shall not be permitted to meet collectively or in a group
with an attorney or any representative prior to providing a formal interview or
report.

2. Requests from involved non-SPD officers should be referred to their employing
agency.

(b) Discussions with licensed attorneys will be considered privileged as attorney-client
communications.

(c) Discussions with agency representatives/employee groups will be confidential only as
to the discussion of non-criminal information.

(d) A mental health professional shall be provided by the Agency. The Agency shall
pay for at least two sessions with a mental health professional for each involved
SPD officer. The sessions shall take place within six months of the incident, and
an involved officer shall attend at least one session. As it relates to this mandatory
session, "involved officer" means (ORS 181A.790):

1. An officer whose official conduct, or official order to use deadly physical force,
was a cause in fact of the death of a person.

2. An officer whose official conduct was not a cause in fact of the death of a person,
but who was present before or during the deadly use of force and was reasonably
likely exposed to more than a minor degree of stress or trauma.

(e) A mental health professional may also be provided to any other affected
SPD members, upon request.

1. Interviews with a mental health professional will be considered privileged.

2. An interview or session with a mental health professional may take place prior to
the member providing a formal interview or report. However, involved members
shall not be permitted to consult or meet collectively or in a group with a mental
health professional prior to providing a formal interview or report.

3. A separate fitness-for-duty exam may also be required (see the Fitness for Duty
Policy).

(f) Communications with peer counselors are confidential (except threats of suicide or
admissions of criminal conduct) and may not be disclosed by any person participating
in the peer support counseling session (ORS 181A.835). To be considered confidential
communications under the statute, the peer counselor must:

1. Have been designated by SPD or employee assistance program to act as a peer
counselor, and;

2. Have received training in counseling and in providing emotional and moral
support to public safety personnel or emergency services personnel who have
been involved in emotionally traumatic incidents by reason of their employment.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 71

Care should be taken to preserve the integrity of any physical evidence present on the involved
officer's equipment or clothing, such as blood or fingerprints, until investigators or lab personnel
can properly retrieve it.

Each involved officer shall be given reasonable paid administrative leave following an officer-
involved shooting. It shall be the responsibility of the Shift Supervisor to make schedule
adjustments to accommodate such leave.

305.5.6   DUTY ASSIGNMENT RESTRICTIONS
The Agency should not return an involved officer to a duty assignment in which the officer may
have to use deadly force for at least 72 hours after an incident where the application of deadly
force resulted in the death of a person. The Agency shall maintain the regular pay and benefits
for any involved officer whose assignment is adjusted pursuant to this section (ORS 181A.790).
As it relates to this duty assignment restriction, “involved officer” means (ORS 181A.790):

(a) An officer whose official conduct, or official order to use deadly physical force, was a
cause in fact of the death of a person.

(b) An officer whose official conduct was not a cause in fact of the death of a person, but
who was present before or during the deadly use of force and was reasonably likely
exposed to more than a minor degree of stress or trauma.

305.6   CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION
The District Attorney's Office is responsible for the criminal investigation into the circumstances
of any officer-involved shooting or death.

If available, investigative personnel from this agency may be assigned to partner with investigators
from outside agencies or the District Attorney's Office to avoid duplicating efforts in related criminal
investigations.

Once public safety issues have been addressed, criminal investigators should be given the
opportunity to obtain a voluntary statement from involved officers and to complete their interviews.
The following shall be considered for the involved officer:

(a) SPD supervisors and Professional Standards Unit personnel should not participate
directly in any voluntary interview of SPD officers. This will not prohibit such personnel
from monitoring interviews or providing the criminal investigators with topics for inquiry.

(b) If requested, any involved officer will be afforded the opportunity to consult individually
with a representative of his/her choosing or an attorney prior to speaking with criminal
investigators. However, in order to maintain the integrity of each involved officer’s
statement, involved officers shall not consult or meet with a representative or an
attorney collectively or in groups prior to being interviewed.

(c) If any involved officer is physically, emotionally or otherwise not in a position to provide
a voluntary statement when interviewed by criminal investigators, consideration
should be given to allowing a reasonable period for the officer to schedule an alternate
time for the interview.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 72

(d) Any voluntary statement provided by an involved officer will be made available for
inclusion in any related investigation, including administrative investigations. However,
no administratively coerced statement will be provided to any criminal investigators
unless the officer consents.

305.6.1   REPORTS BY INVOLVED SPD OFFICERS
In the event that suspects remain outstanding or subject to prosecution for related offenses,
this agency shall retain the authority to require involved SPD officers to provide sufficient
information for related criminal reports to facilitate the apprehension and prosecution of those
individuals.

While the involved SPD officer may write the report, it is generally recommended that such reports
be completed by assigned investigators, who should interview all involved officers as victims/
witnesses. Since the purpose of these reports will be to facilitate criminal prosecution, statements
of involved officers should focus on evidence to establish the elements of criminal activities by
suspects. Care should be taken not to duplicate information provided by involved officers in other
reports.

Nothing in this section shall be construed to deprive an involved SPD officer of the right to consult
with legal counsel prior to completing any such criminal report.

Reports related to the prosecution of criminal suspects will be processed according to normal
procedures but should also be included for reference in the investigation of the officer-involved
shooting or death.

305.6.2   WITNESS IDENTIFICATION AND INTERVIEWS
Because potential witnesses to an officer-involved shooting or death may become unavailable
or the integrity of their statements compromised with the passage of time, a supervisor should
take reasonable steps to promptly coordinate with criminal investigators to utilize available law
enforcement personnel for the following:

(a) Identification of all persons present at the scene and in the immediate area.

1. When feasible, a recorded statement should be obtained from those persons
who claim not to have witnessed the incident but who were present at the time
it occurred.

2. Any potential witness who is unwilling or unable to remain available for a formal
interview should not be detained absent reasonable suspicion to detain or
probable cause to arrest. Without detaining the individual for the sole purpose
of identification, attempts to identify the witness prior to his/her departure should
be made whenever feasible.

(b) Witnesses who are willing to provide a formal interview should be asked to meet at a
suitable location where criminal investigators may obtain a recorded statement. Such
witnesses, if willing, may be transported by a member of the Agency.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 73

1. A written, verbal or recorded statement of consent should be obtained prior to
transporting a witness. When the witness is a minor, consent should be obtained
from the parent or guardian, if available, prior to transportation.

(c) Promptly contacting the suspect’s known family and associates to obtain any available
and untainted background information about the suspect’s activities and state of mind
prior to the incident.

305.6.3   INVESTIGATIVE PERSONNEL
Once notified of an officer-involved shooting or death, it shall be the responsibility of the
designated Investigation Unit supervisor to assign appropriate investigative personnel to handle
the investigation of related crimes. Agency investigators will be assigned to work with investigators
from the District Attorney's Office and may be assigned to separately handle the investigation of
any related crimes not being investigated by the District Attorney's Office.

All related agency reports, except administrative and/or privileged reports, will be forwarded to
the designated Investigation Unit supervisor for approval. Privileged reports shall be maintained
exclusively by members who are authorized such access. Administrative reports will be forwarded
to the appropriate Section Commander.

305.7   ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATION
In addition to all other investigations associated with an officer-involved shooting or death, this
agency will conduct an internal administrative investigation of involved SPD officers to determine
conformance with agency policy. This investigation will be conducted under the supervision of the
Professional Standards Unit and will be considered a confidential officer personnel file.

Interviews of members shall be subject to agency policies and applicable laws.

(a) Any officer involved in a shooting or death may be requested or administratively
compelled to provide a blood sample for alcohol/drug screening. Absent consent from
the officer, such compelled samples and the results of any such testing shall not be
disclosed to any criminal investigative agency.

(b) If any officer has voluntarily elected to provide a statement to criminal investigators, the
assigned administrative investigator should review that statement before proceeding
with any further interview of that involved officer.

1. If a further interview of the officer is deemed necessary to determine policy
compliance, care should be taken to limit the inquiry to new areas with minimal, if
any, duplication of questions addressed in the voluntary statement. The involved
officer shall be provided with a copy of his/ her prior statement before proceeding
with any subsequent interviews.

(c) In the event that an involved officer has elected not to provide criminal investigators
with a voluntary statement, the assigned administrative investigator shall conduct an
administrative interview to determine all relevant information.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 74

1. Although this interview should not be unreasonably delayed, care should be
taken to ensure that the officer’s physical and psychological needs have been
addressed before commencing the interview.

2. If requested, the officer shall have the opportunity to select an uninvolved
representative to be present during the interview. However, in order to maintain
the integrity of each individual officer's statement, involved officers shall not
consult or meet with a representative or attorney collectively or in groups prior
to being interviewed.

3. Administrative interviews should be recorded by the investigator. The officer may
also record the interview.

4. The officer shall be informed of the nature of the investigation. If an
officer refuses to answer questions, he/she should be given his/her Garrity rights
and ordered to provide full and truthful answers to all questions. The officer shall
be informed that the interview will be for administrative purposes only and that
the statement cannot be used criminally.

5. The Professional Standards Unit shall compile all relevant information and
reports necessary for the Agency to determine compliance with applicable
policies.

6. Regardless of whether the use of force is an issue in the case, the completed
administrative investigation shall be submitted to the Use of Force Review
Board, which will restrict its findings as to whether there was compliance with
the Use of Force Policy.

7. Any other indications of potential policy violations shall be determined in
accordance with standard disciplinary procedures.

305.8   CIVIL LIABILITY RESPONSE
A member of this agency may be assigned to work exclusively under the direction of the legal
counsel for the Agency to assist in the preparation of materials deemed necessary in anticipation
of potential civil litigation.

All materials generated in this capacity shall be considered attorney work product and may not be
used for any other purpose. The civil liability response is not intended to interfere with any other
investigation but shall be given reasonable access to all other investigations.

305.9   AUDIO AND VIDEO RECORDINGS
Any involved officer or witness officer, involved in a shooting or death may be permitted, with
the exception outlined below, to review their own Mobile Audio/Video (MAV), body-worn video, or
other video or audio recordings prior to providing a recorded statement or completing reports.

Exception: The District Attorney's Office shall have the option of not allowing the officer(s) to review
the audio/video recordings prior to giving a voluntary statement or participating in a voluntary
criminal interview.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 75

Upon request, non-law enforcement witnesses who are able to verify their presence and their
ability to contemporaneously perceive events at the scene of an incident may also be permitted
to review available MAV, body-worn video, or other video or audio recordings with the approval
of, and in the presence of, assigned investigators or a supervisor.

Any MAV, body-worn and other known video or audio recordings of an incident should not be
publicly released during an ongoing investigation without consulting the prosecuting attorney or
City Attorney’s Office, as appropriate.

305.10   DEBRIEFING
Following an officer-involved shooting or death, the City of Sherwood Police Department should
conduct both a critical incident/stress debriefing and a tactical debriefing.

305.10.1   CRITICAL INCIDENT/STRESS DEBRIEFING
A critical incident/stress debriefing should occur as soon as practicable.
The Administration Section Commander is responsible for organizing the debriefing. Notes and
recorded statements should not be taken because the sole purpose of the debriefing is to help
mitigate the stress-related effects of a traumatic event.

The debriefing is not part of any investigative process. Care should be taken not to release or
repeat any communication made during a debriefing unless otherwise authorized by policy, law
or a valid court order.

Attendance at the debriefing shall only include those members of the Agency directly involved in
the incident, which can include support personnel (e.g., dispatcher, other non-sworn). Family or
other support personnel may attend with the concurrence of those involved in the incident. The
debriefing shall be closed to the public and should be closed to all other members of the Agency,
including supervisory and Professional Standards Unit personnel.

305.10.2   TACTICAL DEBRIEFING
A tactical debriefing should take place to identify any training or areas of policy that need
improvement. The Police Chief should identify the appropriate participants. This debriefing should
not be conducted until all involved members have provided recorded or formal statements to
criminal and/or administrative investigators.

305.11   MEDIA RELATIONS
Any media release shall be prepared with input and concurrence from the supervisor and agency
 representative responsible for each phase of the investigation. Releases will be available to
the Shift Supervisor, Support Section Section Commander and Public Information Officer in the
event of inquiries from the media.

No involved SPD officershall make any comment to the media unless he/she is authorized by
the Police Chief or a Section Commander.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths - 76

Agency members receiving inquiries regarding officer-involved shootings or deaths occurring in
other jurisdictions shall refrain from public comment and will direct those inquiries to the agency
having jurisdiction and primary responsibility for the investigation.

305.12   REPORTING
If the death of an individual resulted from an officer use of deadly force and occurred in the City
of Sherwood Police Department jurisdiction, the Patrol Section Section Commander will ensure
that the Support Captain is provided with enough information to meet the reporting requirements
to the Department of Justice (ORS 181A.790).



Policy

306
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 77

Firearms
306.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides guidelines for issuing firearms, the safe and legal carrying of department
issued firearms, firearms maintenance and firearms training.

This policy does not apply to issues related to the use of firearms that are addressed in the Use
of Force or Officer-Involved Shootings and Deaths policies.

This policy only applies to department issued firearms and those members who are authorized
to carry firearms.

306.2   POLICY
The City of Sherwood Police Department will equip its members with firearms to address the
risks posed to the public and department members by violent and sometimes well-armed persons.
The Department will ensure firearms are appropriate and in good working order and that relevant
training is provided as resources allow.

306.3   AUTHORIZED FIREARMS, AMMUNITION AND OTHER WEAPONS
Members shall only use firearms that are issued, or approved by the Department, and have
been thoroughly inspected by the Support Captain and/or armorer. Except in an emergency or as
directed by a supervisor, no firearm shall be carried by a member who has not qualified with that
firearm at an authorized department range.

Department members shall not carry any chemical weapons, electronic weapons or impact
weapons that have not been issued by the department in the performance of their official duties.
This exclusion does not apply to the carrying of edged weapons that are permitted by law.

306.3.1   HANDGUNS
The standard department-issued handgun is the Glock 9mm pistol, in various models as
authorized by the department. Other handguns may be issued and/or authorized by the
department as needed.

306.3.2   SHOTGUNS
The department will issue patrol shotguns for use by those members who are authorized to carry
a shotgun and have received the required training.

Members may deploy the patrol shotgun in any circumstance where the member can articulate a
reasonable expectation that the shotgun may be needed. Examples of some general guidelines
for deploying the patrol shotgun may include, but are not limited to:

(a) Situations where the member reasonably anticipates an armed encounter.

(b) Situations where a member reasonably expects the need to meet or exceed a
suspect's firepower.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 78

(c) When a member reasonable believes there may be a need to fire upon a suspect
behind a barricade, in a vehicle or wearing body armor.

(d) When authorized and/or requested by a supervisor.

When not deployed, shotguns shall be properly secured consistent with department training in
the patrol vehicle.

306.3.3   PATROL RIFLES
The department will issue patrol rifles for use by those members who are authorized to carry a
patrol rifle and have received the required training.

Members may deploy the patrol rifle in any circumstance where the member can articulate a
reasonable expectation that the rifle may be needed. Examples of some general guidelines for
deploying the patrol rifle may include, but are not limited to:

(a) Situations where the member reasonably anticipates an armed encounter.

(b) When a member is faced with a situation that may require accurate and effective fire
at long range.

(c) Situations where a member reasonably expects the need to meet or exceed a
suspect's firepower.

(d) When a member reasonably believes that there may be a need to fire on a barricaded
person or a person with a hostage.

(e) When a member reasonably believes that a suspect may be wearing body armor.

(f) When authorized or requested by a supervisor.

(g) When needed to euthanize an animal.

When not deployed, the patrol rifle shall be properly secured consistent with department training
inthe patrol vehicle.

306.3.4   PERSONALLY OWNED DUTY FIREARMS
Members desiring to carry an authorized but personally owned duty firearm must receive written
approval from the Police Chief or the authorized designee. Once approved, personally owned duty
firearms are subject to the following restrictions:

(a) The firearm shall be in good working order and on the department list of approved
firearms.

(b) The firearm shall be inspected by the Support Captain prior to being carried and
thereafter shall be subject to inspection whenever it is deemed necessary.

(c) Prior to carrying the firearm, members shall qualify under range supervision and
thereafter shall qualify in accordance with the department qualification schedule.
Members must demonstrate proficiency and safe handling, and that the firearm
functions properly.

(d) Members shall provide written notice of the make, model, color, serial number and
caliber of the firearm to the Support Captain, who will maintain a list of the information.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 79

306.3.5   AUTHORIZED SECONDARY HANDGUN
Members desiring to carry department or personally owned secondary handguns are subject to
the following restrictions:

(a) The handgun shall be in good working order and approved by the department.

(b) Only one secondary handgun may be carried at a time.

(c) The purchase of the handgun and ammunition shall be the responsibility of the
member unless the handgun and ammunition are provided by the Department.

(d) The handgun shall be carried concealed at all times and in such a manner as to prevent
unintentional cocking, discharge or loss of physical control.

(e) The handgun shall be inspected by the Support Captain or armorer prior to being
carried and thereafter shall be subject to inspection whenever it is deemed necessary.

(f) Ammunition shall be the same as department issue. If the caliber of the handgun is
other than department issue, the Police Chief or the authorized designee shall approve
the ammunition.

(g) Prior to carrying the secondary handgun, members shall qualify under range
supervision and thereafter shall qualify in accordance with the department qualification
schedule. Members must demonstrate proficiency and safe handling, and that the
handgun functions properly.

(h) Members shall provide written notice of the make, model, color, serial number and
caliber of a secondary handgun to the Support Captain, who will maintain a list of the
information.

306.3.6   AUTHORIZED OFF-DUTY FIREARMS
The carrying of firearms by members while off-duty is permitted by the Police Chief but may be
rescinded should circumstances dictate (e.g., administrative leave). Members who choose to carry
a firearm while off-duty, based on their authority as peace officers, will be required to meet the
following guidelines:

(a) A personally owned firearm shall be used, carried and inspected in accordance with
the Personally Owned Duty Firearms requirements in this policy.

1. The purchase of the personally owned firearm and ammunition shall be the
responsibility of the member.

(b) The firearm shall be carried concealed at all times and in such a manner as to prevent
unintentional cocking, discharge or loss of physical control.

(c) It will be the responsibility of the member to submit the firearm to the Support
Captain for inspection prior to being personally carried. Thereafter the firearm shall be
subject to periodic inspection by the Support Captain.

(d) Prior to carrying any off-duty firearm, the member shall demonstrate to the Support
Captain that he/she is proficient in handling and firing the firearm and that it will be
carried in a safe manner.

(e) The member will successfully qualify with the firearm prior to it being carried.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 80

(f) Members shall provide written notice of the make, model, color, serial number and
caliber of the firearm to the Support Captain, who will maintain a list of the information.

(g) If a member desires to use more than one firearm while off-duty, he/she may do so,
as long as all requirements set forth in this policy for each firearm are met.

(h) Members shall only carry department-authorized ammunition.

(i) When armed, officers shall carry their badges and City of Sherwood Police
Department identification cards under circumstances requiring possession of such
identification.

306.3.7   AMMUNITION
Members shall carry only department-authorized ammunition. Members shall be issued fresh
duty ammunition in the specified quantity for all department-issued firearms during the member’s
firearms qualification. Replacements for unserviceable or depleted ammunition issued by the
Department shall be dispensed by the Support Captain when needed, in accordance with
established policy.

Members carrying personally owned authorized firearms of a caliber differing from department-
issued firearms shall be responsible for obtaining fresh duty ammunition in accordance with the
above, at their own expense.

306.4   FIREARMS TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS
All members who carry a firearm either on-duty or off-duty are required to complete training as
follows;

• Members will attend department training and qualify with their on-duty firearm at least
twice per year

• Members who carry a secondary firearm, either on-duty or off-duty, will attend
department training and qualify at least twice per year with any firearm they carry

At least annually, all members carrying a firearm should receive practical training designed to
simulate field situations including low-light shooting.

A certified firearms instructor will monitor all range activities and oversee and conduct all firearms
training.

306.4.1   NON-CERTIFICATION OR NON-QUALIFICATION
If any member fails to meet minimum standards for firearms training or qualification for any
reason, including injury, illness, duty status or scheduling conflict, that member shall submit
a memorandum to his/her immediate supervisor prior to the end of the required training or
qualification period.

Those who fail to meet minimum standards or qualify on their first shooting attempt shall be
provided remedial training and will be subject to the following requirements:

(a) Additional range assignments may be scheduled to assist the member in
demonstrating consistent firearm proficiency.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 81

(b) Members shall be given credit for a range training or qualification when obtaining a
qualifying score or meeting standards after remedial training.

(c) No range credit will be given for the following:

1. Unauthorized range make-up

2. Failure to meet minimum standards or qualify after remedial training

Members who repeatedly fail to meet minimum standards will be removed from field assignment
and may be subject to disciplinary action.

306.5   FIREARM DISCHARGE
Except during training or recreational use, any member who discharges a firearm intentionally
or unintentionally, on- or off-duty, shall make a verbal report to his/her supervisor as soon as
circumstances permit. If the discharge results in injury or death to another person, additional
statements and reports shall be made in accordance with the Officer-Involved Shootings and
Deaths Policy. If a firearm was discharged as a use of force, the involved member shall adhere
to the additional reporting requirements set forth in the Use of Force Policy.

In all other cases, written reports shall be made as follows:

(a) If on-duty at the time of the incident, the member shall file a written report with his/her
Section Commander or provide a recorded statement to investigators prior to the end
of shift, unless otherwise directed.

(b) If off-duty at the time of the incident, a written report shall be submitted or recorded
statement provided no later than the end of the next regularly scheduled shift, unless
otherwise directed by a supervisor.

306.5.1   DESTRUCTION OF ANIMALS
Members are authorized to use firearms to stop an animal in circumstances where the animal
reasonably appears to pose an imminent threat to human safety and alternative methods are not
reasonably available or would likely be ineffective.

In circumstances where there is sufficient advance notice that a potentially dangerous animal may
be encountered, department members should develop reasonable contingency plans for dealing
with the animal (e.g., fire extinguisher, TASER device, oleoresin capsicum (OC) spray, animal
control officer). Nothing in this policy shall prohibit any member from shooting a dangerous animal
if circumstances reasonably dictate that a contingency plan has failed or becomes impractical.

306.5.2   INJURED ANIMALS
With the approval of a supervisor, a member may euthanize an animal that is so badly injured
that human compassion requires its removal from further suffering and where other dispositions
are impractical.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 82

306.5.3   WARNING AND OTHER SHOTS
Generally, warning shots or shots fired for the purpose of summoning aid are discouraged and may
not be discharged unless the member reasonably believes that they appear necessary, effective
and reasonably safe.

306.6   SUPPORT CAPTAIN DUTIES
The range will be under the exclusive control of the Support Captain. All members attending will
follow the directions of the Support Captain or designee. The Support Captain will maintain a roster
of all members attending the range. Failure of any member to sign in and out with the Support
Captain may result in non-participation or non-qualification.

The range shall remain operational and accessible to department members during hours
established by the Department.

The Support Captain has the responsibility of making periodic inspection, as needed, of all duty
firearms carried by members of this department to verify proper operation. The Support Captain
has the authority to deem any department-issued or personally owned firearm unfit for service.
The member will be responsible for all repairs to his/her personally owned firearm; it will not be
returned to service until it has been inspected and approved by the Support Captain.

The Support Captain has the responsibility for insuring each member meets the minimum
requirements during training shoots and, on at least a yearly basis, can demonstrate proficiency
in the care, cleaning and safety of all firearms the member is authorized to carry.

The Support Captain shall complete documentation of the training courses provided.
Documentation shall include the qualifications of each instructor who provides the training, a
description of the training provided and, on a form that has been approved by the Department,
a list of each member who completes the training. The Support Captain should keep accurate
records of all training shoots, qualifications, repairs, maintenance or other records as directed by
the Support Captain.

306.7   FLYING WHILE ARMED
The Transportation Security Administration (TSA) has imposed rules governing law enforcement
officers flying armed on commercial aircraft. The following requirements apply to officers who
intend to be armed while flying on a commercial air carrier or flights where screening is conducted
(49 CFR 1544.219):

(a) Officers wishing to fly while armed must be flying in an official capacity, not for vacation
or pleasure, and must have a need to have the firearm accessible, as determined by
the Department based on the law and published TSA rules.

(b) Officers must carry their City of Sherwood Police Department identification card,
bearing the officer’s name, a full-face photograph, identification number, the officer’s
signature and the signature of the Police Chief or the official seal of the
Department and must present this identification to airline officials when requested.
The officer should also carry the standard photo identification needed for passenger
screening by airline and TSA officials (e.g., driver license, passport).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 83

(c) The City of Sherwood Police Department must submit a National Law Enforcement
Telecommunications System (NLETS) message prior to the Officer’s travel. If
approved, TSA will send the City of Sherwood Police Department an NLETS message
containing a unique alphanumeric identifier. The officer must present the message on
the day of travel to airport personnel as authorization to travel while armed.

(d) An official letter signed by the Police Chief authorizing armed travel may also
accompany the officer. The letter should outline the officer’s need to fly armed, detail
his/her itinerary, and include that the officer has completed the mandatory TSA training
for a law enforcement officer flying while armed.

(e) Officers must have completed the mandated TSA security training
covering officers flying while armed. The training shall be given by the department-
appointed instructor.

(f) It is the officer’s responsibility to notify the air carrier in advance of the intended
armed travel. This notification should be accomplished by early check-in at the carrier’s
check-in counter.

(g) Any officer flying while armed should discreetly contact the flight crew prior to take-off
and notify them of his/her assigned seat.

(h) Discretion must be used to avoid alarming passengers or crew by displaying a
firearm. The officer must keep the firearm concealed on his/her person at all times.
Firearms are not permitted in carry-on luggage and may not be stored in an overhead
compartment.

(i) Officers should try to resolve any problems associated with flying armed through the
flight captain, ground security manager, TSA representative or other management
representative of the air carrier.

(j) Officers shall not consume alcoholic beverages while aboard an aircraft, or within eight
hours prior to boarding an aircraft.

306.8   CARRYING FIREARMS OUT OF STATE
Qualified, active, full-time officers of this department are authorized to carry a concealed firearm
in all other states subject to the following conditions (18 USC § 926B):

(a) The officer shall carry his/her City of Sherwood Police Department identification card
whenever carrying such firearm.

(b) The officer is not the subject of any current disciplinary action.

(c) The officer may not be under the influence of alcohol or any other intoxicating or
hallucinatory drug.

(d) The officer will remain subject to this and all other department policies (including
qualifying and training).

Officers are cautioned that individual states may enact local regulations that permit private
persons or entities to prohibit or restrict the possession of concealed firearms on their property,
or that prohibit or restrict the possession of firearms on any state or local government property,



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 84

installation, building, base or park. Federal authority may not shield an officer from arrest and
prosecution in such locally restricted areas.

Active law enforcement officers from other states are subject to all requirements set forth in 18
USC § 926B.

306.9   EQUIPMENT
Firearms carried on- or off-duty shall be maintained in a clean, serviceable condition. Maintenance
and repair of authorized personally owned firearms are the responsibility of the individual member.

306.9.1   REPAIRS OR MODIFICATIONS
Each member shall be responsible for promptly reporting any damage or malfunction of an
assigned firearm to a supervisor or the Support Captain.

Firearms that are the property of the Department or personally owned firearms that are approved
for department use may be repaired or modified only by a person who is department-approved
and certified as an armorer or gunsmith in the repair of the specific firearm. Such modification or
repair must be authorized in advance by the Support Captain.

Any repairs or modifications to the member’s personally owned firearm shall be done at his/her
expense and must be approved by the Support Captain.

306.9.2   HOLSTERS
Only department-approved holsters shall be used and worn by members. Members shall
periodically inspect their holsters to make sure they are serviceable and provide the proper security
and retention of the handgun.

306.9.3   TACTICAL LIGHTS
Tactical lights may only be installed on a firearm carried on- or off-duty after they have been
examined and approved by the Support Captain. Once the approved tactical lights have been
properly installed on any firearm, the member shall qualify with the firearm to ensure proper
functionality and sighting of the firearm prior to carrying it.

306.9.4   OPTICS OR LASER SIGHTS
Optics or laser sights may only be installed on a firearm carried on- or off-duty after they have
been examined and approved by the Support Captain. Any approved sight shall only be installed
in strict accordance with manufacturer specifications. Once approved sights have been properly
installed on any firearm, the member shall qualify with the firearm to ensure proper functionality
and sighting of the firearm prior to carrying it.

Except in an approved training situation, a member may only sight in on a target when the member
would otherwise be justified in pointing a firearm at the target.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 85

306.10   SAFE HANDLING, INSPECTION AND STORAGE
Members shall maintain the highest level of safety when handling firearms and shall consider the
following:

(a) Members shall not unnecessarily display or handle any firearm.

(b) Members shall be governed by all rules and regulations pertaining to the use of the
range and shall obey all orders issued by the Support Captain. Members shall not
dry fire or practice quick draws except as instructed by the Support Captain or other
firearms training staff.

(c) Members shall not clean, repair, load or unload a firearm anywhere in the Department,
except where instructed.

(d) Shotguns or rifles removed from vehicles or the equipment storage room shall be
loaded and unloaded in the parking lot and outside of the vehicle, using clearing
barrels.

(e) Members shall not place or store any firearm or other weapon on department premises
except where the place of storage is locked. No one shall carry firearms into the jail
section or any part thereof when securing or processing an arrestee, but shall place all
firearms in a secured location. Members providing access to the jail section to persons
from outside agencies are responsible for insuring firearms are not brought into the
jail section.

(f) Members shall not use any automatic firearm, heavy caliber rifle, gas or other type of
chemical weapon or firearm from the armory, except with approval of a supervisor.

(g) Any firearm authorized by the Department to be carried on- or off-duty that is
determined by a member to be malfunctioning or in need of service or repair shall
not be carried. It shall be promptly presented to the Department or a Support
Captain approved by the Department for inspection and repair. Any firearm deemed
in need of repair or service by the Support Captain will be immediately removed from
service. If the firearm is the member’s primary duty firearm, a replacement firearm will
be issued to the member until the duty firearm is serviceable.

306.10.1   INSPECTION AND STORAGE
Handguns shall be inspected regularly and upon access or possession by another person.
Shotguns and rifles shall be inspected at the beginning of the shift by the member to whom the
weapon is issued. The member shall insure that the firearm is carried in the proper condition and
loaded with approved ammunition. Inspection of the shotgun and rifle shall be done while standing
outside of the patrol vehicle. All firearms shall be pointed in a safe direction or into clearing barrels.

Handguns may be safely stored in lockers at the end of the shift so long as the locker is secured/
locked. Handguns may remain loaded if they are secured in an appropriate holster. Shotguns and
rifles shall be unloaded in a safe manner outside the building and then stored in secured/locked
storage in accordance with department training.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Firearms

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/10/21, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Firearms - 86

306.10.2   STORAGE AT HOME
Members shall insure that all department issued firearms and ammunition are always under their
immediate control or locked and secured while in their homes, vehicles or any other area under
their control, and in a manner that will keep them inaccessible to children and others who should
not have access. Members shall not permit department-issued firearms to be handled by anyone
not authorized by the Department to do so. Members should be aware that negligent storage of
a firearm could result in discipline and/or civil liability.

306.10.3   ALCOHOL AND DRUGS
Firearms shall not be carried by any member, either on- or off-duty, who has consumed an amount
of an alcoholic beverage, taken any drugs or medication, or has taken any combination thereof
that would tend to adversely affect the member’s senses or judgment.



Policy

311
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Domestic Violence - 113

Domestic Violence
311.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The purpose of this policy is to provide the guidelines necessary to deter, prevent and reduce
domestic violence through vigorous enforcement and to address domestic violence as a serious
crime against society. The policy specifically addresses the commitment of this agency to take
enforcement action when appropriate, to provide assistance to victims and to guide officers in the
investigation of domestic violence.

311.1.1   DEFINITIONS
Definitions related to this policy include:

Court order - All forms of orders related to domestic violence, that have been issued by a court
of this state or another, whether civil or criminal, regardless of whether service has been made.

311.2   POLICY
The City of Sherwood Police Department’s response to incidents of domestic violence and
violations of related court orders shall stress enforcement of the law to protect the victim and shall
communicate the philosophy that domestic violence is criminal behavior. It is also the policy of
this agency to facilitate victims’ and offenders’ access to appropriate civil remedies and community
resources whenever feasible.

311.3   OFFICER SAFETY
The investigation of domestic violence cases often places officers in emotionally charged and
sometimes highly dangerous environments. No provision of this policy is intended to supersede
the responsibility of all officers to exercise due caution and reasonable care in providing for the
safety of any officers and parties involved.

311.4   INVESTIGATIONS
The following guidelines should be followed by officers when investigating domestic violence
cases:

(a) Calls of reported, threatened, imminent, or ongoing domestic violence, and the
violation of any court order are of extreme importance and should be considered
among the highest response priorities. This includes incomplete 9-1-1 calls.

(b) When practicable, officers should obtain and document statements from the victim, the
suspect, and any witnesses, including children, in or around the household or location
of occurrence.

(c) Officers should list the full name and date of birth (and school if available) of each
child who was present in the household at the time of the offense. The names of other
children who may not have been in the house at that particular time should also be
obtained for follow-up.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Domestic Violence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Domestic Violence - 114

(d) When practicable and legally permitted, video or audio record all significant statements
and observations.

(e) All injuries should be photographed, regardless of severity, taking care to preserve
the victim’s personal privacy. Where practicable, photographs should be taken by a
person of the same sex. Victims whose injuries are not visible at the time of the incident
should be asked to contact the Investigation Unit in the event that the injuries later
become visible.

(f) Officers should request that the victim complete and sign an authorization for release
of medical records related to the incident when applicable.

(g) If the suspect is no longer at the scene, officers should make reasonable efforts to
locate the suspect to further the investigation, provide the suspect with an opportunity
to make a statement, and make an arrest or seek an arrest warrant if appropriate.

(h) Seize any firearms or other dangerous weapons in the home, if appropriate and legally
permitted, for safekeeping or as evidence.

(i) When completing an incident or arrest report for violation of a court order, officers
should include specific information that establishes that the offender has been served,
including the date the offender was served, the name of the agency that served the
order, and the provision of the order that the subject is alleged to have violated. When
reasonably available, the arresting officer should attach a copy of the order to the
incident or arrest report.

(j) Officers should take appropriate enforcement action when there is probable cause to
believe an offense has occurred. Factors that should not be used as sole justification
for declining to take enforcement action include:

1. Whether the suspect lives on the premises with the victim.

2. Claims by the suspect that the victim provoked or perpetuated the violence.

3. The potential financial or child custody consequences of arrest.

4. The physical or emotional state of either party.

5. Use of drugs or alcohol by either party.

6. Denial that the abuse occurred where evidence indicates otherwise.

7. A request by the victim not to arrest the suspect.

8. Location of the incident (public/private).

9. Speculation that the complainant may not follow through with the prosecution.

10. Actual or perceived characteristics such as race, ethnicity, national origin,
religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, economic status,
age, cultural group, disability, or marital status of the victim or suspect.

11. The social status, community status, or professional position of the victim or
suspect.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Domestic Violence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Domestic Violence - 115

311.4.1   IF A SUSPECT IS ARRESTED
If a suspect is arrested, officers should:

(a) Advise the victim that there is no guarantee the suspect will remain in custody.

(b) Provide the victim’s contact information to the jail staff to enable notification of the
victim upon the suspect’s release from jail.

(c) Advise the victim whether any type of court order will be in effect when the suspect
is released from jail.

311.4.2   IF NO ARREST IS MADE
If no arrest is made, the officer should:

(a) Advise the parties of any options, including but not limited to:

1. Voluntary separation of the parties.

2. Appropriate resource referrals (e.g., counselors, friends, relatives, shelter
homes, victim witness unit).

(b) Document the resolution in a report.

311.5   VICTIM ASSISTANCE
Victims may be traumatized or confused. Officers should:

(a) Recognize that a victim’s behavior and actions may be affected.

(b) Provide the victim with the agency’s domestic violence information handout, even if
the incident may not rise to the level of a crime.

(c) Alert the victim to any available victim advocates, shelters and community resources.

(d) Stand by for a reasonable amount of time when an involved person requests law
enforcement assistance while removing essential items of personal property.

(e) Seek medical assistance as soon as practicable for the victim if he/she has sustained
injury or complains of pain.

(f) Ask the victim whether he/she has a safe place to stay. Assist in arranging to transport
the victim to an alternate shelter if the victim expresses a concern for his/her safety
or if the officer determines that a need exists.

(g) Make reasonable efforts to ensure that children or dependent adults who are under
the supervision of the suspect or victim are being properly cared for.

(h) Seek or assist the victim in obtaining an emergency order if appropriate.

An officer who has probable cause to believe there are circumstances for a mandatory arrest or
that a victim is in immediate danger of abuse may apply for an emergency protective order with
the consent or permission of the victim (ORS 133.035).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Domestic Violence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Domestic Violence - 116

311.5.1   DOMESTIC VIOLENCE REPORTING
In any suspected incident of domestic violence, as defined in policy 319, the responding
officer shall complete the Domestic Violence Risk Assessment (DVRA) and Domestic Violence
Supplemental Report, as outlined in the report writing manual. The completed DVRA and DV
Supplemental shall be included with the original report(s).

This requirement shall apply regardless of whether or not an arrest is made.

311.6   DISPATCH ASSISTANCE
All calls of domestic violence, including incomplete 9-1-1 calls, should be dispatched as soon as
practicable with a 2-car minimum response.

Dispatchers are not required to verify the validity of a court order before responding to a request for
assistance. Officers should request that dispatchers check whether any of the involved persons
are subject to the terms of a court order.

311.7   FOREIGN COURT ORDERS
Various types of orders may be issued in domestic violence cases. Any foreign court order properly
issued by a court of another state, Indian tribe or territory shall be enforced by officers as if it
were the order of a court in this state. An order should be considered properly issued when it
reasonably appears that the issuing court has jurisdiction over the parties and reasonable notice
and opportunity to respond was given to the party against whom the order was issued (18 USC
§ 2265). An otherwise valid out-of-state court order shall be enforced, regardless of whether the
order has been properly registered with this state.

311.7.1   ENTRY OF FOREIGN COURT ORDERS INTO DATA SYSTEMS
When an individual presents a copy of a foreign restraining order for entry into LEDS, the Sheriff
shall enter the order into LEDS and NCIC after promptly verifying (ORS 24.190): _

(a) The validity of the order.

(b) The order can be enforced pursuant to ORS 24.190.

(c) The individual restrained has been served a copy of the order or has notice of the
order.

311.8   VERIFICATION OF COURT ORDERS
Determining the validity of a court order, particularly an order from another jurisdiction, can be
challenging. Therefore, in determining whether there is probable cause to make an arrest for a
violation of any court order, officers should carefully review the actual order when available, and,
where appropriate and practicable:

(a) Ask the subject of the order about his/her notice or receipt of the order, his/her
knowledge of its terms and efforts to respond to the order.

(b) Check available records or databases that may show the status or conditions of the
order.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Domestic Violence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Domestic Violence - 117

(c) Contact the issuing court to verify the validity of the order.

(d) Contact a law enforcement official from the jurisdiction where the order was issued
to verify information.

Officers should document in an appropriate report their efforts to verify the validity of an order,
regardless of whether an arrest is made. Officers should contact a supervisor for clarification when
needed.

311.8.1   SERVICE OF COURT ORDERS
Officers should, if requested and practicable, serve any unserved restraining order when called to
the scene of a disturbance. Any officer serving such a restraining order shall ensure that a copy of
proof of service is returned to the Sheriff for entry into the Law Enforcement Data System (LEDS)
and the National Crime Information Center (NCIC) system (ORS 107.720).

311.8.2   SERVICE OF EMERGENCY PROTECTIVE ORDERS
An officer who obtains an emergency protective order for a victim shall provide the victim with a
certified copy and ensure that a certified copy of the order and the supporting declaration for the
order is filed with the court (ORS 133.035).

The officer who obtained the emergency protective order shall serve the respondent personally.
Upon completion of the service, the officer shall file a proof of service with the court and ensure
that the order is entered into LEDS. If service cannot be completed within one day of the order’s
entry, the officer shall notify the court (ORS 133.035).

If an officer receives a termination order from the court, the officer shall ensure that the order is
promptly removed from LEDS (ORS 133.035).

311.9   STANDARDS FOR ARREST

(a) Officers who respond to an incident of domestic disturbance and have probable cause
to believe an assault has occurred between family or household members as defined
in ORS 107.705, or who believe that one such person has created in the other a
fear of imminent serious physical injury, shall arrest and take into custody the alleged
assailant or potential assailant (ORS 133.055).

(b) Dual arrests are not required (ORS 133.055). Officers shall make reasonable efforts
to identify and arrest the primary assailant in any incident. In identifying the primary
assailant, an officer shall consider:

1. The comparative extent of the injuries inflicted or the seriousness of threats
creating a fear of physical injury.

2. If reasonably ascertainable, the history of domestic violence between the
persons involved.

3. Whether any alleged crime was committed in self-defense.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Domestic Violence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Domestic Violence - 118

4. The potential for future assaults.

(c) Once a suspect has been arrested under the provisions of ORS 133.055, the suspect
shall be taken to jail. Officers have no authority to release the arrested person.

(d) Officers shall arrest and take a suspect into custody when the officer has probable
cause to believe that a restraining order or emergency protective order has been
issued, a copy of the order and proof of service on the suspect have been filed, and
the suspect has violated the terms of the order (ORS 133.310).

311.10   REPORTS AND NOTIFICATIONS
Officers should document in their report that they provided each domestic violence victim with a
copy of the agency’s domestic violence victim information handout (ORS 133.055).

Reporting officers should also provide the victim with the case number of the report. The case
number may be placed in the space provided on the domestic violence victim information handout.
If the case number is not immediately available, an explanation should be given about how the
victim can obtain the information at a later time.

311.10.1   EMERGENCY PROTECTIVE ORDERS
The Support Captain shall ensure that a system is in place that provides officers at the scene of
an alleged violation of an emergency protective order of the terms and existence of the protective
order (ORS 133.035).



Policy

312
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Search and Seizure - 119

Search and Seizure
312.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
Both the federal and state Constitutions provide every individual with the right to be free from
unreasonable searches and seizures. This policy provides general guidelines for City of Sherwood
Police Department personnel to consider when dealing with search and seizure issues.

312.2   POLICY
It is the policy of the City of Sherwood Police Department to respect the fundamental privacy
rights of individuals. Members of this department will conduct searches in strict observance of the
constitutional rights of persons being searched. All seizures by this department will comply with
relevant federal and state law governing the seizure of persons and property.

The Department will provide relevant and current training to officers as guidance for the application
of current law, local community standards and prosecutorial considerations regarding specific
search and seizure situations, as appropriate.

312.3   SEARCHES
The U.S. Constitution generally provides that a valid warrant is required in order for a search to
be valid. There are, however, several exceptions that permit a warrantless search.

Examples of law enforcement activities that are exceptions to the general warrant requirement
include, but are not limited to, searches pursuant to the following:

• Valid consent

• Incident to a lawful arrest

• Legitimate community caretaking interests

• Vehicle searches under certain circumstances

• Exigent circumstances

• Plain view

Certain other activities are recognized by federal and state courts and by certain statutes as
legitimate law enforcement activities that also do not require a warrant. Such activities may include
seizure and examination of abandoned property, and observations of activities and property
located on open public areas.

Because case law regarding search and seizure is constantly changing and subject to
interpretation by the courts, each member of this department is expected to act in each situation
according to current training and his/her familiarity with clearly established rights as determined
by case law.

Whenever practicable, officers are encouraged to contact a supervisor to resolve questions
regarding search and seizure issues prior to electing a course of action.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Search and Seizure

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Search and Seizure - 120

312.4   SEARCH PROTOCOL
Although conditions will vary and officer safety and other exigencies must be considered in every
search situation; the following guidelines should be followed whenever circumstances permit:

(a) Members of this department will strive to conduct searches with dignity and courtesy.

(b) Officers should explain to the person being searched the reason for the search and
how the search will be conducted.

(c) Searches should be carried out with due regard and respect for private property
interests and in a manner that minimizes damage. Property should be left in a condition
as close as reasonably possible to its pre-search condition.

(d) In order to minimize the need for forcible entry, an attempt should be made to obtain
keys, combinations or access codes when a search of locked property is anticipated.

(e) When the person to be searched is of the opposite sex as the searching officer, a
reasonable effort should be made to summon an officer of the same sex as the subject
to conduct the search. When it is not practicable to summon an officer of the same
sex as the subject, the following guidelines should be followed:

1. Another officer or a supervisor should witness the search.

2. The officer should not search areas of the body covered by tight-fitting clothing,
sheer clothing or clothing that could not reasonably conceal a weapon.

312.5   DOCUMENTATION
Officers are responsible to document any search and to ensure that any required reports are
sufficient including, at minimum, documentation of the following:

• Reason for the search

• Any efforts used to minimize the intrusiveness of any search (e.g., asking for consent
or keys)

• What, if any, injuries or damage occurred

• All steps taken to secure property

• The results of the search, including a description of any property or contraband seized

• If the person searched is the opposite sex, any efforts to summon an officer of the
same sex as the person being searched and the identification of any witness officer

Supervisors shall review reports to ensure the reports are accurate, that actions are properly
documented and that current legal requirements and department policy have been met.



Policy

313
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 121

Temporary Custody of Juveniles
313.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides guidelines consistent with the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention
Act for juveniles taken into temporary custody by members of the City of Sherwood Police
Department (34 USC § 11133).

Guidance regarding contacting juveniles at schools or those who may be victims is provided in
the Child Abuse Policy.

313.1.1   DEFINITIONS
Definitions related to this policy include:

Juvenile non-offender - An abused, neglected, dependent, or alien juvenile who may be legally
held for his/her own safety or welfare. This includes a juvenile taken into protective custody
pursuant to a court order or without an order when there is reasonable cause to believe that (ORS
419B.150; ORS 419B.152):

(a) An imminent threat of severe harm to the child exists.

(b) The child poses an imminent threat of severe harm to self or others.

(c) An imminent threat that the child may be removed from the jurisdiction of the juvenile
court exists.

(d) The child has run away from home.

This also includes any juvenile who may have initially been contacted for an offense that would not
subject an adult to arrest (e.g., fine-only offense) but was taken into custody for his/her protection
or for purposes of reuniting the juvenile with a parent, guardian, or other responsible person.

Juvenile offender - A juvenile under 18 years of age who is alleged to have committed an
offense that would subject an adult to arrest (a non-status offense). It also includes a juvenile who
possesses a handgun in violation of ORS 166.250 (28 CFR 31.303).

Non-secure custody - When a juvenile is held in the presence of an officer or other agency
member at all times and is not placed in a locked room, cell, or behind any locked doors. Juveniles
in non-secure custody may be handcuffed but not to a stationary or secure object. Personal
supervision, through direct visual monitoring and audio two-way communication, is maintained.
Monitoring through electronic devices, such as video, does not replace direct visual observation.

Secure custody - When a juvenile offender is held in a locked room, a set of rooms, or a cell.
Secure custody also includes being physically secured to a stationary object.

Examples of secure custody include:

(a) A juvenile left alone in an unlocked room within the secure perimeter of the adult
temporary holding area.

(b) A juvenile handcuffed to a rail.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Juveniles

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 122

(c) A juvenile placed in a room that contains doors with delayed egress devices that have
a delay of more than 30 seconds.

(d) A juvenile being processed in a secure booking area when an unsecure booking area
is available.

(e) A juvenile left alone in a secure booking area after being photographed and
fingerprinted.

(f) A juvenile placed in a cell within the adult temporary holding area, whether or not the
cell door is locked.

(g) A juvenile placed in a room that is capable of being locked or contains a fixed object
designed for cuffing or restricting movement.

Sight and sound separation - Located or arranged to prevent physical, visual, or auditory
contact.

Status offender - A juvenile suspected of committing a criminal violation of the law that would
not be a criminal violation but for the age of the offender. Examples may include running away,
underage possession of tobacco, curfew violation, or truancy. A juvenile in custody on a court
order or warrant based upon a status offense is also a status offender.

313.2   POLICY
The City of Sherwood Police Department is committed to releasing juveniles from temporary
custody as soon as reasonably practicable and keeping juveniles safe while they are in temporary
custody at the City of Sherwood Police Department. Juveniles should be held in temporary custody
only for as long as reasonably necessary for processing, transfer or release.

313.3   JUVENILES WHO SHOULD NOT BE HELD
Juveniles who exhibit any of the following conditions should not be held at the City of Sherwood
Police Department:

(a) Unconscious

(b) Seriously injured

(c) A known suicide risk or obviously severely emotionally disturbed

(d) Significantly intoxicated

(e) Extremely violent or continuously violent

Officers taking custody of a juvenile who exhibits any of the above conditions should take
reasonable steps to provide medical attention or mental health assistance and notify a supervisor
of the situation.

These juveniles should not be held at the City of Sherwood Police Department unless they have
been evaluated by a qualified medical and/or mental health professional.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Juveniles

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 123

If the officer taking custody of the juvenile believes the juvenile may be a suicide risk, the juvenile
shall be under continuous direct supervision until evaluation, release or a transfer is completed.

313.4   CUSTODY OF JUVENILES
Officers should take custody of a juvenile and temporarily hold the juvenile at the City of Sherwood
Police Department when there is no other lawful and practicable alternative to temporary custody.
Refer to the Child Abuse Policy for additional information regarding detaining a juvenile that is
suspected of being a victim.

No juvenile should be held in temporary custody at the City of Sherwood Police Department without
authorization of the arresting officer's supervisor or the Shift Supervisor.

Any juvenile taken into custody shall be released to the care of the juvenile’s parent or other
responsible adult or transferred to a juvenile custody facility or to other authority as soon as
practicable and in no event shall a juvenile be held beyond five hours from the time of his/her entry
into the City of Sherwood Police Department (ORS 419B.160; ORS 419C.130).

313.4.1   CUSTODY OF JUVENILE NON-OFFENDERS
Non-offenders taken into protective custody in compliance with the Child Abuse Policy should
generally not be held at the City of Sherwood Police Department. Custodial arrangements should
be made for non-offenders as soon as reasonably possible (ORS 419B.165; ORS 419B.168; ORS
419B.152). Juvenile non-offenders may not be held in secure custody (34 USC § 11133; ORS
419B.160).

Prior to releasing a non-offender to the noncustodial parent, officers shall run a criminal records
check on the noncustodial parent and any adults in the same home as the noncustodial parent
(ORS 419B.165).

313.4.2   CUSTODY OF JUVENILE STATUS OFFENDERS
Status offenders should generally be released by citation or with a warning rather than taken into
temporary custody. However, officers may take custody of a status offender if requested to do
so by a parent or legal guardian in order to facilitate reunification (e.g., transported home or to
the station to await a parent). Juvenile status offenders may not be held in secure custody (34
USC § 11133).

313.4.3   CUSTODY OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS
Generally, a juvenile offender may be taken into custody:

(a) When it reasonably appears that the juvenile is a fugitive from another state (ORS
419C.145).

(b) When there is a court order endorsed as provided in ORS 419C.306 and directing that
the juvenile be taken into custody (ORS 419C.080).

(c) When, if the juvenile were an adult, he/she could be arrested without a warrant (ORS
419C.080).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Juveniles

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 124

An officer shall take a juvenile into custody when the officer has probable cause to believe the
juvenile, while in a public building or court facility within the last 120 days, unlawfully possessed
a firearm or a destructive device (ORS 419C.080).

Generally, an officer may issue a citation in lieu of taking the juvenile into custody if a citation may
be issued for the same offense and under the same circumstances to an adult. If a citation in lieu
of custody is issued, a copy of the citation shall be sent to the District Attorney (ORS 419C.085).

Juvenile offenders should be held in non-secure custody while at the City of Sherwood Police
Department unless another form of custody is authorized by this policy or is necessary due to
exigent circumstances.

313.4.4   EXCEPTIONS TO RELEASE OF JUVENILE OFFENDERS
A juvenile offender shall be released to the custody of the juvenile's parent, guardian or other
responsible person, except in any of the following circumstances (ORS 419C.100):

(a) The court has issued a warrant of arrest for the juvenile.

(b) The officer has probable cause to believe that release of the juvenile may endanger
the welfare of the juvenile, the victim or others.

(c) When the officer has probable cause to believe that the juvenile, while in a public
building or court facility within the last 120 days, unlawfully possessed a firearm or
destructive device.

If a juvenile offender is not released to the parent, guardian or other responsible person, or to
a person identified by the juvenile court, the officer shall take the juvenile to the county juvenile
detention facility or appropriate shelter (ORS 419C.103).

313.5   NOTIFICATION TO PARENT OR GUARDIAN
As soon as practicable after a juvenile is taken into custody, the officer taking the juvenile into
custody shall notify the juvenile's parent, guardian or other person responsible for the juvenile of
the following (ORS 419B.160; ORS 419C.097):

(a) Reason the juvenile was taken into custody

(b) Location where the juvenile is being temporarily detained

(c) Intended disposition

(d) Time and place of any hearing

313.6   JUVENILE CUSTODY LOGS
Any time a juvenile is held in custody at the Agency, the custody shall be promptly and properly
documented in the juvenile custody log, including:

(a) Identifying information about the juvenile being held.

(b) Date and time of arrival and release from the City of Sherwood Police Department.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Juveniles

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 125

(c) Shift Supervisor notification and approval to temporarily hold the juvenile.

(d) Any charges for which the juvenile is being held and classification of the juvenile as a
juvenile offender, status offender or non-offender.

(e) Any changes in status.

(f) Time of all welfare checks.

(g) Any medical and other screening requested and completed.

(h) Circumstances that justify any secure custody.

(i) Any other information that may be required by other authorities, such as compliance
inspectors or a local juvenile court authority.

The Shift Supervisor shall initial the log to approve the custody, including any secure custody, and
shall also initial the log when the juvenile is released.

313.7   NO-CONTACT REQUIREMENTS
Sight and sound separation shall be maintained between all juveniles and adults while in custody
at the Agency (34 USC § 11133). There should also be sight and sound separation between non-
offenders and juvenile and status offenders.

In situations where brief or accidental contact may occur (e.g., during the brief time a juvenile is
being fingerprinted and/or photographed in booking), a member of the City of Sherwood Police
Department shall remove the juvenile or adult from the area until separation can be re-established.

313.8   TEMPORARY CUSTODY REQUIREMENTS
Members and supervisors assigned to monitor or process any juvenile at the City of Sherwood
Police Department shall ensure the following:

(a) The Shift Supervisor should be notified if it is anticipated that a juvenile may need
to remain at the City of Sherwood Police Department more than four hours. This will
enable the Shift Supervisor to ensure no juvenile is held at the City of Sherwood Police
Department more than five hours.

(b) A staff member of the same sex shall supervise personal hygiene activities and care,
such as changing clothing or using the restroom, without direct observation to allow
for privacy.

(c) Personal visual checks and significant incidents/activities shall be noted on the log.

(d) There shall be no viewing devices, such as peep holes or mirrors, of which the juvenile
is not aware. Therefore, an employee should inform a juvenile under his/her care that
the juvenile will be monitored at all times, unless he/she is using the toilet. This does
not apply to surreptitious and legally obtained recorded interrogations.

(e) Juveniles shall have reasonable access to toilets and wash basins.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Juveniles

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 126

(f) Food should be provided if a juvenile has not eaten within the past four hours or is
otherwise in need of nourishment, including any special diet required for the health
of the juvenile.

(g) Juveniles shall have reasonable access to a drinking fountain or water.

(h) Juveniles shall have reasonable opportunities to stand and stretch, particularly if
handcuffed or restrained in any way.

(i) Juveniles should have privacy during family, guardian and/or lawyer visits.

(j) Juveniles should be permitted to remain in their personal clothing unless the clothing
is taken as evidence or is otherwise unsuitable or inadequate for continued wear while
in custody.

(k) Blankets should be provided as reasonably necessary.

(l) Adequate shelter, heat, light and ventilation should be provided without compromising
security or enabling escape.

(m) Juveniles shall have adequate furnishings, including suitable chairs or benches.

(n) Juveniles shall have the right to the same number of telephone calls as an adult in
custody.

(o) No discipline may be administered to any juvenile, nor may juveniles be subjected to
corporal or unusual punishment, humiliation or mental abuse.

313.9   USE OF RESTRAINT DEVICES
Juvenile offenders may be handcuffed in accordance with the Handcuffing and Restraints Policy.
A juvenile offender may be handcuffed at the City of Sherwood Police Department when the
juvenile presents a heightened risk. However, non-offenders and status offenders should not be
handcuffed unless they are combative or threatening.

Other restraints shall only be used after less restrictive measures have failed and with the approval
of the Shift Supervisor. Restraints shall only be used so long as it reasonably appears necessary
for the juvenile's protection or the protection of others.

Juveniles in restraints shall be kept away from other unrestrained juveniles or monitored in such
a way as to protect the juvenile from abuse.

313.10   PERSONAL PROPERTY
The officer taking custody of a juvenile offender or status offender at the City of Sherwood Police
Department shall ensure a thorough search of the juvenile’s property is made and all property is
removed from the juvenile, especially those items that could compromise safety, such as pens,
pencils and belts.

The personal property of a juvenile should be placed in a property bag. The property should be
inventoried in the juvenile’s presence and sealed into the bag. The property should be kept in a



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Juveniles

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 127

monitored or secure location until the juvenile is released from the custody of the City of Sherwood
Police Department.

313.11   SECURE CUSTODY
Only juvenile offenders 14 years or older may be placed in secure custody. Shift Supervisor
approval is required before placing a juvenile offender in secure custody.

Secure custody should only be used for juvenile offenders when there is a reasonable belief that
the juvenile is a serious risk of harm to him/herself or others.

Members of this agency should not use secure custody for convenience when non-secure custody
is, or later becomes, a reasonable option.

When practicable, handcuffing one hand of a juvenile offender to a fixed object while otherwise
maintaining the juvenile in non-secure custody should be considered as the method of secure
custody, rather than the use of a locked enclosure. An employee must be present at all times to
ensure the juvenile’s safety while secured to a stationary object.

Generally, juveniles should not be secured to a stationary object for more than 60 minutes.
Supervisor approval is required to secure a juvenile to a stationary object for longer than 60
minutes and every 30 minutes thereafter. Supervisor approval should be documented.

313.11.1   LOCKED ENCLOSURES
A thorough inspection of the area shall be conducted before placing a juvenile into the enclosure.
A second inspection shall be conducted after removing the juvenile. Any damage noted to the
room should be photographed and documented in the crime report.

The following requirements shall apply to a juvenile offender who is held inside a locked enclosure:

(a) The juvenile shall constantly be monitored by an audio/video system during the entire
time in custody.

(b) Juveniles shall have constant auditory access to agency members.

(c) Initial placement into and removal from a locked enclosure shall be logged.

(d) Random personal visual checks of the juvenile by staff member shall occur no less
than every 15 minutes.

1. All checks shall be logged.

2. The check should involve questioning the juvenile as to his/her well-being
(sleeping juveniles or apparently sleeping juveniles should be awakened).

3. Requests or concerns of the juvenile should be logged.

(e) Males and females shall not be placed in the same locked room.

(f) Juvenile offenders should be separated according to severity of the crime (e.g., felony
or misdemeanor).

(g) Restrained juveniles shall not be mixed in a cell or room with unrestrained juveniles.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Juveniles

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 128

313.12   SUICIDE ATTEMPT, DEATH OR SERIOUS INJURY OF A JUVENILE
The Shift Supervisor will ensure procedures are in place to address the suicide attempt, death
or serious injury of any juvenile held at the City of Sherwood Police Department. The procedures
will address:

(a) Immediate notification of the on-duty supervisor, Police Chief and Investigation Unit
supervisor.

(b) Notification of the parent, guardian or person standing in loco parentis, of the juvenile.

(c) Notification of the appropriate prosecutor.

(d) Notification of the City Attorney.

(e) Evidence preservation.

313.13   INTERVIEWING OR INTERROGATING JUVENILE SUSPECTS
No interview or interrogation of a juvenile should occur unless the juvenile has the apparent
capacity to consent, and does consent to an interview or interrogation. (See the Investigation and
Prosecution Policy.)

313.14   RESTRICTION ON FINGERPRINTING AND PHOTOGRAPHING
A juvenile taken into custody under ORS 419C.080 shall be photographed and fingerprinted (ORS
419A.250(2)).

Other juveniles taken into custody may only be fingerprinted or photographed (ORS 419A.250(1)):

(a) Pursuant to a search warrant.

(b) According to laws concerning adults if the juvenile has been transferred to criminal
court for prosecution.

(c) Upon consent of both the juvenile and the juvenile's parent after being advised that
they are not required to give such consent.

(d) By order of the juvenile court.

Fingerprints and photographs of juveniles must be kept separate from those of adults. Fingerprints
and photographs of juvenile offenders shall be sent to the central state depository in the same
manner as fingerprint and photograph files or records of adults. Fingerprints and photographs of
other juveniles should not be sent to any central state or federal depository (ORS 419A.250).

313.15   RECORDS
Fingerprint and photograph files or records of juveniles must be kept separate from those of adults
(ORS 419A.250).

Reports and other material relating to juveniles is generally considered privileged and may not be
disclosed directly or indirectly except as provided in the Records Maintenance and Release Policy.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Juveniles

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Juveniles - 129

313.16   TRAINING
Agency members should be trained on and familiar with this policy and any supplemental
procedures.



Policy

323
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Standards of Conduct - 174

Standards of Conduct
323.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy establishes standards of conduct that are consistent with the values and mission of
the City of Sherwood Police Department and are expected of all agency members. The standards
contained in this policy are not intended to be an exhaustive list of requirements and prohibitions
but they do identify many of the important matters concerning conduct. In addition to the provisions
of this policy, members are subject to all other provisions contained in this manual, as well as
any additional guidance on conduct that may be disseminated by this agency or a member’s
supervisors.

323.2   POLICY
The continued employment or appointment of every member of the City of Sherwood Police
Department shall be based on conduct that reasonably conforms to the guidelines set forth herein.
Failure to meet the guidelines set forth in this policy, whether on- or off-duty, may be cause for
disciplinary action.

323.3   DIRECTIVES AND ORDERS
Members shall comply with lawful directives and orders from any agency supervisor or person in
a position of authority, absent a reasonable and bona fide justification.

323.3.1   UNLAWFUL OR CONFLICTING ORDERS
Supervisors shall not knowingly issue orders or directives that, if carried out, would result in
a violation of any law or agency policy. Supervisors should not issue orders that conflict with
any previous order without making reasonable clarification that the new order is intended to
countermand the earlier order.

No member is required to obey any order that appears to be in direct conflict with any federal
law, state law or local ordinance. Following a known unlawful order is not a defense and does not
relieve the member from criminal or civil prosecution or administrative discipline. If the legality of
an order is in doubt, the affected member shall ask the issuing supervisor to clarify the order or
shall confer with a higher authority. The responsibility for refusal to obey rests with the member,
who shall subsequently be required to justify the refusal.

Unless it would jeopardize the safety of any individual, members who are presented with a
lawful order that is in conflict with a previous lawful order, agency policy or other directive shall
respectfully inform the issuing supervisor of the conflict. The issuing supervisor is responsible
for either resolving the conflict or clarifying that the lawful order is intended to countermand the
previous lawful order or directive, in which case the member is obliged to comply. Members who
are compelled to follow a conflicting lawful order after having given the issuing supervisor the
opportunity to correct the conflict, will not be held accountable for disobedience of the lawful order
or directive that was initially issued.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Standards of Conduct

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Standards of Conduct - 175

The person countermanding the original order shall notify, in writing, the person issuing the original
order, indicating the action taken and the reason.

323.3.2   SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES
Supervisors and managers are required to follow all policies and procedures and may be subject
to discipline for:

(a) Failure to be reasonably aware of the performance of their subordinates or to provide
appropriate guidance and control.

(b) Failure to promptly and fully report any known misconduct of a member to his/her
immediate supervisor or to document such misconduct appropriately or as required
by policy.

(c) Directing a subordinate to violate a policy or directive, acquiesce to such a violation,
or are indifferent to any such violation by a subordinate.

(d) The unequal or disparate exercise of authority on the part of a supervisor toward any
member for malicious or other improper purpose.

323.4   GENERAL STANDARDS
Members shall conduct themselves, whether on- or off-duty, in accordance with the United States
and Oregon constitutions and all applicable laws, ordinances, and rules enacted or established
pursuant to legal authority.

Members shall familiarize themselves with policies and procedures and are responsible for
compliance with each. Members should seek clarification and guidance from supervisors in the
event of any perceived ambiguity or uncertainty. All members have an absolute duty to report
misconduct they witness or become aware of, and failure to report may be grounds for discipline.

Discipline may be initiated for any good cause. It is not mandatory that a specific policy or rule
violation be cited to sustain discipline. This policy is not intended to cover every possible type of
misconduct.

323.4.1   DUTY TO INTERVENE AND REPORT MISCONDUCT
An officer who observes another officer engaging in misconduct shall intervene to prevent or stop
the conduct unless the officer cannot intervene safely. An officer who witnesses such conduct
shall report the misconduct to a supervisor as soon as practicable, but not later than 72 hours
after witnessing the misconduct (2020 Oregon Laws, c.5, § 2).

Failure to intervene or report the misconduct is grounds for discipline by the Agency or suspension
or revocation of the officers certification by the Department of Public Safety Standards and Training
(2020 Oregon Laws, c.5, § 2).

Misconduct means (2020 Oregon Laws, c.5, § 2):

(a) Unjustified or excessive force that is objectively unreasonable under the
circumstances or in violation of the agency policies related to the use of force.

(b) Sexual harassment or sexual misconduct.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Standards of Conduct

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Standards of Conduct - 176

(c) Discrimination against a person based on race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation,
gender identity, national origin, disability, or age.

(d) A crime.

(e) A violation of the minimum standards for physical, emotional, intellectual, and moral
fitness for public safety personnel under ORS 181A.410.

323.5   CAUSES FOR DISCIPLINE
The following are illustrative of causes for disciplinary action. This list is not intended to cover every
possible type of misconduct and does not preclude the recommendation of disciplinary action
for violation of other rules, standards, ethics and specific action or inaction that is detrimental to
efficient agency service.

323.5.1   LAWS, RULES AND ORDERS

(a) Violation of, or ordering or instructing a subordinate to violate any policy, procedure,
rule, order, directive, requirement or failure to follow instructions contained in agency
or City manuals.

(b) Disobedience of any legal directive or order issued by any agency member of a higher
rank.

(c) Violation of federal, state, local or administrative laws, rules or regulations.

(d) Failure to intervene and/or report misconduct by another member.

323.5.2   ETHICS

(a) Using or disclosing one’s status as a member of the City of Sherwood Police
Department in any way that could reasonably be perceived as an attempt to gain
influence or authority for non-agency business or activity.

(b) The wrongful or unlawful exercise of authority on the part of any member for malicious
purpose, personal gain, willful deceit or any other improper purpose.

(c) The receipt or acceptance of a reward, fee or gift from any person for service incident
to the performance of the member's duties (lawful subpoena fees and authorized work
permits excepted).

(d) Acceptance of fees, gifts or money contrary to the rules of this agency and/or laws
of the state.

(e) Offer or acceptance of a bribe or gratuity.

(f) Misappropriation or misuse of public funds, property, personnel or services.

(g) Any other failure to abide by the standards of ethical conduct.

323.5.3   DISCRIMINATION, OPPRESSION, OR FAVORITISM
Unless required by law or policy, discriminating against, oppressing, or providing favoritism to
any person because of actual or perceived characteristics such as race, ethnicity, national origin,
religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, age, disability, economic status,
cultural group, veteran status, marital status, and any other classification or status protected



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Standards of Conduct

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Standards of Conduct - 177

by law, or intentionally denying or impeding another in the exercise or enjoyment of any right,
privilege, power, or immunity, knowing the conduct is unlawful.

323.5.4   RELATIONSHIPS

(a) Unwelcome solicitation of a personal or sexual relationship while on--duty or through
the use of one’s official capacity.

(b) Engaging in on--duty sexual activity including, but not limited to, sexual intercourse,
excessive displays of public affection or other sexual contact.

(c) Establishing or maintaining an inappropriate personal or financial relationship, as a
result of an investigation, with a known victim, witness, suspect or defendant while a
case is being investigated or prosecuted, or as a direct result of any official contact.

(d) Associating with or joining a criminal gang, organized crime and/or criminal syndicate
when the member knows or reasonably should know of the criminal nature of the
organization. This includes any organization involved in a definable criminal activity or
enterprise, except as specifically directed and authorized by this agency.

(e) Associating on a personal, rather than official basis with persons who demonstrate
recurring involvement in serious violations of state or federal laws after the member
knows, or reasonably should know of such criminal activities, except as specifically
directed and authorized by this agency.

323.5.5   ATTENDANCE

(a) Leaving the job to which the member is assigned during duty hours without reasonable
excuse and proper permission and approval.

(b) Unexcused or unauthorized absence or tardiness.

(c) Excessive absenteeism or abuse of leave privileges.

(d) Failure to report to work or to the place of assignment at the time specified and fully
prepared to perform duties without reasonable excuse.

323.5.6   UNAUTHORIZED ACCESS, DISCLOSURE, OR USE

(a) Unauthorized and inappropriate intentional release of confidential or protected
information, materials, data, forms, or reports obtained as a result of the member’s
position with this agency.

(b) Disclosing to any unauthorized person any active investigation information.

(c) The use of any information, photograph, video, or other recording obtained or
accessed as a result of employment or appointment to this agency for personal or
financial gain or without the express authorization of the Police Chief or the authorized
designee.

(d) Loaning, selling, allowing unauthorized use, giving away, or appropriating any agency
property for personal use, personal gain, or any other improper or unauthorized use
or purpose.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Standards of Conduct

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Standards of Conduct - 178

(e) Using agency resources in association with any portion of an independent civil action.
These resources include but are not limited to personnel, vehicles, equipment, and
non-subpoenaed records.

323.5.7   EFFICIENCY

(a) Neglect of duty.

(b) Unsatisfactory work performance including but not limited to failure incompetence,
inefficiency, or delay in performing and/or carrying out proper orders, work
assignments, or the instructions of supervisors without a reasonable and bona fide
excuse.

(c) Concealing, attempting to conceal, removing, or destroying defective or incompetent
work.

(d) Unauthorized sleeping during on-duty time or assignments.

(e) Failure to notify the Agency within 24 hours of any change in residence address or
contact numbers.

(f) Failure to notify the Department of Human Resources of changes in relevant personal
information (e.g., information associated with benefits determination) in a timely
fashion.

323.5.8   PERFORMANCE

(a) Failure to disclose or misrepresenting material facts, or making any false or misleading
statement on any application, examination form, or other official document, report or
form, or during the course of any work--related investigation.

(b) The falsification of any work-related records, making misleading entries or statements
with the intent to deceive or the willful and unauthorized removal, alteration,
destruction and/or mutilation of any agency record, public record, book, paper or
document.

(c) Failure to participate in, or giving false or misleading statements, or misrepresenting or
omitting material information to a supervisor or other person in a position of authority, in
connection with any investigation or in the reporting of any agency--related business.

(d) Being untruthful or knowingly making false, misleading or malicious statements that
are reasonably calculated to harm the reputation, authority or official standing of this
agency or its members.

(e) Disparaging remarks or conduct concerning duly constituted authority to the extent
that such conduct disrupts the efficiency of this agency or subverts the good order,
efficiency and discipline of this agency or that would tend to discredit any of its
members.

(f) Unlawful gambling or unlawful betting at any time or any place. Legal gambling or
betting under any of the following conditions:

1. While on agency premises.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Standards of Conduct

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Standards of Conduct - 179

2. At any work site, while on--duty or while in uniform, or while using any agency
equipment or system.

3. Gambling activity undertaken as part of an officer’s official duties and with the
express knowledge and permission of a direct supervisor is exempt from this
prohibition.

(g) Improper political activity including:

1. Unauthorized attendance while on--duty at official legislative or political
sessions.

2. Solicitations, speeches or distribution of campaign literature for or against any
political candidate or position while on--duty or on agency property except as
expressly authorized by City policy, the collective bargaining agreement, or the
Police Chief.

(h) Engaging in political activities during assigned working hours except as expressly
authorized by City policy, the collective bargaining agreement, or the Police Chief.

(i) Any act on- or off--duty that brings discredit to this agency.

323.5.9   CONDUCT

(a) Failure of any member to promptly and fully report activities on his/her part or the
part of any other member where such activities resulted in contact with any other law
enforcement agency or that may result in criminal prosecution or discipline under this
policy.

(b) Unreasonable and unwarranted force to a person encountered or a person under
arrest.

(c) Exceeding lawful peace officer powers by unreasonable, unlawful or excessive
conduct.

(d) Unauthorized or unlawful fighting, threatening or attempting to inflict unlawful bodily
harm on another.

(e) Engaging in horseplay that reasonably could result in injury or property damage.

(f) Discourteous, disrespectful or discriminatory treatment of any member of the public
or any member of this agency or the City.

(g) Use of obscene, indecent, profane or derogatory language while on--duty or in uniform.

(h) Criminal, dishonest, or disgraceful conduct, whether on- or off-duty, that adversely
affects the member’s relationship with this agency.

(i) Unauthorized possession of, loss of, or damage to agency property or the property of
others, or endangering it through carelessness or maliciousness.

(j) Attempted or actual theft of agency property; misappropriation or misuse of public
funds, property, personnel or the services or property of others; unauthorized removal
or possession of agency property or the property of another person.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Standards of Conduct

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Standards of Conduct - 180

(k) Activity that is incompatible with a member’s conditions of employment or appointment
as established by law or that violates a provision of any collective bargaining
agreement or contract to include fraud in securing the appointment or hire.

(l) Initiating any civil action for recovery of any damages or injuries incurred in the course
and scope of employment or appointment without first notifying the Police Chief of
such action.

(m) Any other on-- or off--duty conduct which any member knows or reasonably should
know is unbecoming a member of this agency, is contrary to good order, efficiency or
morale, or tends to reflect unfavorably upon this agency or its members.

323.5.10   SAFETY

(a) Failure to observe or violating agency safety standards or safe working practices.

(b) Failure to maintain current licenses or certifications required for the assignment or
position (e.g., driver’s license, first aid).

(c) Failure to maintain good physical condition sufficient to adequately and safely perform
law enforcement duties.

(d) Unsafe firearm or other dangerous weapon handling to include loading or unloading
firearms in an unsafe manner, either on- or off-duty.

(e) Carrying, while on the premises of the work place, any firearm or other lethal weapon
that is not authorized by the member’s appointing authority.

(f) Unsafe or improper driving habits or actions in the course of employment or
appointment.

(g) Any personal action contributing to a preventable traffic collision.

(h) Concealing or knowingly failing to report any on-the-job or work-related accident or
injury as soon as practicable but in any event within 24 hours.

323.5.11   INTOXICANTS

(a) Reporting for work or being at work while intoxicated or when the member’s ability to
perform assigned duties is impaired due to the use of alcohol, medication or drugs,
whether legal, prescribed or illegal.

(b) Possession or use of alcohol at any work site or while on-duty, except as authorized
in the performance of an official assignment. A member who is authorized to consume
alcohol is not permitted to do so to such a degree that it may impair on-duty
performance.

(c) Unauthorized possession, use of, or attempting to bring a controlled substance, illegal
drug or non-prescribed medication to any work site.



Policy

401
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Bias-Based Policing - 272

Bias-Based Policing
401.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides guidance to agency members that affirms the City of Sherwood Police
Department 's commitment to policing that is fair and objective (ORS 131.920).

Nothing in this policy prohibits the use of specified characteristics in law enforcement activities
designed to strengthen the agency’s relationship with its diverse communities (e.g., cultural and
ethnicity awareness training, youth programs, community group outreach, partnerships).

See the Personnel Complaints Policy regarding acceptance of complaints alleging profiling and
investigation of such complaints.

401.1.1   DEFINITIONS
Definitions related to this policy include:

Bias-based policing - An inappropriate reliance on characteristics such as race,
ethnicity, national origin, language, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or
expression, economic status, homelessness, age, cultural group, disability, political affiliation or
affiliation with any non-criminal group (protected characteristics) as the basis for providing differing
law enforcement service or enforcement. This includes profiling as defined by ORS 131.915.

401.2   POLICY
The City of Sherwood Police Department is committed to providing law enforcement services to
the community with due regard for the racial, cultural or other differences of those served. It is
the policy of this agency to provide law enforcement services and to enforce the law equally,
fairly, objectively and without discrimination toward any individual or group.

401.3   BIAS-BASED POLICING PROHIBITED
Bias-based policing is strictly prohibited.

However, nothing in this policy is intended to prohibit an officer from considering protected
characteristics in combination with credible, timely and distinct information connecting a person or
people of a specific characteristic to a specific unlawful incident, or to specific unlawful incidents,
specific criminal patterns or specific schemes.

401.4   MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES
Every member of this agency shall perform his/her duties in a fair and objective manner and is
responsible for promptly reporting any suspected or known instances of bias-based policing to a
supervisor. Members should, when reasonable to do so, intervene to prevent any biased-based
actions by another member.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Bias-Based Policing

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Bias-Based Policing - 273

401.4.1   REASON FOR CONTACT
Officers contacting a person shall be prepared to articulate sufficient reason for the
contact, independent of the protected characteristics of the individual.

To the extent that written documentation would otherwise be completed (e.g., arrest report, Field
Interview (FI) card), the involved officer should include those facts giving rise to the contact, as
applicable.

Except for required data-collection forms or methods, nothing in this policy shall require any officer
to document a contact that would not otherwise require reporting.

401.4.2   REPORTING TRAFFIC AND PEDESTRIAN STOPS
Each time an officer makes an officer-initiated traffic or pedestrian stop, the officer shall record
the required stop data in the method and manner prescribed by the Oregon Criminal Justice
Commission (OCJC) (ORS 131.935).

401.5   SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES
Supervisors should monitor those individuals under their command for compliance with this policy
and shall handle any alleged or observed violations in accordance with the Personnel Complaints
Policy.

(a) Supervisors should discuss any issues with the involved officer and his/her supervisor
in a timely manner.

1. Supervisors should document these discussions, in the prescribed manner.

(b) Supervisors should periodically review Mobile Audio/Video (MAV) recordings, portable
audio/video recordings, Mobile Data Terminal (MDT) data and any other available
resource used to document contact between officers and the public to ensure
compliance with this policy.

1. Supervisors should document these periodic reviews.

2. Recordings that capture a potential instance of bias-based policing should be
appropriately retained for administrative investigation purposes.

(c) Supervisors shall initiate investigations of any actual or alleged violations of this policy.

(d) Supervisors should take prompt and reasonable steps to address any retaliatory action
taken against any member of this agency who discloses information concerning bias-
based policing.

401.6   STATE REPORTING

401.6.1   STATE REPORTING TO LAW ENFORCEMENT CONTACTS POLICY AND DATA
REVIEW COMMITTEE
The Records Section shall annually provide Law Enforcement Contacts Policy and Data Review
Committee (LECC) the following (ORS 131.925):



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Bias-Based Policing

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Bias-Based Policing - 274

(a) Copies of profiling complaints received by the Agency.

(b) A summary of each profiling complaint received by the Agency and the final disposition
of the profiling complaint on the appropriate Department of State Police (DSP) form.

1. This form is to be submitted even if no profiling complaints were received by
the Agency.

Summaries of complaints and copies of complaints provided to LECC may not include personal
information concerning the complainant or an officer except as to any personal information on the
DSP form (ORS 131.925).

The Records Section should provide LECC, upon request, data regarding stops or contacts as
identified in ORS 131.906(5). Data provided may not identify an officer or an individual whose
demographic data is collected (ORS 131.906).

401.6.2   STATE REPORTING TO OREGON CRIMINAL JUSTICE COMMISSION
The Records Section shall provide the OCJC with traffic and pedestrian stop data annually as
prescribed by ORS 131.935.

Data may not include information that reveals the identity of any stopped individual or of any officer
(ORS 131.935).

401.7   ADMINISTRATION
The Patrol Section Section Commander should review the efforts of the Agency to provide fair and
objective policing and submit an annual report, including public concerns and complaints, to the
Police Chief. The annual report should not contain any identifying information about any specific
complainant, citizen, or officers. It should be reviewed by the Police Chief to identify any changes
in training or operations that should be made to improve service.

Supervisors should review the annual report and discuss the results with those they are assigned
to supervise.

401.8   TRAINING
Training on fair and objective policing, including a review of this policy, shall be conducted annually
by the Support Captain or their designee.

401.8.1   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY STANDARDS AND TRAINING
The Support Captain should ensure that officers receive training implemented by the Department
of Public Safety Standards and Training regarding procedures to facilitate the collection of officer-
initiated traffic and pedestrian stop data (ORS 131.935).



Policy

413
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Immigration Violations - 310

Immigration Violations
413.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines to members of the City of Sherwood Police
Department relating to immigration and interacting with federal immigration officials.

413.2   POLICY
It is the policy of the City of Sherwood Police Department that all members make personal
and professional commitments to equal enforcement of the law and equal service to the public.
Confidence in this commitment will increase the effectiveness of this agency in protecting and
serving the entire community and recognizing the dignity of all persons, regardless of their national
origin or immigration status.

413.3   VICTIMS AND WITNESSES
To encourage crime reporting and cooperation in the investigation of criminal activity, all
individuals, regardless of their immigration status, must feel secure that contacting or being
addressed by members of law enforcement will not automatically lead to immigration inquiry and/
or deportation. While it may be necessary to determine the identity of a victim or witness, members
shall treat all individuals equally and not in any way that would violate the United States or Oregon
constitutions.

413.4   DETENTIONS
This agency does not participate in routine immigration investigation and enforcement activities
(ORS 181A.820).

An officer should not detain any individual, for any length of time, for a civil violation of federal
immigration laws or a related civil warrant.

An officer who has a reasonable suspicion that an individual already lawfully contacted or
detained has committed a criminal violation of federal immigration law may detain the person for
a reasonable period of time in order to contact federal immigration officials to verify whether an
immigration violation is a federal civil violation or a criminal violation. If the violation is a criminal
violation, the officer may continue to detain the person for a reasonable period of time if requested
by federal immigration officials (8 USC § 1357(g)(10)). No individual who is otherwise ready to
be released should continue to be detained only because questions about the individual’s status
are unresolved.

If the officer has facts that establish probable cause to believe that a person already lawfully
detained has committed a criminal immigration offense, he/she may continue the detention and
may request a federal immigration official to respond to the location to take custody of the detained
person (8 USC § 1357(g)(10)).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Immigration Violations

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Immigration Violations - 311

An officer is encouraged to forgo detentions made solely on the basis of a misdemeanor offense
when time limitations, availability of personnel, issues of officer safety, communication capabilities,
or the potential to obstruct a separate investigation outweigh the need for the detention.

An officer may arrest any person who is the subject of an arrest warrant issued by a federal
magistrate for a criminal violation of federal immigration laws (ORS 181A.820).

An officer should notify a supervisor as soon as practicable whenever an individual is being
detained or arrested for a criminal immigration violation.

413.4.1   SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES
When notified that an officer has detained an individual and established reasonable suspicion or
probable cause to believe the person has violated a criminal immigration offense, the supervisor
should determine whether it is appropriate to:

(a) Transfer the person to federal authorities.

(b) Lawfully arrest the person for a criminal offense or pursuant to a judicial warrant (see
the Law Enforcement Authority Policy).

413.4.2   IMMIGRATION INQUIRIES PROHIBITED
An officer shall not inquire into an individual’s immigration status, citizenship status, or country of
birth except where allowed by law (2021 Oregon Laws, H.B. 3265 § 2).

413.4.3   INDIVIDUAL RIGHT NOTIFICATION
To ensure compliance with all treaty obligations, including consular notification and state and
federal laws, an officer should ensure individuals who are detained receive an explanation in
writing, with interpretation into another language if requested, of the following (2021 Oregon Laws,
H.B. 3265 § 2):

(a) The individual’s right to refuse to disclose the individual’s nationality, citizenship, or
immigration status.

(b) That the disclosure of the individual's nationality, citizenship, or immigration status
may result in a civil or criminal immigration enforcement, including removal from the
United States.

413.5   ARREST NOTIFICATION TO IMMIGRATION AND CUSTOMS ENFORCEMENT
Generally, an officer should not notify federal immigration officials when booking arrestees at a
jail facility. Any required notification will be handled according to jail operation procedures. No
individual who is otherwise ready to be released should continue to be detained solely for the
purpose of notification.

413.6   FEDERAL REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE
Requests by federal immigration officials for assistance from this agency should be directed
to a supervisor. The Agency may provide available support services (unrelated to immigration
enforcement), such as peacekeeping efforts (2021 Oregon Laws, H.B. 3265 § 3).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Immigration Violations

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Immigration Violations - 312

413.6.1   FEDERAL IMMIGRATION ENFORCEMENT REQUESTS AND DOCUMENTATION
Any requests from federal immigration officials for assistance relating to immigration enforcement
(other than a judicial subpoena) shall be declined and the communication or request shall
be documented. The documentation shall be forwarded to the Police Chief or the authorized
designee. The Police Chief or the authorized designee should ensure the documentation is
forwarded to the Oregon Criminal Justice Commission (OCJC) as prescribed by the OCJC (2021
Oregon Laws, H.B. 3265 § 3).

413.7   INFORMATION SHARING
No member of this agency will prohibit, or in any way restrict, any other member from doing any of
the following regarding the citizenship or immigration status, lawful or unlawful, of any individual
(8 USC § 1373, 2021 Oregon Laws, H.B. 3265 § 2):

(a) Sending information to, or requesting or receiving such information from federal
immigration officials

(b) Maintaining such information in agency records

(c) Exchanging such information with any other federal, state, or local government entity

Nothing in this policy restricts sharing information that is permissible under Oregon State Law.

413.7.1   IMMIGRATION DETAINERS
No individual should be held based solely on a federal immigration detainer under 8 CFR 287.7
unless the person has been charged with a federal crime or the detainer is accompanied by a
warrant, affidavit of probable cause, or removal order. Notification to the federal authority issuing
the detainer should be made prior to the release.

413.7.2   NON-DISCLOSURE OF CERTAIN INFORMATION
Except as required by state or federal law, members should not disclose for the purpose of
enforcement of federal immigration laws the following information about a person or his/her known
relatives or associates, whether current or otherwise (ORS 180.805):

(a) The person’s address

(b) The person’s workplace or hours of work

(c) The person’s school or school hours

(d) The person’s contact information, including telephone number, email address, or
social media account information

(e) The identity of known associates or relatives of the person

(f) The date, time, or location of a person’s hearings, proceedings, or appointments with
the Agency that are not matters of public record

413.8   U VISA AND T VISA NONIMMIGRANT STATUS
Under certain circumstances, federal law allows temporary immigration benefits, known as a U
visa, to victims and witnesses of certain qualifying crimes (8 USC § 1101(a)(15)(U)).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Immigration Violations

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Immigration Violations - 313

Similar immigration protection, known as a T visa, is available for certain qualifying victims of
human trafficking (8 USC § 1101(a)(15)(T)).

Any request for assistance in applying for U visa or T visa status should be forwarded in a timely
manner to the Investigation Unit supervisor assigned to oversee the handling of any related case.
The Investigation Unit supervisor should:

(a) Consult with the assigned investigator to determine the current status of any related
case and whether further documentation is warranted.

(b) Contact the appropriate prosecutor assigned to the case, if applicable, to ensure the
certification or declaration has not already been completed and whether a certification
or declaration is warranted.

(c) Address the request and complete the certification or declaration, if appropriate, in a
timely manner (ORS 147.620).

1. The instructions for completing certification and declaration forms can be found
on the U.S. Department of Homeland Security (DHS) website.

(d) Ensure that any decision to complete, or not complete, a certification or declaration
form is documented in the case file and forwarded to the appropriate prosecutor.
Include a copy of any completed form in the case file.

413.8.1   DENIAL OF CERTIFICATION
If certification is denied, the Investigation Unit supervisor shall inform the petitioner in writing
regarding the reason for the denial as provided in ORS 147.620. A copy of the notice shall be kept
for a minimum of three years and in accordance with the established records retention schedule
(ORS 147.620).

413.8.2   TIME FRAME FOR COMPLETION
Except under circumstances where there is good cause for delay, the Investigation Unit supervisor
shall process the certification for the U visa or T visa within 90 days of the request, unless the victim
is in federal immigration removal proceedings, in which case the certification shall be executed
within 14 days after the request is received (ORS 147.620).

413.8.3   U VISA AND T VISA DOCUMENTATION
The Investigation Unit supervisor shall collect written documentation regarding the number of
certification forms that are (2019 Oregon Laws, c. 472, § 2):

(a) Requested by a victim.

(b) Granted.

(c) Denied, with the reason for denial.

The Investigation Unit supervisor or the authorized designee should ensure that the information
collected regarding certification forms is transmitted in a timely manner to the Records Section
for annual reporting to the OCJC.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Immigration Violations

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Immigration Violations - 314

413.9   TRAINING
The Support Captain should ensure officers receive training on this policy.

Training should include:

(a) Identifying civil versus criminal immigration violations.

(b) Factors that may be considered in determining whether a criminal immigration offense
has been committed.



Policy

422
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Medical Marijuana - 342

Medical Marijuana
422.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The purpose of this policy is to provide members of this agency with guidelines for investigating the
acquisition, possession, transportation, delivery, production, or use of marijuana under Oregon’s
medical marijuana laws (ORS 475B.785 et seq.).

This policy is not intended to address laws and regulations related to recreational use of marijuana.

422.1.1   DEFINITIONS
Definitions related to this policy include:

Cardholder - Any patient or caregiver who has been issued a valid Registry Identification Card
(RIC).

Caregiver (or designated primary caregiver) - An individual 18 years of age or older who has
significant responsibility for managing the well-being of a person who has been diagnosed with
a debilitating medical condition and who is designated as the person responsible for managing
the well-being of a person who has been diagnosed with a debilitating medical condition on either
that person’s application for a RIC or in other written notification submitted to the Oregon Health
Authority. Caregiver does not include a person’s attending physician; however, it may include
an organization or facility that provides hospice, palliative, or home health care services. The
caregiver may assist the cardholder with any matter related to the medical use of marijuana (ORS
475B.791; ORS 475B.807; ORS 475B.801).

Grower - A person, joint venture, or cooperative that produces industrial hemp (ORS 571.269).

Handler - A person, joint venture, or cooperative that receives industrial hemp for processing into
commodities, products, or agricultural hemp seed and any other activities identified by the Oregon
Department of Agriculture (ODA) by rule (ORS 571.269).

Mature marijuana plant - A marijuana plant that has flowers (ORS 475B.791).

Medical use of marijuana - The production, processing, possession, delivery, distribution, or
administration of marijuana, or use of paraphernalia used to administer marijuana to mitigate the
symptoms or effects of a debilitating medical condition (ORS 475B.791). The RIC may also identify
a person applying to produce marijuana or designate another person to produce marijuana under
ORS 475B.810.

Patient - A person who has been diagnosed with a debilitating medical condition within the
previous 12 months and been advised by his/her attending physician that the medical use of
marijuana may mitigate the symptoms or effects of that debilitating medical condition (ORS
475B.913). This includes a person who has been issued a valid RIC for his/her medical condition
(ORS 475B.797).

Registry Identification Card (RIC) - A document issued by the Oregon Health Authority under
ORS 475B.797 that identifies a person authorized to engage in the medical use of marijuana and,



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Medical Marijuana

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Medical Marijuana - 343

if the person has a designated primary caregiver under ORS 475B.804, the person’s designated
primary caregiver (ORS 475B.791). The RIC may also identify a person applying to produce
marijuana or designate another person to produce marijuana under ORS 475B.810.

Statutory possession and grow site amounts - Amounts authorized by ORS 475B.831 and
ORS 475B.834.

Usable marijuana - The dried leaves and flowers of marijuana. Usable marijuana does not include
the seeds, stalks, and roots of marijuana or waste material that is a by-product of producing
marijuana (ORS 475B.791).

422.2   POLICY
It is the policy of the City of Sherwood Police Department to prioritize resources to avoid making
arrests related to marijuana that the arresting officer reasonably believes would not be prosecuted
by state or federal authorities.

Oregon medical marijuana laws are intended to protect patients and their doctors from criminal
and civil penalties that may deter the use of small amounts of marijuana by those suffering from
debilitating medical conditions (ORS 475B.785). However, Oregon’s medical marijuana laws do
not affect federal laws, and there is no medical exception under federal law for the possession
or distribution of marijuana. The City of Sherwood Police Department will exercise discretion to
ensure laws are appropriately enforced without unreasonably burdening both those individuals
protected under Oregon law and the resources of the Agency.

422.3   INVESTIGATION
Investigations involving the possession, delivery, production, or use of marijuana generally fall
into one of several categories:

(a) Investigations when no person makes a medicinal claim.

(b) Investigations related to patient cardholders.

(c) Investigations related to patient non-cardholders.

422.3.1   INVESTIGATIONS WITH NO MEDICINAL CLAIM
In any investigation involving the possession, delivery, production or use of marijuana or drug
paraphernalia where no person claims that the marijuana is used for medicinal purposes, the
officer should proceed with a criminal investigation. A medicinal defense may be raised at any time,
so officers should document any statements and observations that may be relevant to whether
the marijuana was possessed or produced for medicinal purposes.

422.3.2   INVESTIGATIONS RELATED TO PATIENT CARDHOLDERS
Officers shall not take enforcement action against a cardholder for engaging in the medical use of
marijuana with amounts at or below statutory possession amounts or statutory grow site amounts.
Officers shall not take enforcement action against a caregiver for assisting a patient cardholder in



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Medical Marijuana

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Medical Marijuana - 344

the medical use of marijuana with amounts at or below statutory possession amounts or statutory
grow site amounts (ORS 475B.907).

Cardholders are required to possess a RIC when using or transporting marijuana, usable
marijuana, medical cannabinoid products, cannabinoid concentrates, or cannabinoid extracts at
a location other than the address on file with the Oregon Health Authority (ORS 475B.837).
However, officers should treat a person without a RIC in his/her possession as if it were in his/
her possession if the RIC can be verified through an Oregon State Police Law Enforcement Data
Systems (LEDS) query or other sources.

422.3.3   INVESTIGATIONS RELATED TO PATIENT NON-CARDHOLDERS
Officers should not take enforcement action against a patient who does not have a RIC for
possession or production of marijuana, or any other criminal offense in which possession or
production of marijuana is an element, if the patient meets all of the following (ORS 475B.913):

(a) Is engaged in the medical use of marijuana

(b) Possesses, delivers, or manufactures a quantity at or below statutory possession
quantity or the quantity cultivated is at or below statutory grow site amounts

Officers should not take enforcement action against a person who does not meet the definition
of a patient if the person is taking steps to obtain a RIC; possesses, delivers, or manufactures
marijuana at or below statutory possession quantities or below statutory grow site quantities; and
the person’s medical use claim appears genuine under the circumstances (ORS 475B.913).

422.3.4   ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS
Officers should consider the following when investigating an incident involving marijuana
possession, delivery, production, or use:

(a) Grow sites are regulated in the following manner (ORS 475B.810):

1. The Oregon Health Authority must have issued a marijuana grow site registration
card for a site to be valid.

2. The grow site registration card must be posted for each RIC holder for whom
marijuana is being produced at a marijuana grow site.

(b) An officer who determines that the number of marijuana plants at an address exceeds
quantities authorized by statute may confiscate only the excess number of plants (ORS
475B.831).

(c) Because enforcement of medical marijuana laws can be complex and time consuming
and call for resources unavailable at the time of initial investigation, officers may
consider submitting a report to the prosecutor for review, in lieu of making an arrest.
This can be particularly appropriate when:

1. The suspect has been identified and can be easily located at another time.

2. The case would benefit from review by a person with expertise in medical
marijuana investigations.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Medical Marijuana

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Medical Marijuana - 345

3. Sufficient evidence, such as photographs or samples, has been lawfully
obtained.

4. Any other relevant factors exist, such as limited available agency resources and
time constraints.

(d) Before proceeding with enforcement related to grow sites, a marijuana producer, or
processing sites officers should consider conferring with appropriate legal counsel,
the Oregon Health Authority, and/or Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission (ORS
475B.831; ORS 475B.136).

(e) Registration or proof of registration under ORS 475B.785 to ORS 475B.949 does
not constitute probable cause to search the person or property of the registrant
or otherwise subject the person or property of the registrant to inspection (ORS
475B.922).

(f) As a licensing authority, the Oregon Liquor and Cannabis Commission may assist with
related questions regarding recreational marijuana (ORS 475B.070).

422.3.5   EXCEPTIONS
Medical marijuana users are generally not exempt from other criminal laws and officers should
enforce criminal laws not specifically covered by the Medical Marijuana Act appropriately. Officers
may take enforcement action if the person (ORS 475B.910):

(a) Drives under the influence of marijuana as provided in ORS 813.010.

(b) Engages in the medical use of marijuana in a place where the general public has
access (ORS 161.015), in public view, or in a correctional facility (ORS 162.135(2)),
or in a youth correction facility (ORS 162.135(6)).

(c) Delivers marijuana to any individual who the person knows is not in possession of a
RIC.

(d) Delivers marijuana to any individual or entity that the person knows has not been
designated to receive marijuana or assigned a possessory interest in marijuana by an
individual in possession of a RIC.

If an officer knows or has reasonable grounds to suspect a violation of the Adult and Medical Use
of Cannabis Act (ORS 475B.010 to ORS 475B.545), the officer shall immediately notify the district
attorney who has jurisdiction over the violation and provide any relevant information, including the
names and addresses of any witnesses (ORS 475B.429).

422.3.6   INDUSTRIAL HEMP
Medicinal marijuana investigations may lead to separate issues related to industrial hemp.
Growers and handlers who operate under the industrial hemp laws of Oregon must be licensed
with the ODA to grow or handle industrial hemp or produce agricultural hemp seed. Growers and
handlers who produce seed products incapable of germination are not required to be licensed
with the ODA (ORS 571.281). Officers may contact the ODA's Commodity Inspection Division for
information about industrial hemp sites and registration compliance.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Medical Marijuana

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Medical Marijuana - 346

422.4   FEDERAL LAW ENFORCEMENT
Officers should provide information regarding a marijuana investigation to federal law enforcement
authorities when it is requested by federal law enforcement authorities or whenever the officer
believes those authorities would have a particular interest in the information.

422.5   PROPERTY AND EVIDENCE SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES
The Property and Evidence supervisor shall ensure that marijuana, drug paraphernalia, or other
related property seized from a person engaged or assisting in the use of medical marijuana is not
destroyed, harmed, neglected, or injured. The Property and Evidence supervisor is not responsible
for caring for live marijuana plants (ORS 475B.922).

Marijuana should not be returned to any person unless authorized by the Investigation Unit
supervisor and upon advice of city counsel. Any court order to return marijuana should be referred
to city counsel.

The Property and Evidence supervisor may release marijuana to federal law enforcement
authorities upon presentation of a valid court order or by a written order of the Investigation Unit
supervisor.



Policy

425
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Homeless Persons - 355

Homeless Persons
425.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The purpose of this policy is to ensure that agency members understand the needs and rights of
the homeless, and to establish procedures to guide them during all contacts with the homeless,
whether consensual or for enforcement purposes.

425.2   FIELD CONTACTS
Officers are encouraged to contact a homeless person to render aid, offer assistance, or to check
the person's welfare. Officers also will take enforcement action when information supports a
reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity. However, such contacts shall not be used
for harassment.

When encountering a homeless person who has committed a non-violent misdemeanor and
continued freedom is not likely to result in a continuation of the offense or a breach of the peace,
officers are encouraged to consider long-term solutions, such as shelter referrals and counseling,
in lieu of physical arrest.

Officers should provide homeless persons with resource and assistance information whenever it
is reasonably apparent such services may be appropriate.

425.2.1   CONSIDERATIONS
A homeless person will receive the same level and quality of service provided to other members
of the community. The fact that a victim, witness, or suspect is homeless can, however,
require special considerations for a successful investigation and prosecution. When handling
investigations involving victims, witnesses, or suspects who are homeless, officers should
consider:

(a) Documenting alternate contact information. This may include obtaining addresses and
telephone numbers of relatives and friends.

(b) Documenting locations the person may frequent.

(c) Providing victim/witness resources, when appropriate.

(d) Obtaining sufficient statements from all available witnesses in the event that a victim
cannot be located and is unavailable for a court appearance.

(e) Whether the person may be an adult abuse victim and, if so, proceed in accordance
with the Adult Abuse Policy.

(f) Arranging for transportation for investigation-related matters, such as medical exams
and court appearances.

(g) Whether a crime should be reported and submitted for prosecution, even when a victim
who is homeless indicates no desire for prosecution.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Homeless Persons

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Homeless Persons - 356

425.3   PERSONAL PROPERTY
The personal property of homeless persons must not be treated differently than the property
of other members of the public. Officers should use reasonable care when handling, collecting,
and retaining the personal property of homeless persons and should not destroy or discard the
personal property of a homeless person.

When a homeless person is arrested, or otherwise removed from a public place, officers should
make reasonable accommodations to permit the person to lawfully secure any personal property.
Otherwise, the arrestee’s personal property should be collected for safekeeping. If the arrestee
has more personal property than can reasonably be collected and transported by the officer, a
supervisor should be consulted. The property should be photographed, and measures should be
taken to remove or secure the property. It will be the supervisor’s responsibility to coordinate the
removal and safekeeping.

Officers should not conduct or assist in clean-up operations of belongings that reasonably appear
to be the property of homeless persons without the prior authorization of a supervisor or the agency
Homeless Liaison Officer.

Officers who encounter unattended encampments, bedding, or other personal property in public
areas that reasonably appears to belong to a homeless person should not remove or destroy such
property and should inform a supervisor if such property appears to involve a trespass, is a blight
to the community, or is the subject of a complaint.

425.3.1   STATE LAW ON UNCLAIMED PERSONAL PROPERTY
When a homeless individual is removed pursuant to a city policy, any unclaimed personal property
stored by this agency shall be stored in an orderly fashion, keeping items that belong to an
individual together to the extent that ownership can reasonably be determined. Items that have
no apparent utility or are in an unsanitary condition may be immediately discarded upon removal
of the homeless individual from the camp site (ORS 203.079).

Weapons, controlled substances, and items that appear to be either stolen or evidence of a crime
shall be stored pursuant to agency protocols and the Property and Evidence Policy.

425.4   MENTAL HEALTH ISSUES
When mental health issues are evident, officers should consider referring the person to the
appropriate mental health agency or providing the person with contact information for mental
health assistance, as appropriate. In these circumstances, officers may provide transportation to
a mental health facility for voluntary evaluation if it is requested or offered and accepted by the
person, and approved by a supervisor. Officers should consider detaining the person under civil
commitment when facts and circumstances reasonably indicate such a detention is warranted
(see the Civil Commitments Policy).

425.5   ECOLOGICAL ISSUES
Sometimes homeless encampments can have an impact on the ecology and natural resources of
the community and may involve criminal offenses beyond mere littering. Officers are encouraged



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Homeless Persons

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Homeless Persons - 357

to notify other appropriate agencies or City departments when a significant impact to the
environment has or is likely to occur. A significant impact to the environment may warrant a crime
report, investigation, supporting photographs, and supervisor notification.

425.6   POLICY
It is the policy of the City of Sherwood Police Department to protect the rights, dignity, and private
property of all members of the community, including people who are homeless. Abuse of authority
to harass any member of the community will not be permitted. The City of Sherwood Police
Department will address the needs of homeless persons in balance with the overall mission of
this agency.

Homelessness is not a crime and members will not use homelessness as the sole basis for
detention or law enforcement action.

425.7   HOMELESS CAMPS ON PUBLIC PROPERTY
Prior to removing homeless individuals from an established campsite on public property, officers
shall (ORS 203.079):

(a) Post the area with required written notice of pending removal at all entrances
reasonably identifiable. Notice should be in English and Spanish and include all
required information under ORS 203.079 (e.g., location of unclaimed property,
required contact information for questions regarding location of property storage).

1. Notice shall be posted at least 72 hours prior to removal except in certain
circumstances (e.g., camping at cemeteries).

(b) Once notice is posted, notify the local agency that delivers social services to homeless
individuals as to where the notice has been posted.

The 72-hour warning notice requirement is not necessary if officers reasonably believe that illegal
activity unrelated to the camping is occurring at an established camping site or in the event of an
exceptional emergency such as a possible site contamination by hazardous materials, a public
health emergency, or other immediate danger to human life or safety (ORS 203.079).



Policy

429
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** First Amendment Assemblies - 366

First Amendment Assemblies
429.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides guidance for responding to public assemblies or demonstrations.

429.2   POLICY
The City of Sherwood Police Department respects the rights of people to peaceably assemble. It
is the policy of this agency not to unreasonably interfere with, harass, intimidate or discriminate
against persons engaged in the lawful exercise of their rights, while also preserving the peace,
protecting life and preventing the destruction of property.

429.3   GENERAL CONSIDERATIONS
Individuals or groups present on the public way, such as public facilities, streets or walkways,
generally have the right to assemble, rally, demonstrate, protest or otherwise express their views
and opinions through varying forms of communication, including the distribution of printed matter.
These rights may be limited by laws or ordinances regulating such matters as the obstruction
of individual or vehicle access or egress, trespass, noise, picketing, distribution of handbills and
leafleting, and loitering. However, officers shall not take action or fail to take action based on the
opinions being expressed.

Participant behavior during a demonstration or other public assembly can vary. This may include,
but is not limited to:

• Lawful, constitutionally protected actions and speech.

• Civil disobedience (typically involving minor criminal acts).

• Rioting.

All of these behaviors may be present during the same event. Therefore, it is imperative that law
enforcement actions are measured and appropriate for the behaviors officers may encounter. This
is particularly critical if force is being used. Adaptable strategies and tactics are essential.

The purpose of a law enforcement presence at the scene of public assemblies and demonstrations
should be to preserve the peace, to protect life and prevent the destruction of property.

Officers should not:

(a) Engage in assembly or demonstration-related discussion with participants.

(b) Harass, confront or intimidate participants.

(c) Seize the cameras, cell phones or materials of participants or observers unless an
officer is placing a person under lawful arrest.

Supervisors should continually observe agency members under their commands to ensure that
members’ interaction with participants and their response to crowd dynamics is appropriate.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

First Amendment Assemblies

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** First Amendment Assemblies - 367

429.3.1   PHOTOGRAPHS AND VIDEO RECORDINGS
Photographs and video recording, when appropriate, can serve a number of purposes, including
support of criminal prosecutions by documenting criminal acts; assistance in evaluating agency
 performance; serving as training material; recording the use of dispersal orders; and facilitating
a response to allegations of improper law enforcement conduct.

Photographs and videos will not be used or retained for the sole purpose of collecting or
maintaining information about the political, religious or social views of associations, or the activities
of any individual, group, association, organization, corporation, business or partnership, unless
such information directly relates to an investigation of criminal activities and there is reasonable
suspicion that the subject of the information is involved in criminal conduct.

429.4   UNPLANNED EVENTS
When responding to an unplanned or spontaneous public gathering, the first responding officer
should conduct an assessment of conditions, including, but not limited to, the following:

• Location

• Number of participants

• Apparent purpose of the event

• Leadership (whether it is apparent and/or whether it is effective)

• Any initial indicators of unlawful or disruptive activity

• Indicators that lawful use of public facilities, streets or walkways will be impacted

• Ability and/or need to continue monitoring the incident

Initial assessment information should be promptly communicated to Dispatch, and the assignment
of a supervisor should be requested. Additional resources should be requested as appropriate.
The responding supervisor shall assume command of the incident until command is expressly
assumed by another, and the assumption of command is communicated to the involved members.
A clearly defined command structure that is consistent with the Incident Command System (ICS)
should be established as resources are deployed.

429.5   PLANNED EVENT PREPARATION
For planned events, comprehensive, incident-specific operational plans should be developed. The
ICS should be considered for such events.

429.5.1   INFORMATION GATHERING AND ASSESSMENT
In order to properly assess the potential impact of a public assembly or demonstration on public
safety and order, relevant information should be collected and vetted. This may include:

• Information obtained from outreach to group organizers or leaders.

• Information about past and potential unlawful conduct associated with the event or
similar events.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

First Amendment Assemblies

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** First Amendment Assemblies - 368

• The potential time, duration, scope, and type of planned activities.

• Any other information related to the goal of providing a balanced response to criminal
activity and the protection of public safety interests.

Information should be obtained in a transparent manner, and the sources documented. Relevant
information should be communicated to the appropriate parties in a timely manner.

Information will be obtained in a lawful manner and will not be based solely on the purpose or
content of the assembly or demonstration, or actual or perceived characteristics such as race,
ethnicity, national origin, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, economic
status, age, cultural group, or disability of the participants (or any other characteristic that is
unrelated to criminal conduct or the identification of a criminal subject).

429.5.2   OPERATIONAL PLANS
An operational planning team with responsibility for event planning and management should be
established. The planning team should develop an operational plan for the event.

The operational plan will minimally provide for:

(a) Command assignments, chain of command structure, roles, and responsibilities.

(b) Staffing and resource allocation.

(c) Management of criminal investigations

(d) Designation of uniform of the day and related safety equipment (e.g., helmets, shields).

1. The plan shall include officer identifiers affixed to the uniform and helmet that
comply with 2021 Oregon Laws, c. 306 § 2.

(a) An officer shall not intentionally obscure any part of a uniform or helmet
identifier.

(e) Deployment of specialized resources.

(f) Event communications and interoperability in a multijurisdictional event.

(g) Liaison with demonstration leaders and external agencies.

(h) Liaison with City government and legal staff.

(i) Media relations.

(j) Logistics: food, fuel, replacement equipment, duty hours, relief, and transportation.

(k) Traffic management plans.

(l) First aid and emergency medical service provider availability.

(m) Prisoner transport and detention.

(n) Review of policies regarding public assemblies and use of force in crowd control.

(o) Parameters for declaring an unlawful assembly.

(p) Arrest protocol, including management of mass arrests.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

First Amendment Assemblies

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** First Amendment Assemblies - 369

(q) Protocol for recording information flow and decisions.

(r) Rules of engagement, including rules of conduct, protocols for field force extraction
and arrests, and any authorization required for the use of force.

(s) Protocol for handling complaints during the event.

(t) Parameters for the use of body-worn cameras and other portable recording devices.

429.5.3   MUTUAL AID AND EXTERNAL RESOURCES
The magnitude and anticipated duration of an event may necessitate interagency cooperation and
coordination. The assigned Incident Commander should ensure that any required memorandums
of understanding or other agreements are properly executed, and that any anticipated mutual aid
is requested and facilitated (see the Outside Agency Assistance Policy).

429.6   UNLAWFUL ASSEMBLY DISPERSAL ORDERS
If a public gathering or demonstration remains peaceful and nonviolent, and there is no reasonably
imminent threat to persons or property, the Incident Commander should generally authorize
continued monitoring of the event.

Should the Incident Commander make a determination that public safety is presently or is about
to be jeopardized, he/she or the authorized designee should attempt to verbally persuade event
organizers or participants to disperse of their own accord. Warnings and advisements may be
communicated through established communications links with leaders and/or participants or to
the group.

When initial attempts at verbal persuasion are unsuccessful, the Incident Commander or the
authorized designee should make a clear standardized announcement to the gathering that
the event is an unlawful assembly, and should order the dispersal of the participants. The
announcement should be communicated by whatever methods are reasonably available to ensure
that the content of the message is clear and that it has been heard by the participants. The
announcement should be amplified, made in different languages as appropriate, made from
multiple locations in the affected area and documented by audio and video. The announcement
should provide information about what law enforcement actions will take place if illegal behavior
continues and should identify routes for egress. A reasonable time to disperse should be allowed
following a dispersal order.

429.7   USE OF FORCE
Use of force is governed by current agency policy and applicable law (see the Use of Force,
Handcuffing and Restraints, Control Devices and Techniques, and Conducted Energy Device
policies).

Individuals refusing to comply with lawful orders (e.g., nonviolent refusal to disperse) should be
given a clear verbal warning and a reasonable opportunity to comply. If an individual refuses to
comply with lawful orders, the Incident Commander shall evaluate the type of resistance and adopt
a reasonable response in order to accomplish the law enforcement mission (such as dispersal



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

First Amendment Assemblies

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** First Amendment Assemblies - 370

or arrest of those acting in violation of the law). Control devices and TASER devices should be
considered only when the participants’ conduct reasonably appears to present the potential to
harm officers, themselves or others, or will result in substantial property loss or damage (see the
Control Devices and Techniques and the Conducted Energy Device policies).

Force or control devices, including oleoresin capsicum (OC), should be directed toward individuals
and not toward groups or crowds, unless specific individuals cannot reasonably be targeted due
to extreme circumstances, such as a riotous crowd.

Any use of force by a member of this agency shall be documented promptly, completely and
accurately in an appropriate report. The type of report required may depend on the nature of the
incident.

429.8   ARRESTS
The City of Sherwood Police Department should respond to unlawful behavior in a manner
that is consistent with the operational plan. If practicable, warnings or advisements should be
communicated prior to arrest.

Mass arrests should be employed only when alternate tactics and strategies have been or
reasonably appear likely to be unsuccessful. Mass arrests shall only be undertaken upon the order
of the Incident Commander or the authorized designee. There must be probable cause for each
arrest.

If employed, mass arrest protocols should fully integrate:

(a) Reasonable measures to address the safety of officers and arrestees.

(b) Dedicated arrest, booking and report writing teams.

(c) Timely access to medical care.

(d) Timely access to legal resources.

(e) Timely processing of arrestees.

(f) Full accountability for arrestees and evidence.

(g) Coordination and cooperation with the prosecuting authority, jail and courts (see the
Citation Releases Policy).

429.9   MEDIA RELATIONS
The Public Information Officer should use all available avenues of communication, including
press releases, briefings, press conferences and social media to maintain open channels of
communication with media representatives and the public about the status and progress of the
event, taking all opportunities to reassure the public about the professional management of the
event (see the Media Relations Policy).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

First Amendment Assemblies

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** First Amendment Assemblies - 371

429.10   DEMOBILIZATION
When appropriate, the Incident Commander or the authorized designee should implement a
phased and orderly withdrawal of law enforcement resources. All relieved personnel should
promptly complete any required reports, including use of force reports, and account for all issued
equipment and vehicles to their supervisors prior to returning to normal operational duties.

429.11   POST EVENT
The Incident Commander should designate a member to assemble full documentation of the event,
to include the following:

(a) Operational plan

(b) Any incident logs

(c) Any assignment logs

(d) Vehicle, fuel, equipment and supply records

(e) Incident, arrest, use of force, injury and property damage reports

(f) Photographs, audio/video recordings, Dispatch records/tapes

(g) Media accounts (print and broadcast media)

429.11.1   AFTER-ACTION REPORTING
The Incident Commander should work with City legal counsel, as appropriate, to prepare a
comprehensive after-action report of the event, explaining all incidents where force was used
including the following:

(a) Date, time and description of the event

(b) Actions taken and outcomes (e.g., injuries, property damage, arrests)

(c) Problems identified

(d) Significant events

(e) Recommendations for improvement; opportunities for training should be documented
in a generic manner, without identifying individuals or specific incidents, facts or
circumstances.

429.12   TRAINING
Agency members should receive periodic training regarding this policy, as well as the dynamics
of crowd control and incident management. The Agency should, when practicable, train with its
external and mutual aid partners.

429.13   PUBLIC REQUEST OF OFFICER IDENTIFICATION
Officers shall provide their name, identification number, or unique identifier assigned by the
Agency to a person when requested if it is practical, safe, and tactically sound to do so at the time
of request (2021 Oregon Laws, c. 306 § 3).

The request may be satisfied by providing a agency-issued business card.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

First Amendment Assemblies

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** First Amendment Assemblies - 372

429.13.1   INVESTIGATION OF OFFICER IDENTIFICATION
Upon request by a member of the public, the Agency shall conduct an investigation to identify an
officer as follows (2021 Oregon Laws, c. 306 § 3):

The member of the public has provided the following:

• The member of the public has provided the following:
o A partial name
o A full or partial badge number, or other identifying number
o A photo of the officer
o A full or partial license plate, or other identifying number from a police vehicle
o A physical description
o The location, date, and time when the officer was present

Within seven days of receiving the request, the agency shall confirm to the requester receipt of
the request.

• Within 14 days after receiving the request, the agency shall provide the requester:
o The name and the number assigned to the officer by the Department of Public

Safety Standards and Training; or
o An explanation of why the identification could not be performed.

• If the requester provided a full badge number, the agency shall provide the name of
the officer within 14 days after receiving the request.

Identification shall not be provided if the officer is participating in an undercover law enforcement
operation (2021 Oregon Laws, c. 306 § 3).



Policy

504
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Impaired Driving - 406

Impaired Driving
504.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides guidance to those agency members who play a role in the detection and
investigation of driving under the influence (DUI).

504.2   POLICY
The City of Sherwood Police Department is committed to the safety of the roadways and the
community and will pursue fair but aggressive enforcement of Oregon’s impaired driving laws.

504.3   INVESTIGATIONS
Officers should not enforce DUI laws to the exclusion of their other duties unless specifically
assigned to DUI enforcement. All officers are expected to enforce these laws with due diligence.

The Patrol Captain will develop and maintain, in consultation with the prosecuting attorney,
appropriate report forms to assist investigating officers in documenting relevant information and
maximizing efficiency. Any DUI investigation will be documented using these forms. Information
documented elsewhere on the form does not need to be duplicated in the report narrative.
Information that should be documented includes, at a minimum:

(a) The field sobriety tests (FSTs) administered and the results.

(b) The officer’s observations that indicate impairment on the part of the individual,
and the officer’s health-related inquiries that may help to identify any serious health
concerns (e.g., diabetic shock).

(c) Sources of additional information (e.g., reporting party, witnesses) and their
observations.

(d) Information about any audio and/or video recording of the individual’s driving or
subsequent actions.

(e) The location and time frame of the individual’s vehicle operation and how this was
determined.

(f) Any prior related convictions in Oregon or another jurisdiction.

504.4   FIELD TESTS
The Patrol Captain should insure that only approved standardized FSTs and any approved
alternate tests are used by officers when investigating violations of DUI laws.

504.5   CHEMICAL TESTS
A person implies consent under Oregon law to a chemical test or tests, and to providing the
associated chemical sample, under any of the following (ORS 813.100):

(a) The arresting officer has reasonable grounds to believe that the person was DUI.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Impaired Driving

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Impaired Driving - 407

(b) The person is arrested for DUI and takes a breath test that discloses a blood alcohol
content of less than 0.08 percent (ORS 813.131).

(c) The person is arrested for DUI and was involved in an accident resulting in injury or
property damage (ORS 813.131).

(d) The person is receiving medical care at a health care facility immediately after a motor
vehicle accident and the arresting officer has reasonable grounds to believe that the
person was DUI.

If a person withdraws this implied consent, or is unable to withdraw consent (e.g., the person is
unconscious), the officer should consider implied consent revoked and proceed as though the
person has refused to provide a chemical sample.

504.5.1   BREATH SAMPLES
The Patrol Captain should ensure that all devices used for the collection and analysis of breath
samples are properly serviced and tested, and that a record of such service and testing is properly
maintained.

Officers obtaining a breath sample should monitor the device for any sign of malfunction. Any
anomalies or equipment failures should be noted in the appropriate report and promptly reported
to the Patrol Captain.

504.5.2   BLOOD SAMPLES
Only persons authorized by law to draw blood shall collect blood samples (ORS 813.160). The
blood draw should be witnessed by the assigned officer. No officer, even if properly certified,
should perform this task.

Officers should inform an arrestee that if he/she chooses to provide a blood sample, a separate
sample can be collected for alternate testing. Unless medical personnel object, two samples
should be collected and retained as evidence, so long as only one puncture is required.

The blood sample shall be packaged, marked, handled, stored and transported as required by
the testing facility.

If an arrestee cannot submit to a blood test because he/she has a bleeding disorder or has taken
medication that inhibits coagulation, he/she shall not be required to take a blood test. Such inability
to take a blood test should not be considered a refusal. However, that arrestee may be required
to complete another available and viable test.

504.5.3   URINE SAMPLES
If a urine test will be performed, the arrestee should be promptly transported to the appropriate
testing site. The officer shall follow any directions accompanying the urine evidence collection kit.

The sample shall be packaged, marked, handled, stored and transported as required by the testing
facility.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Impaired Driving

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Impaired Driving - 408

504.5.4   STATUTORY NOTIFICATIONS
Prior to administering any tests, the person shall be informed of the rights and consequences for
DUI and refusals of testing (ORS 813.100; ORS 813.130; ORS 813.135).

504.5.5   ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR URINE SAMPLES
An officer may not request that a person submit to a urine test unless the officer is certified by the
Department of Public Safety Standards and Training as having completed the required training
in the recognition of drug impaired driving. The officer must also have a reasonable suspicion
to believe that the person arrested has been driving under the influence of cannabis, psilocybin,
a controlled substance, an inhalant, or any combination of cannabis, psilocybin, an inhalant, a
controlled substance, and intoxicating liquor (ORS 813.131).

The person providing the urine sample shall be given privacy and may not be observed by the
officer when providing the sample (ORS 813.131).

504.5.6   ADDITIONAL TESTING
An officer requesting that a person submit to a chemical test shall also provide the person, upon
request, with a reasonable opportunity to have a qualified medical professional of their choosing
administer an additional chemical test. The test may be of the person’s breath or blood if alcohol
concentration is an issue or of the person’s blood or urine if the presence of cannabis, psilocybin,
a controlled substance, or an inhalant in the person’s body is an issue (ORS 813.150).

504.6   REFUSALS
When an arrestee refuses to provide a chemical sample, officers should:

(a) Advise the arrestee of the requirement to provide a sample (ORS 813.100; ORS
813.130; ORS 813.131; ORS 813.135).

(b) Audio- and/or video-record the admonishment and the response when it is legal and
practicable.

(c) Document the refusal in the appropriate report.

504.6.1   STATUTORY NOTIFICATIONS UPON REFUSAL
Upon refusal to submit to a chemical test as required by law, officers shall personally serve the
written notice of intent to suspend upon the person and take possession of any state-issued license
to operate a motor vehicle that is held by that person (ORS 813.100).

504.6.2   BLOOD SAMPLE WITHOUT CONSENT
A blood sample may be obtained from a person who refuses a chemical test when any of the
following conditions exist:

(a) A search warrant has been obtained (ORS 813.100).

(b) The officer can articulate that exigent circumstances exist. Exigency does not exist
solely because of the short time period associated with the natural dissipation of
alcohol or controlled or prohibited substances in the person’s bloodstream. Exigency



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Impaired Driving

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Impaired Driving - 409

can be established by the existence of special facts, such as a lengthy time delay in
obtaining a blood sample due to an accident investigation or medical treatment of the
person.

504.6.3   FORCED BLOOD SAMPLE
If an arrestee indicates by word or action that he/she will physically resist a blood draw, the officer
should request a supervisor to respond.

The responding supervisor should:

(a) Evaluate whether using force to obtain a blood sample is appropriate under the
circumstances.

(b) Ensure that all attempts to obtain a blood sample through force cease if the person
agrees to, and completes, a viable form of testing in a timely manner.

(c) Advise the person of his/her duty to provide a sample (even if this advisement was
previously done by another officer) and attempt to persuade the individual to submit
to such a sample without physical resistance.

1. This dialogue should be recorded on audio and/or video when legal and
practicable.

(d) Ensure that the blood sample is taken in a medically approved manner.

(e) Ensure the forced blood draw is recorded on audio and/or video when practicable.

(f) Monitor and ensure that the type and level of force applied appears reasonable under
the circumstances:

1. Unless otherwise provided in a warrant, force should generally be limited to
handcuffing or similar restraint methods.

2. In misdemeanor cases, if the arrestee becomes violent or more resistant, no
additional force will be used and a refusal should be noted in the report.

3. In felony cases, force that reasonably appears necessary to overcome the
resistance to the blood draw may be permitted.

(g) Ensure the use of force and methods used to accomplish the collection of the blood
sample are documented in the related report.

If a supervisor is unavailable, officers are expected to use sound judgment and perform as a
responding supervisor, as set forth above.

504.7   ARREST AND INVESTIGATION

504.7.1   OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES
If a person refuses to submit to a chemical test or if a test discloses that the person had a prohibited
alcohol concentration in his/her blood, the investigating officer shall cause the following items to be



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Impaired Driving

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Impaired Driving - 410

forwarded to the Driver and Motor Vehicle Services Division of the Department of Transportation
(DMV) within 10 days of the arrest (ORS 813.100; OAR 735-090-0040):

• The completed Implied Consent Form

• Any confiscated license or permit belonging to the person

• A copy of the written report that complies with ORS 813.120

An officer confiscating a person’s license pursuant to state DUI laws shall provide the person with
a temporary driving permit unless (ORS 813.100; ORS 813.110):

• The driving privileges of the person were suspended, revoked or canceled at the time
the person was arrested.

• The person whose license was confiscated was operating on an invalid license.

• The person was not entitled to driving privileges at the time of the arrest for any other
reason.

• The person holds a license or permit granting driving privileges that was issued by
another state or jurisdiction and that is not confiscated.

504.7.2   OFFENSE FOR REFUSAL
If a person refuses to submit to a breath or urine test, the arresting officer may charge the person
with a separate offense (ORS 813.095).

504.8   RECORDS SECTION RESPONSIBILITIES
The Support Captain will ensure that all case-related records are transmitted according to current
records procedures and as required by the prosecuting attorney’s office.

504.9   ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS
The Support Captain will ensure that all appropriate reports and documents related to
administrative license suspensions are reviewed and forwarded to the DMV.

Any officer who receives notice of required attendance to an administrative license suspension
hearing should promptly notify the prosecuting attorney.

An officer called to testify at an administrative hearing should document the hearing date and the
DMV file number in a supplemental report. Specific details of the hearing generally should not be
included in the report unless errors, additional evidence or witnesses are identified.

504.10   TRAINING
The Support Captain should ensure that officers participating in the enforcement of DUI laws
receive regular training. Training should include, at minimum, current laws on impaired driving,
investigative techniques and rules of evidence pertaining to DUI investigations. The Support
Captain should confer with the prosecuting attorney’s office and update training topics as needed.



Policy

600
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Investigation and Prosecution - 417

Investigation and Prosecution
600.1   POLICY
It is the policy of the City of Sherwood Police Department to investigate crimes thoroughly and with
due diligence, and to evaluate and prepare criminal cases for appropriate clearance or submission
to a prosecutor.

600.2   INITIAL INVESTIGATION

600.2.1   OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES
An officer responsible for an initial investigation shall complete no less than the following:

(a) Make a preliminary determination of whether a crime has been committed by
completing, at a minimum:

1. An initial statement from any witnesses or complainants.

2. A cursory examination for evidence.

(b) If information indicates a crime has occurred, the officer shall:

1. Preserve the scene and any evidence as required to complete the initial and
follow-up investigation.

2. Determine if additional investigative resources (e.g., investigators or scene
processing) are necessary and request assistance as required.

3. If assistance is warranted, or if the incident is not routine, notify a supervisor or
the Shift Supervisor.

4. Make reasonable attempts to locate, identify and interview all available victims,
complainants, witnesses and suspects.

5. Collect any evidence.

6. Take any appropriate law enforcement action.

7. Complete and submit the appropriate reports and documentation.

(c) If the preliminary determination is that no crime occurred, determine what other action
may be necessary, what other resources may be available, and advise the informant
or complainant of this information.

600.2.2   NON-SWORN MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES
A non-sworn member assigned to any preliminary investigation is responsible for all investigative
steps, except making any attempt to locate, contact or interview a suspect face-to-face or take
any enforcement action. Should an initial investigation indicate that those steps are required, the
assistance of an officer shall be requested.

600.2.3   INTERVIEWS OF CHILD WITNESSES
The Support Section Section Commander or the authorized designee is responsible for the
development of child witness interview procedures that include parental notification and account



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Investigation and Prosecution

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Investigation and Prosecution - 418

for child safety. For purposes of this subsection, a child witness is an unmarried person who is
under the age of 18 and who is not the victim of, suspect in, or related to the suspect in a child
welfare, criminal, or delinquency investigation (2021 Oregon Laws, c.335).

600.3   COLLECTION OR MAINTENANCE OF SPECIFIC INFORMATION
The collection or maintenance of information about the political, religious or social views,
associations or activities of any individual, group, association, organization, corporation, business
or partnership shall occur only when the information directly relates to a criminal investigation and
there are reasonable grounds to suspect the subject of the information is or may be involved in
criminal conduct (ORS 181A.250).

600.4   CUSTODIAL INTERROGATION REQUIREMENTS
Suspects who are in custody and subjected to an interrogation shall be given the Miranda warning,
unless an exception applies. Interview or interrogation of a juvenile shall be in accordance with
the Temporary Custody of Juveniles Policy.

600.4.1   AUDIO/VIDEO RECORDINGS
Generally, except where circumstances make it impracticable, custodial interviews regarding
felony offenses should be electronically recorded. When such custodial interviews are conducted
in a law enforcement facility, electronic recording of the interview is mandatory absent good cause
not to record if the interview is conducted in connection with an investigation into aggravated
murder, as defined in ORS 163.095, or a crime listed in ORS 137.700 or ORS 137.707 (ORS
133.400).

A custodial interview of a person 17 years of age or under involving an investigation into a
misdemeanor or a felony or an allegation that the juvenile being interviewed committed an act
that would be a misdemeanor or a felony if committed by an adult shall be recorded, absent good
cause not to record the interview, if (ORS 133.402):

(a) The interview is conducted at a courthouse or at any law enforcement agency
authorized to detain juvenile offenders; or

(b) The interview is conducted anywhere else and the officer is wearing a body-worn
camera.

If an interviewee expresses an unwillingness to have the custodial interview electronically
recorded but agrees to speak to investigators without such recording, the interviewing officer or
detective should document the refusal in his/her report and request that the interviewee sign a
written statement or provide a recorded statement of his/her refusal to have the interview recorded.

Consideration should also be given to recording a custodial interrogation, or any investigative
interview, for any other offense when it is reasonable to believe it would be appropriate and
beneficial to the investigation and is otherwise allowed by law (ORS 165.540).

No recording of a custodial interrogation should be destroyed or altered without written
authorization from the prosecuting attorney and the Investigation Unit supervisor. Copies of



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Investigation and Prosecution

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Investigation and Prosecution - 419

recorded interrogations or interviews may be made in the same or a different format as the
original recording, provided the copies are true, accurate, and complete and are made only for
authorized and legitimate law enforcement purposes. Electronic recording of a custodial interview
shall be preserved until the conclusion of the criminal proceeding or youth adjudication proceeding,
including post-conviction relief and habeas corpus appeals are exhausted, or until the prosecution
of the offense is barred by law (ORS 133.400).

Recordings should not take the place of a thorough report and investigative interviews. Written
statements from suspects should continue to be obtained when applicable.

600.5   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The purpose of this policy is to set guidelines and requirements pertaining to the handling and
disposition of criminal investigations.

600.6   DISCONTINUATION OF INVESTIGATIONS
The investigation of a criminal case or efforts to seek prosecution should only be discontinued if
one of the following applies:

(a) All reasonable investigative efforts have been exhausted, no reasonable belief that
the person who committed the crime can be identified, and the incident has been
documented appropriately.

(b) The perpetrator of a misdemeanor has been identified and a warning is the most
appropriate disposition.

1. In these cases, the investigator shall document that the person was warned and
why prosecution was not sought.

2. Warnings shall not be given for felony offenses or other offenses identified in this
policy or by law that require an arrest or submission of a case to a prosecutor.

(c) The case has been submitted to the appropriate prosecutor but no charges have been
filed. Further investigation is not reasonable nor has the prosecutor requested further
investigation.

(d) The case has been submitted to the appropriate prosecutor, charges have been filed,
and further investigation is not reasonable, warranted or requested, and there is no
need to take the suspect into custody.

(e) Suspects have been arrested, there are no other suspects, and further investigation
is either not warranted or requested.

(f) Investigation has proven that a crime was not committed (see the Sexual Assault
Investigations Policy for special considerations in these cases).

The Domestic Violence, Child Abuse, Sexual Assault Investigations and Adult Abuse policies may
also require an arrest or submittal of a case to a prosecutor.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Investigation and Prosecution

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Investigation and Prosecution - 420

600.7   COMPUTERS AND DIGITAL EVIDENCE
The collection, preservation, transportation and storage of computers, cell phones and other
digital devices may require specialized handling to preserve the value of the related evidence. If
it is anticipated that computers or similar equipment will be seized, officers should request that
computer forensic examiners assist with seizing computers and related evidence. If a forensic
examiner is unavailable, officers should take reasonable steps to prepare for such seizure and
use the resources that are available.

600.8   INVESTIGATIVE USE OF SOCIAL MEDIA AND INTERNET SOURCES
Use of social media and any other internet source to access information for the purpose of criminal
investigation shall comply with applicable laws and policies regarding privacy, civil rights and civil
liberties. Information gathered via the internet should only be accessed by members while on-duty
and for purposes related to the mission of this agency. If a member encounters information relevant
to a criminal investigation while off-duty or while using his/her own equipment, the member should
note the dates, times and locations of the information and report the discovery to his/her supervisor
as soon as practicable. The member, or others who have been assigned to do so, should attempt
to replicate the finding when on-duty and using agency equipment.

Information obtained via the internet should not be archived or stored in any manner other
than agency-established record keeping systems (see the Records Maintenance and Release
and Criminal Organizations policies).

600.8.1   ACCESS RESTRICTIONS
Information that can be accessed from any agency computer, without the need of an account,
password, email address, alias or other identifier (unrestricted websites), may be accessed and
used for legitimate investigative purposes without supervisory approval.

Accessing information from any internet source that requires the use or creation of an account,
password, email address, alias or other identifier, or the use of nongovernment IP addresses,
requires supervisor approval prior to access. The supervisor will review the justification for
accessing the information and consult with legal counsel as necessary to identify any policy or
legal restrictions. Any such access and the supervisor approval shall be documented in the related
investigative report.

Accessing information that requires the use of a third party’s account or online identifier requires
supervisor approval and the consent of the third party. The consent must be voluntary and shall
be documented in the related investigative report.

Information gathered from any internet source should be evaluated for its validity, authenticity,
accuracy and reliability. Corroborative evidence should be sought and documented in the related
investigative report.

Any information collected in furtherance of an investigation through an internet source should be
documented in the related report. Documentation should include the source of information and
the dates and times that the information was gathered.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Investigation and Prosecution

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/30, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Investigation and Prosecution - 421

600.8.2   INTERCEPTING ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATION
Intercepting social media communications in real time may be subject to federal and state wiretap
laws. Officers should seek legal counsel before any such interception.

600.9   MODIFICATION OF CHARGES FILED
Members are not authorized to recommend to the prosecutor or to any other official of the court
that charges on a pending case be amended or dismissed without the authorization of a Section
Commander or the Police Chief. Any authorized request to modify the charges or to recommend
dismissal of charges shall be made to the prosecutor.



Policy

800
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 487

Property and Evidence
800.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides for the proper collection, storage, and security of evidence and other property.
Additionally, this policy provides for the protection of the chain of evidence and those persons
authorized to remove and/or destroy property.

800.2   DEFINITIONS
Evidence - Includes items taken or recovered in the course of an investigation that may be used
in the prosecution of a case. This includes photographs and latent fingerprints.

Found Property - Includes property found by an employee or citizen that has no apparent
evidentiary value and where the owner cannot be readily identified or contacted.

Property - Includes all items of evidence, items taken for safekeeping, and found property.

Safekeeping - Includes the following types of property:

• Property obtained by the Agency for safekeeping, such as a firearm

• Personal property of an arrestee not taken as evidence

• Property taken for safekeeping under authority of a law

800.3   PROPERTY HANDLING
Any employee who first comes into possession of any property (except found bikes), shall retain
such property in his/her possession until it is properly tagged and placed in the designated property
locker or storage room along with the property form. Found bikes shall be left in the location of
discovery and not be placed into storage unless they are considered evidence to a crime. Any
person who finds a bike shall be advised of their rights as finder. Care shall be taken to maintain
the chain of custody for all evidence. When not specifically addressed by this manual, collection
and handling of all evidence and property should follow the guidelines established by the State
of Oregon Physical Evidence Manual.

Employees will provide a receipt for all items of property or evidence that are received or taken
from any person. If no person is present, and the property or evidence is removed from private
property or a vehicle, the employee will leave a receipt prominently placed on the private property
or the vehicle.

Where ownership can be established as to found property with no apparent evidentiary value,
such property may be released to the owner without the need for booking. The property form must
be completed to document the release of property not booked and the owner shall sign the form
acknowledging receipt of the item(s).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 488

800.3.1   PROPERTY BOOKING PROCEDURE
All property must be booked prior to the employee going off-duty unless otherwise approved by a
supervisor. Employees booking property shall observe the following guidelines:

(a) Complete the property form describing each item of property separately, listing all
serial numbers, owner’s name, finder's name, and other identifying information or
markings.

(b) Mark each item of evidence with the booking employee’s initials and the date booked
using the appropriate method so as not to deface or damage the value of the property.

(c) Complete an evidence/property tag and attach it to each package or envelope in which
the property is stored.

(d) Place the case number in the upper right-hand corner of the bag.

(e) The original property form shall be submitted with the case report. A copy shall be
placed with the property in the temporary property locker or with the property if property
is stored somewhere other than a property locker.

(f) When the property is too large to be placed in a locker, the item may be retained in the
supply room. Submit the completed property record into a numbered locker indicating
the location of the property.

800.3.2   NARCOTICS AND DANGEROUS DRUGS
All_narcotics and dangerous drugs (including paraphernalia as defined by ORS 475.525(2)) shall
be booked separately using a separate Property Record.

The officer seizing the narcotics and dangerous drugs shall place them in the designated locker
accompanied by two copies of the form for the Records Section and Detectives. The remaining
copy will be detached and submitted with the case report.

800.3.3   EXPLOSIVES/HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES
Officers who encounter a suspected explosive device shall promptly notify their immediate
supervisor or the Shift Supervisor. The bomb squad will be called to handle explosive-related
incidents and will be responsible for the handling, storage, sampling and disposal of all suspected
explosives. In the event of military ordnance, the closest military unit shall be notified and will be
responsible for removal of the device.

Explosives will not be retained in the police facility. Only fireworks that are considered stable and
safe and road flares or similar signaling devices may be booked into property. All such items shall
be stored in proper containers and in an area designated for the storage of flammable materials.
The Community Services Officer is responsible for transporting to the Fire Department, on a
regular basis, any fireworks or signaling devices that are not retained as evidence.

800.3.4   EXCEPTIONAL HANDLING
Certain property items require a separate process. The following items shall be processed in the
described manner:



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 489

(a) Bodily fluids such as blood or semen stains shall be air dried prior to booking and
packages should be labeled with a biohazard sticker.

(b)

(c) All bicycles and bicycle frames require a property record. Property tags will be securely
attached to each bicycle or bicycle frame. The property may be released directly to the
Community Services Officer or placed in the bicycle storage area until a Community
Services Officer can log the property.

(d) All cash shall be counted in the presence of a supervisor and the envelope initialed
by the booking officer and the supervisor. The Shift Supervisor shall be contacted for
cash in excess of $1,000 for special handling procedures.

City property, unless connected to a known criminal case, should be released directly to the
appropriate City department. No formal booking is required. In cases where no responsible person
can be located, the property should be booked for safekeeping in the normal manner.

800.3.5   COLLECTION AND PRESERVATION OF DNA EVIDENCE
Because DNA evidence can play a key role in establishing guilt or innocence, it is important that
such evidence be collected, handled, and preserved in a manner that will maintain its integrity
for future testing. Unless impracticable to do so, officers should collect samples of all biological
evidence that may reasonably be used to incriminate or exculpate any person as part of any
criminal death investigation or a sex crime listed in ORS 163A.005. The Community Services
Officer will be responsible to ensure that biological evidence is preserved in an amount and manner
that is sufficient to develop a DNA profile.

Collection and preservation should follow established protocols as outlined in the Oregon Physical
Evidence Manual.

800.3.6   COLLECTION AND PRESERVATION OF SAFE KITS
Under current law, victims of sexual assault may seek medical assessment and choose not to
make a report to law enforcement, yet still have evidence collected and preserved. The City of
Sherwood Police Department will collect and maintain the chain of evidence for all Oregon State
Police Sexual Assault Forensic Evidence Kits (SAFE Kits) and any associated evidence collected
by medical facilities in this jurisdiction for victims of sexual assault, regardless of where the assault
may have occurred. Victims who choose to remain anonymous and not make a report shall not
be required to do so (ORS 147.397).

The collection and preservation of SAFE Kits from anonymous victims shall be handled by the
Support Section Section, which shall assign a detective to ensure their proper collection and
preservation. When a medical facility notifies this agency that evidence of a sexual assault has
been collected and a SAFE Kit is available, the assigned detective shall be responsible for the
following:

(a) Respond promptly to the medical facility to retrieve the evidence.

(b) Provide a unique case number to a responsible representative of the medical facility,
which will be provided to the victim. The case number will be used to identify all



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 490

associated evidence so that a chain of evidence can be maintained in the event the
victim later decides to report the assault.

(c) Ensure that no identifying information regarding the victim, other than the case
number, is visible on the evidence packaging.

(d) Prepare and submit an evidence report and book the evidence in accordance with
current evidence procedures.

A SAFE Kit collected for a victim whose identity is not disclosed should be maintained in the same
manner as other SAFE Kits, but should not be opened until or unless the victim reports the assault.
Opening SAFE Kits may compromise the admissibility of evidence in the event of a prosecution.

800.3.7   STORAGE OF SURRENDERED WEAPONS
Officers shall accept and store any weapons and ammunition from an individual who has been
ordered by a court pursuant to an extreme risk protection order (ORS 166.527) or a protection
order or judgment of conviction subject to the provisions of ORS 166.255 to surrender weapons
and ammunition. The officer receiving the surrendered items shall prepare a property receipt and
provide the individual with a copy. The officer should promptly forward the original receipt to the
Support Captain for timely filing with the court (ORS 166.537).

800.4   PACKAGING OF PROPERTY
Certain items require special consideration and shall be booked separately as follows:

(a) Narcotics and dangerous drugs

(b) Firearms (ensure they are unloaded and booked separately from ammunition). A flex
cuff or similar device should be inserted through the chamber, barrel, or cylinder
whenever possible.

(c) Property with more than one known owner

(d) Paraphernalia as described in ORS 475.525(2)

(e) Fireworks and other hazardous materials

(f) Contraband

800.4.1   PACKAGING CONTAINER
Employees shall package all property in a suitable container available for its size. Knife boxes
should be used to package knives. All packages containing evidence must be sealed with evidence
tape, initialed, and dated across the seal.

Needles or syringes will normally be disposed of in a sharps container and will not be submitted
to the Property Room; however, when required for evidence in a serious crime or in a major
investigation, a syringe tube should be used for packaging.

A property tag shall be securely attached to the outside of all items or group of items packaged
together.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 491

800.4.2   PACKAGING NARCOTICS
The officer seizing narcotics and dangerous drugs shall retain such property in their possession
until it is properly weighed, packaged, tagged, and placed in the designated narcotics locker,
accompanied by two copies of the property record. Prior to packaging and if the quantity allows, a
presumptive test should be made on all suspected narcotics. If conducted, the results of this test
shall be included in the officer's report.

Narcotics and dangerous drugs shall be packaged in an envelope of appropriate size available in
the report room. The booking officer shall initial the sealed envelope and the initials covered with
cellophane tape. Narcotics and dangerous drugs shall not be packaged with other property.

A completed property tag shall be attached to the outside of the container. The chain of evidence
shall be recorded on the back of this tag.

800.5   RECORDING OF PROPERTY
The Community Services Officer receiving custody of evidence or property shall record his/her
signature, the date and time the property was received and where the property will be stored on
the property control card.

A property number shall be obtained for each item or group of items. This number shall be recorded
on the property tag and the property control card.

Any changes in the location of property held by the City of Sherwood Police Department shall be
noted in the property logbook.

800.6   PROPERTY ROOM SECURITY
Access to the Property Room shall be tightly controlled and limited to Community Services Officers
unless visitors are logged in and out, including the time, date and purpose of entry. All personnel
entering the Property Room must be accompanied at all times by a Community Services Officer.

800.6.1   RESPONSIBILITY OF OTHER PERSONNEL
Every time property is released or received, an appropriate entry on the evidence package shall
be completed to maintain the chain of possession. No evidence is to be released without first
receiving written authorization from the assigned investigator or his/her supervisor.

Request for analysis for items other than narcotics or drugs shall be completed on the appropriate
forms and submitted to the Community Services Officer. This request may be filled out any time
after the booking of property or evidence.

800.6.2   TRANSFER OF EVIDENCE TO CRIME LABORATORY
The transporting employee will check the evidence out of property, indicating the date and time
on the property control card and the request for laboratory analysis.

The Community Services Officer releasing the evidence must complete the required information
on the property control card and the evidence. The lab forms will be transported with the property



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 492

to the examining laboratory. Upon delivering the item involved, the officer will record the delivery
time on both copies, and indicate the locker in which the item was placed or the employee to whom
it was delivered. The original copy of the lab form will remain with the evidence and the copy will
be returned to the Records Section for filing with the case.

800.6.3   STATUS OF PROPERTY
Each person receiving property will make the appropriate entry to document the chain of evidence.
Temporary release of property to officers for investigative purposes, or for court, shall be noted
on the property control card, stating the date, time and to whom released.

The Community Services Officer shall obtain the signature of the person to whom property is
released, and the reason for release. Any employee receiving property shall be responsible for
such property until it is properly returned to property or properly released to another authorized
person or entity.

The return of the property should be recorded on the property control card, indicating date, time,
and the person who returned the property.

800.6.4   RELEASE OF PROPERTY
Property_may be released to a verified owner at the discretion of the Community Services Officer
without further authorization. A Community Services Officer shall release the property upon proper
identification being presented by the owner for which an authorized release has been received.
A signature of the person receiving the property shall be recorded on the original property form.
After release of all property entered on the property control card, the card shall be forwarded to
the Records Section for filing with the case. If some items of property have not been released,
the property card will remain with the property division. Upon release, the proper entry shall be
documented in the Property Log.

All reasonable attempts shall be made to identify the rightful owner of found property or evidence
not needed for an investigation. Property not claimed within 30 days after notification of owner of
its availability for release will be auctioned, destroyed, or disposed of in accordance with these
procedures and existing law.

Unless the owner is known, found property and property held for safekeeping will be held for at
least 90 days.

800.6.5   RELEASE OF EVIDENCE
Evidence may only be released with the authorization of the DA’s office and the officer or detective
assigned to the case.

Once a case has been adjudicated or passed the statute of limitations for prosecution, a
Community Services Officer will request a disposition authorization from the DA’s office and the
assigned officer or detective. Care should be taken to ensure there are no outstanding warrants
for suspects or additional defendants for the same case prior to authorizing release.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 493

Release of evidence shall be made upon receipt of an authorized release form, listing the name
and address of the person to whom the property is to be released. The release authorization shall
be signed by the assigned officer or detective and must conform to the items listed on the property
form or must specify the specific item(s) to be released. Once evidence has been authorized for
release and is no longer needed for any pending criminal cases, it shall be considered property
and released or disposed of in accordance with those procedures.

800.6.6   DISPUTED CLAIMS TO PROPERTY
Occasionally more than one party may claim an interest in property being held by the City of
Sherwood Police Department, and the legal rights of the parties cannot be clearly established.
Such property shall not be released until one party has obtained a valid court order or other
undisputed right to the involved property.

All parties should be advised that their claims are civil and in extreme situations, legal counsel for
the City of Sherwood Police Department may wish to file an interpleader to resolve the disputed
claim (ORCP 31).

800.6.7   CONTROL OF NARCOTICS AND DANGEROUS DRUGS
The Investigation Unit will be responsible for the storage, control, and destruction of all narcotics
and dangerous drugs coming into the custody of this agency.

800.6.8   RELEASE OF DEADLY WEAPONS IN EXTREME RISK PROTECTION ORDER
MATTERS
If an extreme risk protection order is terminated or expires without renewal, a deadly weapon or
concealed handgun license that was surrendered pursuant to the order shall be returned to the
person after (ORS 166.540):

(a) Confirming through a background check, if the deadly weapon is a firearm, that the
person is legally eligible to own or possess the firearm under federal and state law; and

(b) Confirming that the extreme risk protection order is no longer in effect.

If a third party claims lawful ownership or rightful possession to a deadly weapon that was
surrendered pursuant to an extreme risk protection order, the Agency may return the weapon to
the third party if the third party provides proof of ownership and affirms by sworn affidavit that
(ORS 166.537(5)):

• He/she may lawfully possess the deadly weapon.

• He/she did not consent to the prior possession of the deadly weapon by the person
subject to the extreme risk protection order.

• He/she will prevent the person subject to the order from accessing or possessing the
deadly weapon in the future.

A deadly weapon that remains unclaimed shall be disposed of in accordance with Agency policies
and procedures for disposal of deadly weapons (ORS 166.540).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 494

800.6.9   RELEASE OF FIREARMS IN DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PROTECTION ORDER
MATTERS
If a protection order subject to the provisions of ORS 166.255 is terminated or expires without
renewal, any firearms or ammunition surrendered pursuant to the order shall be returned upon
the request of the respondent after the following actions are taken (ORS 166.257):

(a) Notify the Department of Justice of the request.

(b) Confirm that the protection order is no longer in effect.

(c) Confirm through a background check that the respondent is legally eligible to own or
possess firearms and ammunition under federal and state law.

Return of the surrendered items will take place no earlier than 72 hours after the request was
received (ORS 166.257).

Firearms and ammunition that remain unclaimed shall be disposed of in accordance with agency
policies and procedures for disposal of deadly weapons (ORS 166.540).

800.7   DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY
All property not held for evidence in a pending criminal investigation or proceeding, and held for 90
days or longer (60 days or more, plus 30 days after notice), where the owner has not been located
or fails to claim the property, may be disposed of in compliance with existing laws upon receipt of
proper authorization for disposal. The Community Services Officer shall request a disposition or
status on all property that has been held in excess of 120 days, and for which no disposition has
been received from a supervisor or detective. ORS 98.245 and ORS 98.336 govern the disposition
of property held by law enforcement agencies.

800.7.1   DEFINITIONS
As set out in ORS 98.245, the following definition applies to the disposition of property by law
enforcement agencies:

Unclaimed Property - Personal property that was seized by the City of Sherwood Police
Department as evidence, abandoned property, found property or stolen property, and that has
remained in the physical possession of the City of Sherwood Police Department for a period of
more than 60 days following conclusion of all criminal actions related to the seizure of the evidence,
abandoned property, found property or stolen property, or conclusion of the investigation if no
criminal action is filed.

800.7.2   DISPOSITION
Unclaimed property will be disposed of in accordance with the provisions of ORS 98.245. Disposal
may consist of:

(a) Destruction

(b) Sale at public auction

(c) Retention for public use



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 495

800.7.3   RETENTION OF BIOLOGICAL EVIDENCE
The Property and Evidence supervisor shall ensure that no biological evidence held by the Agency
is destroyed without adequate notification to the following persons, when applicable:

(a) The defendant

(b) The defendant’s attorney

(c) The appropriate prosecutor

(d) Any sexual assault victim

(e) The Support Section Section supervisor

Biological evidence shall be retained for a minimum period established by law (ORS 133.707),
the Property and Evidence supervisor or the expiration of any sentence imposed related to the
evidence, whichever time period is greater. Following the retention period, notifications should
be made by certified mail and should inform the recipient that the evidence will be destroyed
after a date specified in the notice unless a motion seeking an order to retain the sample is
filed and served on the Agency within 90 days of the date of the notification. A record of all
certified mail receipts shall be retained in the appropriate file. Any objection to, or motion regarding,
the destruction of the biological evidence should be retained in the appropriate file and a copy
forwarded to the Support Section Section supervisor.

Biological evidence related to a homicide shall be retained indefinitely and may only be destroyed
with the written approval of the Police Chief and the head of the applicable prosecutor’s office.

Biological evidence from an unsolved sexual assault should not be disposed of prior to expiration
of the statute of limitations. Even after expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the Support
Section Section Commander should be consulted and the sexual assault victim should be notified.

The Property and Evidence supervisor should incorporate OAR 137-140-0030 et seq. as
applicable to the preservation and documentation of biological evidence. Sexual assault kits,
including anonymous kits, shall be retained by the Agency no less than 60 years after the collection
of the evidence (ORS 181A.325).

800.8   INSPECTIONS OF THE EVIDENCE ROOM

(a) On at least an annual basis, the supervisor of the evidence custodian shall make
an inspection of the evidence storage facilities and practices to ensure adherence to
appropriate policies and procedures.

(b) Unannounced inspections of evidence storage areas shall be conducted as directed
by the Police Chief.

(c) An annual audit of a random choice of evidence held by the Agency shall be conducted
by a Section Commander appointed by the Police Chief who is not routinely or
directly connected with evidence control and not in the evidence custodian's chain of
command.

(d) Whenever a change is made in personnel who have access to the evidence room, or
there is reason to believe any evidence/property has been tampered with, an inventory



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Property and Evidence

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Property and Evidence - 496

of all evidence/property shall be made by an individual(s) not associated with the
property room or function to ensure that records are correct and all evidence property
is accounted for.



Policy

806
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Protected Information - 516

Protected Information
806.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The purpose of this policy is to provide guidelines for the access, transmission, release and
security of protected information by members of the City of Sherwood Police Department. This
policy addresses the protected information that is used in the day-to-day operation of the Agency
and not the public records information covered in the Records Maintenance and Release Policy.

806.1.1   DEFINITIONS
Definitions related to this policy include:

Protected information - Any information or data that is collected, stored or accessed by members
of the City of Sherwood Police Department and is subject to any access or release restrictions
imposed by law, regulation, order or use agreement. This includes all information contained in
federal, state or local law enforcement databases that is not accessible to the public.

806.2   POLICY
Members of the City of Sherwood Police Department will adhere to all applicable laws, orders,
regulations, use agreements and training related to the access, use, dissemination and release
of protected information.

806.3   RESPONSIBILITIES
The Police Chief shall select a member of the Agency to coordinate the use of protected
information.

The responsibilities of this position include but are not limited to:

(a) Ensuring member compliance with this policy and with requirements applicable to
protected information, including requirements for the National Crime Information
Center (NCIC) system, National Law Enforcement Telecommunications System
(NLETS), Department of Motor Vehicle (DMV) records, and Law Enforcement Data
System (LEDS).

(b) Developing, disseminating, and maintaining procedures that adopt or comply with
the U.S. Department of Justice’s current Criminal Justice Information Services (CJIS)
Security Policy.

(c) Developing, disseminating, and maintaining any other procedures necessary to
comply with any other requirements for the access, use, dissemination, release, and
security of protected information.

(d) Developing procedures to ensure training and certification requirements are met.

(e) Resolving specific questions that arise regarding authorized recipients of protected
information.

(f) Ensuring security practices and procedures are in place to comply with requirements
applicable to protected information.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Protected Information

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Protected Information - 517

806.4   ACCESS TO PROTECTED INFORMATION
Protected information shall not be accessed in violation of any law, order, regulation, user
agreement, City of Sherwood Police Department policy or training. Only those members who
have completed applicable training and met any applicable requirements, such as a background
check, may access protected information, and only when the member has a legitimate work-
related reason for such access.

Unauthorized access, including access for other than a legitimate work-related purpose, is
prohibited and may subject a member to administrative action pursuant to the Personnel
Complaints Policy and/or criminal prosecution.

806.4.1   ACCESS TO OREGON STATE POLICE OFFENDER INFORMATION
Access to Oregon State Police (OSP) criminal offender information may be granted when the
information is to be used for the administration of criminal justice, employment, or the information is
required to implement a federal or state statute, local ordinance, Executive Order, or administrative
rule that expressly refers to criminal conduct and contains requirements or exclusions expressly
based on such conduct, or other demonstrated and legitimate needs (OAR 257-010-0025).

806.5   RELEASE OR DISSEMINATION OF PROTECTED INFORMATION
Protected information may be released only to authorized recipients who have both a right to know
and a need to know.

A member who is asked to release protected information that should not be released should refer
the requesting person to a supervisor or to the Support Captain for information regarding a formal
request.

Unless otherwise ordered or when an investigation would be jeopardized, protected information
maintained by the Agency may generally be shared with authorized persons from other law
enforcement agencies who are assisting in the investigation or conducting a related investigation.
Any such information should be released through the Records Section to ensure proper
documentation of the release (see the Records Maintenance and Release Policy).

Protected information, such as Criminal Justice Information (CJI), which includes Criminal History
Record Information (CHRI), should generally not be transmitted by radio, cellular telephone or any
other type of wireless transmission to members in the field or in vehicles through any computer or
electronic device, except in cases where there is an immediate need for the information to further
an investigation or where circumstances reasonably indicate that the immediate safety of officers,
other agency members or the public is at risk. In those instances, cell phones should be used if
possible. The transmission should be limited to essential details only, with maximized use of law
enforcement codes (10 or 12 code), concealing information identifying individuals and offenses
as much as possible. Plain text transmission of an entire record (summary or full) is prohibited.

Nothing in this policy is intended to prohibit broadcasting warrant information.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Protected Information

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Protected Information - 518

806.5.1   REVIEW OF CRIMINAL OFFENDER RECORD
Individuals requesting to review their own Oregon criminal offender information shall be referred
to OSP, Identification Services Section (OAR 257-010-0035).

An individual may review his/her local record on file with the Agency under the provisions of ORS
192.345(3), and after complying with all legal requirements.

This agency will not release information originated by any other agency (ORS 192.311 et seq).
Individuals requesting this information shall be referred to the originating agency.

806.6   SECURITY OF PROTECTED INFORMATION
The Police Chief will select a member of the Agency to oversee the security of protected
information.

The responsibilities of this position include but are not limited to:

(a) Developing and maintaining security practices, procedures, and training.

(b) Ensuring federal and state compliance with the CJIS Security Policy and the
requirements of any state or local criminal history records systems.

(c) Establishing procedures to provide for the preparation, prevention, detection, analysis,
and containment of security incidents including computer attacks.

(d) Tracking, documenting, and reporting all breach of security incidents to the Police
Chief and appropriate authorities.

806.6.1   MEMBER RESPONSIBILITIES
Members accessing or receiving protected information shall ensure the information is not
accessed or received by persons who are not authorized to access or receive it. This includes
leaving protected information, such as documents or computer databases, accessible to others
when it is reasonably foreseeable that unauthorized access may occur (e.g., on an unattended
table or desk; in or on an unattended vehicle; in an unlocked desk drawer or file cabinet; on an
unattended computer terminal).

806.7   TRAINING
All members authorized to access or release protected information shall complete a training
program that complies with any protected information system requirements and identifies
authorized access and use of protected information, as well as its proper handling and
dissemination.

806.7.1   LEDS TRAINING
All members who operate a terminal to access the LEDS network shall complete a LEDS System
Training Guide at a level consistent with the member’s duties. Each member who operates a
terminal to access LEDS must be re-certified by the Agency every two years (OAR 257-015-0050).



Policy

900
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 532

Temporary Custody of Adults
900.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides guidelines to address the health and safety of adults taken into temporary
custody by members of the City of Sherwood Police Department for processing prior to being
released or transferred to a housing or other type of facility.

Temporary custody of juveniles is addressed in the Temporary Custody of Juveniles Policy.
Juveniles will not be permitted where adults in custody are being held.

Custodial searches are addressed in the Custodial Searches Policy.

900.1.1   DEFINITIONS
Definitions related to this policy include:

Holding cell/cell - Any locked enclosure for the custody of an adult or any other enclosure
that prevents the occupants from being directly visually monitored at all times by a member of
the Agency.

Safety checks - Direct, visual observation by a member of this agency performed at random
intervals, within time frames prescribed in this policy, to provide for the health and welfare of adults
in temporary custody.

Temporary custody - The time period an adult is in custody at the City of Sherwood Police
Department prior to being released or transported to a housing or other type of facility.

900.2   POLICY
The City of Sherwood Police Department is committed to releasing adults from temporary custody
as soon as reasonably practicable, and to keeping adults safe while in temporary custody at
the Agency. Adults should be in temporary custody only for as long as reasonably necessary for
investigation, processing, transfer or release.

900.3   GENERAL CRITERIA AND SUPERVISION
No adult should be in temporary custody for longer than four hours (ORS 169.005).

900.3.1   INDIVIDUALS WHO SHOULD NOT BE IN TEMPORARY CUSTODY
Individuals who exhibit certain behaviors or conditions should not be in temporary custody at
the City of Sherwood Police Department, but should be transported to a jail facility, a medical
facility or other type of facility as appropriate. These include:

(a) Any individual who is unconscious or has been unconscious while being taken into
custody or while being transported (ORS 169.105).

(b) Any individual who has a medical condition, including pregnancy, or who may require
medical attention, supervision or medication while in temporary custody.

(c) Any individual who is seriously injured.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 533

(d) Individuals who are a suspected suicide risk (see the Civil Commitments Policy).

1. If the officer taking custody of an individual believes that he/she may be a suicide
risk, the officer shall ensure continuous direct supervision until evaluation,
release or a transfer to an appropriate facility is completed.

(e) Individuals who are obviously in crisis, as defined in the Crisis Intervention Incidents
Policy.

(f) Individuals who are under the influence of alcohol, a controlled substance or any
substance to the degree that may require medical attention, or who have ingested
any substance that poses a significant risk to their health, whether or not they appear
intoxicated (ORS 430.399).

(g) Any individual who has exhibited extremely violent or continuously violent behavior.

(h) Any individual who has claimed, is known to be afflicted with, or displays symptoms
of any communicable disease that poses an unreasonable exposure risk.

(i) Any individual with a prosthetic or orthopedic device where removal of the device
would be injurious to his/her health or safety.

900.3.2   SUPERVISION IN TEMPORARY CUSTODY
An authorized agency member capable of supervising shall be present at all times when an
individual is held in temporary custody. The member responsible for supervising should not
have other duties that could unreasonably conflict with his/her supervision (ORS 169.078). Any
individual in custody must be able to summon the supervising member if needed. If the person
in custody is deaf or hard of hearing or cannot speak, accommodations shall be made to provide
this ability.

At least one female agency member should be present when a female adult is in temporary
custody. In the event that none is readily available, the female in custody should be transported
to another facility or released pursuant to another lawful process.

Absent exigent circumstances, such as a medical emergency or a violent subject, members should
not enter the cell of a person of the opposite sex unless a member of the same sex as the person
in custody is present.

No individual in custody shall be permitted to supervise, control or exert any authority over other
individuals in custody.

900.3.3   ENTRY RESTRICTIONS
Entry into any location where a person is held in custody should be restricted to:

(a) Authorized members entering for official business purposes.

(b) Emergency medical personnel when necessary.

(c) Any other person authorized by the Shift Supervisor.

When practicable, more than one authorized member should be present for entry into a location
where a person is held in custody for security purposes and to witness interactions.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 534

900.4   INITIATING TEMPORARY CUSTODY
The officer responsible for an individual in temporary custody should evaluate the person for
any apparent chronic illness, disability, vermin infestation, possible communicable disease or any
other potential risk to the health or safety of the individual or others. The officer should specifically
ask if the individual is contemplating suicide and evaluate him/her for obvious signs or indications
of suicidal intent.

The receiving officer should ask the arresting officer if there is any statement, indication or
evidence surrounding the individual's arrest and transportation that would reasonably indicate the
individual is at risk for suicide or critical medical care. If there is any suspicion that the individual
may be suicidal, he/she shall be transported to the City jail or the appropriate mental health facility.

The officer should promptly notify the Shift Supervisor of any conditions that may warrant
immediate medical attention or other appropriate action. The Shift Supervisor shall determine
whether the individual will be placed in a cell, immediately released or transported to jail or other
facility.

900.4.1   SCREENING AND PLACEMENT
The officer responsible for an individual in custody shall:

(a) Advise the Shift Supervisor of any significant risks presented by the individual (e.g.,
suicide risk, health risk, violence).

(b) Evaluate the following issues against the stated risks in (a) to determine the need for
placing the individual in a single cell:

1. Consider whether the individual may be at a high risk of being sexually abused
based on all available known information (28 CFR 115.141), or whether the
person is facing any other identified risk.

2. Provide any individual identified as being at a high risk for sexual or other
victimization with heightened protection. This may include (28 CFR 115.113; 28
CFR 115.141):

(a) Continuous, direct sight and sound supervision.

(b) Single-cell placement in a cell that is actively monitored on video by a
member who is available to immediately intervene.

3. Ensure individuals are separated according to severity of the crime (e.g., felony
or misdemeanor).

4. Ensure males and females are separated by sight and sound when in cells.

5. Ensure restrained individuals are not placed in cells with unrestrained
individuals.

(c) Ensure that those confined under civil process or for civil causes are kept separate
from those who are in temporary custody pending criminal charges.

(d) Ensure separation, as appropriate, based on other factors, such as age, criminal
sophistication, assaultive/non-assaultive behavior, mental state, disabilities and
sexual orientation.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 535

900.4.2   CONSULAR NOTIFICATION
Consular notification may be mandatory when certain foreign nationals are arrested. The Patrol
Section Section Commander will ensure that the U.S. Department of State’s list of countries
and jurisdictions that require mandatory notification is readily available to agency members.
There should also be a published list of foreign embassy and consulate telephone and fax
numbers, as well as standardized notification forms that can be transmitted and then retained for
documentation. Prominently displayed signs informing foreign nationals of their rights related to
consular notification should also be posted in areas used for the temporary custody of adults.

Agency members assigned to process a foreign national shall:

(a) Inform the individual, without delay, that he/she may have his/her consular officers
notified of the arrest or detention and may communicate with them.

1. This notification should be documented.

(b) Determine whether the foreign national’s country is on the U.S. Department of State’s
mandatory notification list.

1. If the country is on the mandatory notification list, then:

(a) Notify the country’s nearest embassy or consulate of the arrest or
detention by fax or telephone.

(b) Tell the individual that this notification has been made and inform him/her
without delay that he/she may communicate with consular officers.

(c) Forward any communication from the individual to his/her consular officers
without delay.

(d) Document all notifications to the embassy or consulate and retain the
faxed notification and any fax confirmation for the individual’s file.

2. If the country is not on the mandatory notification list and the individual requests
that his/her consular officers be notified, then:

(a) Notify the country’s nearest embassy or consulate of the arrest or
detention by fax or telephone.

(b) Forward any communication from the individual to his/her consular officers
without delay.

900.4.3   INDIVIDUAL RIGHT NOTIFICATION
To ensure compliance with all treaty obligations, including consular notification and state and
federal laws, an officer should ensure an individual who is in temporary custody receives an
explanation in writing, with interpretation into another language if requested, of the following (2021
Oregon Laws, HB 3265 § 2):

(a) The individual’s right to refuse to disclose the individual’s nationality, citizenship, or
immigration status.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 536

(b) That the disclosure of the individual’s nationality, citizenship, or immigration status
may result in a civil or criminal immigration enforcement, including removal from the
United States.

900.5   SAFETY, HEALTH, AND OTHER PROVISIONS

900.5.1   TEMPORARY CUSTODY LOGS
Any time an individual is in temporary custody at the City of Sherwood Police Department, the
custody shall be promptly and properly documented in a custody log, including:

(a) Identifying information about the individual, including his/her name.

(b) Date and time of arrival at the Agency.

(c) Any charges for which the individual is in temporary custody and any case number.

(d) Time of all safety checks.

(e) Any medical and other screening requested and completed.

(f) Any emergency situations or unusual incidents.

(g) Any other information that may be required by other authorities, such as compliance
inspectors.

(h) Date and time of release from the City of Sherwood Police Department.

The Shift Supervisor should initial the log to approve the temporary custody and should also initial
the log when the individual is released from custody or transferred to another facility.

The Shift Supervisor should make periodic checks to ensure all log entries and safety and security
checks are made on time.

900.5.2   TEMPORARY CUSTODY REQUIREMENTS
Members monitoring or processing anyone in temporary custody shall ensure:

(a) Safety checks and significant incidents/activities are noted on the log.

(b) Individuals in custody are informed that they will be monitored at all times, except
when using the toilet.

1. There shall be no viewing devices, such as peep holes or mirrors, of which the
individual is not aware.

2. This does not apply to surreptitious and legally obtained recorded interrogations.

(c) There is reasonable access to toilets and wash basins (ORS 169.078). 

(d) There is reasonable access to a drinking fountain or water.

(e) There are reasonable opportunities to stand and stretch, particularly if handcuffed or
otherwise restrained.

(f) There is privacy during attorney visits.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 537

(g) Those in temporary custody are generally permitted to remain in their personal clothing
unless it is taken as evidence or is otherwise unsuitable or inadequate for continued
wear while in custody.

(h) Clean blankets are provided as reasonably necessary to ensure the comfort of an
individual.

1. The supervisor should ensure that there is an adequate supply of clean blankets.

(i) Adequate shelter, heat, light and ventilation are provided without compromising
security or enabling escape.

(j) Adequate furnishings are available, including suitable chairs or benches (ORS
169.078). 

900.5.3   MEDICAL CARE
First-aid equipment and basic medical supplies should be available to agency members. At least
one member who has current certification in basic first aid and CPR should be on-duty at all times.

Should a person in custody be injured or become ill, appropriate medical assistance should be
sought. A supervisor shall meet with those providing medical aid at the facility to allow access
to the person. Members shall comply with the opinion of medical personnel as to whether an
individual in temporary custody should be transported to the hospital. If the person is transported
while still in custody, he/she will be accompanied by an officer.

Those who require medication while in temporary custody should not be at the City of Sherwood
Police Department. They should be released or transferred to another facility as appropriate.

900.5.4   ORTHOPEDIC OR PROSTHETIC APPLIANCE
Subject to safety and security concerns, individuals shall be permitted to retain an orthopedic or
prosthetic appliance. However, if the appliance presents a risk of bodily harm to any person or is
a risk to the security of the facility, the appliance may be removed from the individual unless its
removal would be injurious to his/her health or safety.

Whenever a prosthetic or orthopedic appliance is removed, the Shift Supervisor shall be promptly
apprised of the reason. It shall be promptly returned when it reasonably appears that any risk no
longer exists.

900.5.5   TELEPHONE CALLS
Every individual in temporary custody should be allowed to make a reasonable number of
completed telephone calls as soon as possible after arrival.

(a) Telephone calls may be limited to local calls, except that long-distance calls may be
made by the individual at his/her own expense.

1. The Agency should pay the cost of any long-distance calls related to arranging
for the care of a child or dependent adult (see the Child and Dependent Adult
Safety Policy).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 538

(b) The individual should be given sufficient time to contact whomever he/she desires
and to make any necessary arrangements, including child or dependent adult care,
or transportation upon release.

1. Telephone calls are not intended to be lengthy conversations. The member
assigned to monitor or process the individual may use his/her judgment in
determining the duration of the calls.

(c) Calls between an individual in temporary custody and his/her attorney shall be deemed
confidential and shall not be monitored, eavesdropped upon or recorded.

900.5.6   RELIGIOUS ACCOMMODATION
Subject to available resources, safety and security, the religious beliefs and needs of all individuals
in custody should be reasonably accommodated. Requests for religious accommodation should
generally be granted unless there is a compelling security or safety reason and denying the request
is the least restrictive means available to ensure security or safety. The responsible supervisor
should be advised any time a request for religious accommodation is denied.

Those who request to wear headscarves or simple head coverings for religious reasons should
generally be accommodated absent unusual circumstances. Head coverings shall be searched
before being worn.

Individuals wearing headscarves or other approved coverings shall not be required to remove them
while in the presence of or while visible to the opposite sex if they so desire. Religious garments
that substantially cover the individual’s head and face may be temporarily removed during the
taking of any photographs.

900.5.7   FIREARMS AND OTHER SECURITY MEASURES
Firearms and other weapons and control devices shall not be permitted in secure areas where
individuals are in custody or are processed (ORS 169.078).  They should be properly secured
outside of the secure area. An exception may occur only during emergencies, upon approval of
a supervisor.

All perimeter doors to secure areas shall be kept locked at all times, except during routine cleaning,
when no individuals in custody are present or in the event of an emergency, such as an evacuation.

900.5.8   NONDISCRIMINATION
The City of Sherwood Police Department shall not deny services, benefits, privileges, or
opportunities to an individual in custody based on a known or suspected immigration status,
the existence of an immigration detainer, hold, notification, or other related federal immigration
request, or a civil immigration warrant, except as required by law (2021 Oregon Laws, HB 3265
§ 2).

900.6   USE OF RESTRAINT DEVICES
Individuals in custody may be handcuffed in accordance with the Handcuffing and Restraints
Policy. Unless an individual presents a heightened risk, handcuffs should generally be removed
when the person is in a cell.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 539

The use of restraints, other than handcuffs or leg irons, generally should not be used for individuals
in temporary custody at the City of Sherwood Police Department unless the person presents a
heightened risk, and only in compliance with the Handcuffing and Restraints Policy.

Individuals in restraints shall be kept away from other unrestrained individuals in custody and
monitored to protect them from abuse.

900.6.1   PREGNANT ADULTS
Women who are known to be pregnant should be restrained in accordance with the Handcuffing
and Restraints Policy.

900.7   PERSONAL PROPERTY
The personal property of an individual in temporary custody should be removed, inventoried
and processed as provided in the Custodial Searches Policy, unless the individual requests a
different disposition. For example, an individual may request property (i.e., cash, car or house
keys, medications) be released to another person. A request for the release of property to another
person must be made in writing. Release of the property requires the recipient’s signature on the
appropriate form.

Upon release of an individual from temporary custody, his/her items of personal property shall
be compared with the inventory, and he/she shall sign a receipt for the property's return. If the
individual is transferred to another facility or court, the member transporting the individual is
required to obtain the receiving person’s signature as notice of receipt. The Agency shall maintain
a copy of the property receipt.

The Shift Supervisor shall be notified whenever an individual alleges that there is a shortage or
discrepancy regarding his/her property. The Shift Supervisor shall attempt to prove or disprove
the claim.

900.8   HOLDING CELLS
A thorough inspection of a cell shall be conducted before placing an individual into the cell to
ensure there are no weapons or contraband and that the cell is clean and sanitary. An inspection
also should be conducted when he/she is released. Any damage noted to the cell should be
photographed and documented.

The following requirements shall apply:

(a) The individual shall be searched (see the Custodial Searches Policy), and anything
that could create a security or suicide risk, such as contraband, hazardous items, belts,
shoes or shoelaces and jackets, shall be removed.

(b) The individual shall constantly be monitored by an audio/video system during the entire
custody.

(c) The individual shall have constant auditory access to agency members.

(d) The individual’s initial placement into and removal from a locked enclosure shall be
logged.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 540

(e) Safety checks by agency members shall occur no less than every 15 minutes.

1. Safety checks should be at varying times.

2. All safety checks shall be logged.

3. The safety check should involve questioning the individual as to his/her well-
being.

4. Individuals who are sleeping or apparently sleeping should be awakened.

5. Requests or concerns of the individual should be logged.

900.9   SUICIDE ATTEMPT, DEATH OR SERIOUS INJURY
The Patrol Section Section Commander will ensure procedures are in place to address any suicide
attempt, death or serious injury of any individual in temporary custody at the City of Sherwood
Police Department. The procedures should include the following:

(a) Immediate request for emergency medical assistance if appropriate.

(b) Immediate notification of the Shift Supervisor, Police Chief and Support
Section Section Commander.

(c) Notification of the spouse, next of kin or other appropriate person.

(d) Notification of the appropriate prosecutor.

(e) Notification of the City Attorney.

(f) Notification of the Medical Examiner.

(g) Evidence preservation.

900.10   RELEASE AND/OR TRANSFER
When an individual is released or transferred from custody, the member releasing the individual
should ensure the following:

(a) All proper reports, forms and logs have been completed prior to release.

(b) A check has been made to ensure that the individual is not reported as missing and
does not have outstanding warrants.

(c) It has been confirmed that the correct individual is being released or transported.

(d) All property, except evidence, contraband or dangerous weapons, has been returned
to, or sent with, the individual.

(e) All pertinent documentation accompanies the individual being transported to another
facility (e.g., copies of booking forms, medical records, an itemized list of his/her
property, warrant copies).

(f) The individual is not permitted in any nonpublic areas of the City of Sherwood Police
Department unless escorted by a member of the Agency.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Temporary Custody of Adults

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Temporary Custody of Adults - 541

(g) Any known threat or danger the individual may pose (e.g., escape risk, suicide
potential, medical condition) is documented, and the documentation transported with
the individual if he/she is being sent to another facility.

1. The agency member transporting the individual shall ensure such risks are
communicated to intake personnel at the other facility.

(h) Generally, persons of the opposite sex, or adults and juveniles, should not be
transported in the same vehicle unless they are physically separated by a solid barrier.
If segregating individuals is not practicable, officers should be alert to inappropriate
physical or verbal contact and take appropriate action as necessary.

(i) Transfers between facilities or other entities, such as a hospital, should be
accomplished with a custodial escort of the same sex as the person being transferred
to assist with his/her personal needs as reasonable.

900.11   ASSIGNED ADMINISTRATOR
The Patrol Section Section Commander will ensure any reasonably necessary supplemental
procedures are in place to address the following issues (ORS 169.078):

(a) General security

(b) Key control

(c) Sanitation and maintenance

(d) Emergency medical treatment

(e) Escapes

(f) Evacuation plans

(g)  Fire- and life-safety 

(h)  Disaster plans 

(i)  Building and safety code compliance 

900.12   TRAINING
Agency members should be trained and familiar with this policy and any supplemental procedures.



Policy

1000
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Recruitment and Selection - 559

Recruitment and Selection
1000.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides a framework for employee recruiting efforts and identifying job-related
standards for the selection process. This policy supplements the rules that govern employment
practices for the City of Sherwood Police Department and that are promulgated and maintained
by the Department of Human Resources.

1000.2   POLICY
In accordance with applicable federal, state, and local law, the City of Sherwood Police
Department provides equal opportunities for applicants and employees, regardless of actual
or perceived race, ethnicity, national origin, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or
expression, age, disability, pregnancy, genetic information, veteran status, marital status, and any
other classification or status protected by law. The Agency does not show partiality or grant any
special status to any applicant, employee, or group of employees unless otherwise required by
law.

The Agency will recruit and hire only those individuals who demonstrate a commitment to service
and who possess the traits and characteristics that reflect personal integrity and high ethical
standards.

1000.2.1   SELECTION
The selection of non-sworn employees will be administered by the City of Sherwood Department
of Human Resources Manager and will include participation of police department personnel
as designated by the Police Chief. Finalists will be interviewed by the Police Chief prior to
appointment. A conditional job offer will be made contingent on submission of inked fingerprints
for criminal history clearance as required by the Oregon State Police Criminal Justice Information
System Division.

The recruitment and selection process for police officers will ensure that the applicant meets the
standards and is tested as required by the Oregon Department of Public Safety and Training,
(Oregon Administrative Rules, Chapter 259-008.) The initial phase of the selection process
will determine whether the applicant meets the minimum qualifications as set forth in the job
description. A formal job description will be established for every position within the agency, and
will be periodically reviewed and updated. The City of Sherwood Human Resources Manager will
maintain current and accurate job descriptions that include required duties and responsibilities
for all positions within the Sherwood Police Department. The subsequent phases of the process
will progressively eliminate unsuitable candidates and advance the most qualified applicants; who
must successfully complete the following:

• Oregon Physical Abilities Test

• National Police Officer Selection Test



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Recruitment and Selection

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Recruitment and Selection - 560

• Panel interviews

• Submission of a background packet, Personal History Questionnaire, and California
Personality Inventory

• Initial non-medical assessment of the Personal History Questionnaire

• Submission of inked fingerprints for criminal records check

• Interview by command staff

• Conditional job offer

• Background investigation

• Review of background investigation

• Psychological assessment

• Medical test

• Appointment

This process may be modified to accommodate specific conditions or requirements of
assignments. (An example of such modification may pertain to officers applying for lateral transfer
that are currently certified in Oregon.)

1000.3   RECRUITMENT
The Administration Section Commander should employ a comprehensive recruitment and
selection strategy to recruit and select employees from a qualified and diverse pool of candidates.

The strategy should include:

(a) Identification of racially and culturally diverse target markets.

(b) Use of marketing strategies to target diverse applicant pools.

(c) Expanded use of technology and maintenance of a strong internet presence. This
may include an interactive agency website and the use of agency-managed social
networking sites, if resources permit.

(d) Expanded outreach through partnerships with media, community groups, citizen
academies, local colleges, universities and the military.

(e) Employee referral and recruitment incentive programs.

(f) Consideration of shared or collaborative regional testing processes.

The Administration Section Commander shall avoid advertising, recruiting and screening practices
that tend to stereotype, focus on homogeneous applicant pools or screen applicants in a
discriminatory manner.

The Agency should strive to facilitate and expedite the screening and testing process, and should
periodically inform each candidate of his/her status in the recruiting process.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Recruitment and Selection

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Recruitment and Selection - 561

1000.4   SELECTION PROCESS
The Agency shall actively strive to identify a diverse group of candidates who have in some manner
distinguished themselves as being outstanding prospects. Minimally, the Agency should employ
a comprehensive screening, background investigation, and selection process that assesses
cognitive and physical abilities and includes review and verification of the following:

(a) A comprehensive application for employment (including previous employment,
references, current and prior addresses, education, military record)

(a) The personnel records of any applicant for officer or reserve officer shall be
requested from any law enforcement agency where the applicant was previously
employed and reviewed prior to extending an offer of employment (2020 Oregon
Laws, c.7, § 4)._

(b) Driving record

(c) Reference checks

(d) Employment eligibility, including U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services (USCIS)
Employment Eligibility Verification Form I-9 and acceptable identity and employment
authorization documents. This required documentation should not be requested until
a candidate is hired. This does not prohibit obtaining documents required for other
purposes.

(e) Information obtained from public internet sites

(f) Financial history consistent with the Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) (15 USC § 1681
et seq.) and ORS 659A.320

(g) Local, state, and federal criminal history record checks

(h) Medical and psychological examination (may only be given after a conditional offer
of employment)

(i) Review board or selection committee assessment

1000.4.1   VETERAN PREFERENCE
Veterans of the United States Armed Forces who served on active duty and who meet the minimum
qualification for employment may receive preference pursuant to ORS 408.230.

1000.5   BACKGROUND INVESTIGATION
Every candidate shall undergo a thorough background investigation to verify his/her personal
integrity and high ethical standards, and to identify any past behavior that may be indicative of
the candidate’s unsuitability to perform duties relevant to the operation of the City of Sherwood
Police Department (OAR 259-008-0015).

1000.5.1   NOTICES
Background investigators shall ensure that investigations are conducted and notices provided in
accordance with the requirements of the FCRA (15 USC § 1681d).



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Recruitment and Selection

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Recruitment and Selection - 562

1000.5.2   REVIEW OF SOCIAL MEDIA SITES
Due to the potential for accessing unsubstantiated, private or protected information, the
Administration Section Commander shall not require candidates to provide passwords, account
information or access to password-protected social media accounts (ORS 659A.330).

The Administration Section Commander should consider utilizing the services of an appropriately
trained and experienced third party to conduct open source, internet-based searches and/or
review information from social media sites to ensure that:

(a) The legal rights of candidates are protected.

(b) Material and information to be considered are verified, accurate and validated.

(c) The Agency fully complies with applicable privacy protections and local, state and
federal law.

Regardless of whether a third party is used, the Administration Section Commander should ensure
that potentially impermissible information is not available to any person involved in the candidate
selection process.

1000.5.3   DOCUMENTING AND REPORTING
The background investigator shall summarize the results of the background investigation in a
report that includes sufficient information to allow the reviewing authority to decide whether to
extend a conditional offer of employment. The report shall not include any information that is
prohibited from use, including that from social media sites, in making employment decisions.
The report and all supporting documentation shall be included in the candidate’s background
investigation file.

1000.5.4   RECORDS RETENTION
The background report and all supporting documentation shall be maintained in accordance with
the established records retention schedule.

1000.5.5   STATE NOTICES
Background investigators shall ensure that investigations are conducted and notices provided in
accordance with ORS 659A.320.

1000.6   DISQUALIFICATION GUIDELINES
As a general rule, performance indicators and candidate information and records shall be
evaluated by considering the candidate as a whole, and taking into consideration the following:

• Age at the time the behavior occurred

• Passage of time

• Patterns of past behavior

• Severity of behavior

• Probable consequences if past behavior is repeated or made public



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Recruitment and Selection

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Recruitment and Selection - 563

• Likelihood of recurrence

• Relevance of past behavior to public safety employment

• Aggravating and mitigating factors

• Other relevant considerations

A candidate’s qualifications will be assessed on a case-by-case basis, using a totality-of-the-
circumstances framework.

1000.7   EMPLOYMENT STANDARDS
All candidates shall meet the minimum standards required by state law (OAR 259-008-0010; OAR
259-008-0300). Candidates will be evaluated based on merit, ability, competence, and experience,
in accordance with the high standards of integrity and ethics valued by the Agency and the
community.

Validated, job-related, and nondiscriminatory employment standards shall be established for each
job classification and shall minimally identify the training, abilities, knowledge, and skills required
to perform the position’s essential duties in a satisfactory manner. Each standard should include
performance indicators for candidate evaluation. The Department of Human Resources should
maintain validated standards for all positions.

1000.7.1   STANDARDS FOR OFFICERS
Candidates shall meet the minimum standards established by the Oregon Department of Public
Safety Standards and Training (DPSST), including the following (OAR 259-008-0010; OAR
259-008-0300):

(a) Be a citizen of the United States or a nonimmigrant legally admitted to the United
States under a Compact of Free Association within 18 months of hire date

(b) Be at least 21 years of age

(c) Be fingerprinted for a check by the Oregon State Police Identification Services Section
within 90 days of employment

(d) Be free of convictions for any of the following:

1. Any felony

2. Any offense for which the maximum term of imprisonment is more than one year

3. Any offense related to the unlawful use, possession, delivery, or manufacture of
a controlled substance, narcotic, or dangerous drug

4. Any offense that would subject the candidate to a denial or revocation of a peace
officer license

(e) Meet the moral fitness standards

(f) Possess a high school diploma, GED equivalent, or a four-year post-secondary degree

(g) Complete a medical examination



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Recruitment and Selection

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Recruitment and Selection - 564

(h) Meet the physical standards requirements

(i) Complete a psychological screening (ORS 181A.485)

(j) Complete a law enforcement skills proficiency test

1000.7.2   STANDARDS FOR DISPATCHERS
Candidates shall meet the minimum standards established by DPSST, including the
following (OAR 259-008-0011; OAR 259-008-0300):

(a) Be fingerprinted for a check by the Oregon State Police Identification Services Section
within 90 days of employment

(b) Be free of convictions for any of the following:

1. Any felony

2. Any offense for which the maximum term of imprisonment is more than one year

3. Any offense related to the unlawful use, possession, delivery, or manufacture of
a controlled substance, narcotic, or dangerous drug

4. Any offense that would subject the candidate to a denial or revocation of a
telecommunicator license

(c) Meet the moral fitness standards

(d) Possess a high school diploma, GED equivalent, or a four-year advanced degree

(e) Complete a medical examination

(f) Meet the physical standards requirements

1000.8   PROBATIONARY PERIODS
The Administration Section Commander should coordinate with the Sherwood Department of
Human Resources to identify positions subject to probationary periods and procedures for:

(a) Appraising performance during probation.

(b) Assessing the level of performance required to complete probation.

(c) Extending probation.

(d) Documenting successful or unsuccessful completion of probation.



Policy

1011
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 590

Personnel Complaints
1011.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
This policy provides guidelines for the reporting, investigation and disposition of complaints
regarding the conduct of members of the City of Sherwood Police Department. This policy shall not
apply to any questioning, counseling, instruction, informal verbal admonishment or other routine
or unplanned contact of a member in the normal course of duty, by a supervisor or any other
member, nor shall this policy apply to a criminal investigation.

1011.2   POLICY
The City of Sherwood Police Department takes seriously all complaints regarding the service
provided by the Agency and the conduct of its members.

The Agency will accept and address all complaints of misconduct in accordance with this policy
and applicable federal, state and local law, municipal and county rules and the requirements of
any collective bargaining agreements.

It is also the policy of this agency to ensure that the community can report misconduct without
concern for reprisal or retaliation.

1011.3   PERSONNEL COMPLAINTS
Personnel complaints include any allegation of misconduct or improper job performance that, if
true, would constitute a violation of agency policy or of federal, state or local law, policy or rule.
Personnel complaints may be generated internally or by the public.

Inquiries about conduct or performance that, if true, would not violate agency policy or federal,
state or local law, policy or rule may be handled informally by a supervisor and shall not be
considered a personnel complaint. Such inquiries generally include clarification regarding policy,
procedures or the response to specific incidents by the Agency.

1011.3.1   COMPLAINT CLASSIFICATIONS
Personnel complaints shall be classified in one of the following categories:

Informal - A matter in which the Shift Supervisor is satisfied that appropriate action has been
taken by a supervisor of rank greater than the accused member.

Formal - A matter in which a supervisor determines that further action is warranted. Such
complaints may be investigated by a supervisor of rank greater than the accused member or
referred to the Professional Standards Unit, depending on the seriousness and complexity of the
investigation.

Incomplete - A matter in which the complaining party either refuses to cooperate or becomes
unavailable after diligent follow-up investigation. At the discretion of the assigned supervisor or
the Professional Standards Unit, such matters may be further investigated depending on the
seriousness of the complaint and the availability of sufficient information.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 591

1011.3.2   SOURCES OF COMPLAINTS
The following applies to the source of complaints:

(a) Individuals from the public may make complaints in any form, including in writing, by
email, in person or by telephone.

(b) Any agency member becoming aware of alleged misconduct shall immediately notify
a supervisor.

(c) Supervisors shall initiate a complaint based upon observed misconduct or receipt from
any source alleging misconduct that, if true, could result in disciplinary action.

(d) Anonymous and third-party complaints should be accepted and investigated to the
extent that sufficient information is provided.

(e) Tort claims and lawsuits may generate a personnel complaint.

1011.4   AVAILABILITY AND ACCEPTANCE OF COMPLAINTS

1011.4.1   COMPLAINT FORMS
Personnel complaint forms will be maintained in a clearly visible location in the public area of the
police facility and be accessible through the agency website. Forms may also be available at other
City facilities.

Personnel complaint forms in languages other than English may also be provided, as determined
necessary or practicable.

1011.4.2   ACCEPTANCE
All complaints will be courteously accepted by any agency member and promptly given to the
appropriate supervisor. Although written complaints are preferred, a complaint may also be filed
orally, either in person or by telephone. Such complaints will be directed to a supervisor. If a
supervisor is not immediately available to take an oral complaint, the receiving member shall obtain
contact information sufficient for the supervisor to contact the complainant. The supervisor, upon
contact with the complainant, shall complete and submit a complaint form as appropriate.

Although not required, complainants should be encouraged to file complaints in person so that
proper identification, signatures, photographs or physical evidence may be obtained as necessary.

1011.5   DOCUMENTATION
Supervisors shall ensure that all formal and informal complaints are documented on a complaint
form. The supervisor shall ensure that the nature of the complaint is defined as clearly as possible.

All complaints and inquiries should also be documented in a log that records and tracks complaints.
The log shall include the nature of the complaint and the actions taken to address the complaint.
On an annual basis, the Agency should audit the log and send an audit report to the Police Chief
or the authorized designee.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 592

1011.5.1   COMPLAINTS ALLEGING PROFILING
Complaints related to profiling should be clearly marked to assist in reporting as required in the
Bias-Based Policing Policy (ORS 131.920).

1011.6   ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATIONS
Allegations of misconduct will be administratively investigated as follows.

1011.6.1   SUPERVISOR RESPONSIBILITIES
In general, the primary responsibility for the investigation of a personnel complaint shall rest with
the member's immediate supervisor, unless the supervisor is the complainant, or the supervisor
is the ultimate decision-maker regarding disciplinary action or has any personal involvement
regarding the alleged misconduct. The Police Chief or the authorized designee may direct that
another supervisor investigate any complaint.

A supervisor who becomes aware of alleged misconduct shall take reasonable steps to prevent
aggravation of the situation.

The responsibilities of supervisors include, but are not limited to:

(a) Ensuring that upon receiving or initiating any formal complaint, a complaint form is
completed.

1. The original complaint form will be directed to the Shift Supervisor of the accused
member, via the chain of command, who will take appropriate action and/or
determine who will have responsibility for the investigation.

2. In circumstances where the integrity of the investigation could be jeopardized by
reducing the complaint to writing or where the confidentiality of a complainant
is at issue, a supervisor shall orally report the matter to the member's Section
Commander or the Police Chief, who will initiate appropriate action.

(b) Responding to all complainants in a courteous and professional manner.

(c) Resolving those personnel complaints that can be resolved immediately.

1. Follow-up contact with the complainant should be made within 24 hours of the
Agency receiving the complaint.

2. If the matter is resolved and no further action is required, the supervisor will note
the resolution on a complaint form and forward the form to the Shift Supervisor.

(d) Ensuring that upon receipt of a complaint involving allegations of a potentially serious
nature, the Shift Supervisor and Police Chief are notified via the chain of command
as soon as practicable.

(e) Promptly contacting the Department of Human Resources and the Shift Supervisor for
direction regarding the supervisor's role in addressing a complaint that relates to
sexual, racial, ethnic or other forms of prohibited harassment or discrimination.

(f) Forwarding unresolved personnel complaints to the Shift Supervisor, who will
determine whether to contact the complainant or assign the complaint for investigation.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 593

(g) Informing the complainant of the investigator’s name and the complaint number within
three days after assignment.

(h) Investigating a complaint as follows:

1. Making reasonable efforts to obtain names, addresses and telephone numbers
of witnesses.

2. When appropriate, ensuring immediate medical attention is provided and
photographs of alleged injuries and accessible uninjured areas are taken.

(i) Ensuring that the procedural rights of the accused member are followed.

(j) Ensuring interviews of the complainant are generally conducted during reasonable
hours.

(k) Providing the complainant with periodic updates on the status of the investigation, as
appropriate.

1011.6.2   ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATION PROCEDURES
Whether conducted by a supervisor or a member of the Professional Standards Unit, the following
applies to employees covered by the provisions of ORS 236.350 through ORS 236.360.

(a) Interviews of an accused employee shall be conducted during reasonable (normal
waking) hours and preferably when the employee is on-duty, unless the seriousness
of the investigation requires otherwise. If the employee is off-duty, he/she shall be
compensated.

(b) Unless waived by the employee, interviews of an accused employee shall be at the
City of Sherwood Police Department or other reasonable and appropriate place.

(c) No more than two interviewers should ask questions of an accused employee.

(d) The interviewers shall inform the employee of their authority to compel a statement
and of the identity of the investigators and all persons present during the interview.

(e) Prior to any interview, an employee should be informed of the nature of the
investigation and of facts reasonably sufficient to inform the employee of the
circumstances surrounding the allegations under investigation.

(f) All interviews should be for a reasonable period and the employee's personal needs
should be accommodated.

(g) No employee should be subjected to offensive or threatening language, nor shall any
promises, rewards, or other inducements be used to obtain answers.

(h) Any employee refusing to answer questions directly related to the investigation may
be ordered to answer questions administratively and may be subject to discipline for
failing to do so.

1. An employee should be given an order to answer questions in an administrative
investigation that might incriminate the member in a criminal matter only after
the member has been given a Garrity advisement. Administrative investigators
should consider the impact that compelling a statement from the employee
may have on any related criminal investigation and should take reasonable



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 594

steps to avoid creating any foreseeable conflicts between the two related
investigations. This may include conferring with the person in charge of the
criminal investigation (e.g., discussion of processes, timing, implications).

2. No information or evidence administratively coerced from an employee may be
provided to anyone involved in conducting the criminal investigation or to any
prosecutor.

(i) The interviewer should record all interviews of employees and witnesses. The
employee may also record the interview. If the employee has been previously
interviewed, a copy of that recorded interview, and upon request any existing
transcripts of the interview or reports describing the interview, shall be provided to the
employee prior to any subsequent interview.

(j) All employees subjected to interviews that could result in discipline have the right to
have an uninvolved representative present during the interview. However, to maintain
the integrity of each individual’s statement, involved employees shall not consult
or meet with a representative or attorney collectively or in groups prior to being
interviewed.

(k) In a disciplinary or administrative investigation, the employee's chosen representative
cannot be required to disclose, or be subject to disciplinary action for refusing to
disclose, statements made by the employee to the representative for purposes of the
representation.

(l) As soon as it is determined that the employee may be charged with a criminal offense,
the employee shall be informed of the employee’s right to consult with criminal defense
counsel with respect to the criminal charge.

(m) All employees shall provide complete and truthful responses to questions posed during
interviews.

(n) No employee may be compelled to submit to a polygraph examination, nor shall any
refusal to submit to such examination be mentioned in any investigation.

1011.6.3   ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATION FORMAT
Formal investigations of personnel complaints shall be thorough, complete and essentially follow
this format:

Introduction - Include the identity of the members, the identity of the assigned investigators, the
initial date and source of the complaint.

Synopsis - Provide a brief summary of the facts giving rise to the investigation.

Summary - List the allegations separately, including applicable policy sections, with a brief
summary of the evidence relevant to each allegation. A separate recommended finding should
be provided for each allegation.

Evidence - Each allegation should be set forth with the details of the evidence applicable to each
allegation provided, including comprehensive summaries of member and witness statements.
Other evidence related to each allegation should also be detailed in this section.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 595

Conclusion - A recommendation regarding further action or disposition should be provided.

Exhibits - A separate list of exhibits (e.g., recordings, photos, documents) should be attached
to the report.

1011.6.4   DISPOSITIONS
Each personnel complaint shall be classified with one of the following dispositions:

Unfounded - When the investigation discloses that the alleged acts did not occur or did not
involve agency members. Complaints that are determined to be frivolous will fall within the
classification of unfounded.

Exonerated - When the investigation discloses that the alleged act occurred but that the act was
justified, lawful and/or proper.

Not sustained - When the investigation discloses that there is insufficient evidence to sustain the
complaint or fully exonerate the member.

Sustained - When the investigation discloses sufficient evidence to establish that the act occurred
and that it constituted misconduct.

If an investigation discloses misconduct or improper job performance that was not alleged in
the original complaint, the investigator shall take appropriate action with regard to any additional
allegations.

1011.6.5   COMPLETION OF INVESTIGATIONS
The Administration Supervisor shall ensure that investigations are completed and peace officers
are provided notification of intended discipline no later than six months from the date of the
first interview. The Police Chief or Administration Supervisor may extend the investigation to a
maximum of 12 months from the date of the first interview, provided that, before the extended
period begins, the Agency gives written notice explaining the reason for the extension to the
peace officer and the peace officer’s chosen representative and union representative, if any (ORS
236.360(6)(a)).

The above time limits do not apply when (ORS 236.360(6)(b)):

(a) The investigation involves a peace officer who is incapacitated or unavailable.

(b) The investigation involves an allegation of workers' compensation or disability fraud
by the peace officer.

(c) The peace officer, in writing, waives the limit.

(d) The investigation requires a reasonable extension of time for coordination with one or
more other jurisdictions.

(e) The investigation involves more than one peace officer and requires a reasonable
extension of time.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 596

(f) The alleged misconduct is also the subject of a criminal investigation or criminal
prosecution. Time does not run for the period during which the criminal investigation
or criminal prosecution is pending.

(g) The investigation involves a matter in civil litigation in which the peace officer is a
named defendant or the peace officer’s actions are alleged to be a basis for liability.
Time does not run for the period during which the civil action is pending.

(h) The investigation is the result of a complaint by a person charged with a crime. Time
does not run for the period during which the criminal matter is pending.

1011.6.6   NOTICE TO COMPLAINANT OF INVESTIGATION STATUS
The member conducting the investigation should provide the complainant with periodic updates
on the status of the investigation, as appropriate.

1011.7   ADMINISTRATIVE SEARCHES
Assigned lockers, storage spaces and other areas, including desks, offices and vehicles, may be
searched as part of an administrative investigation upon a reasonable suspicion of misconduct.

Such areas may also be searched any time by a supervisor for non-investigative purposes, such
as obtaining a needed report, radio or other document or equipment.

1011.8   ADMINISTRATIVE LEAVE
When a complaint of misconduct is of a serious nature, or when circumstances indicate that
allowing the accused to continue to work would adversely affect the mission of the Agency,
the Police Chief or the authorized designee may temporarily assign an accused employee to
administrative leave. Any employee placed on administrative leave:

(a) May be required to relinquish any agency badge, identification, assigned weapons
and any other agency equipment.

(b) Shall be required to continue to comply with all policies and lawful orders of a
supervisor.

(c) May be temporarily reassigned to a different shift, generally a normal business-hours
shift, during the investigation. The employee may be required to remain available for
contact at all times during such shift, and will report as ordered.

1011.8.1   RESIGNATIONS/RETIREMENTS PRIOR TO COMPLETION OF INVESTIGATIONS
In the event that an employee tenders a written resignation or retirement prior to the completion
of an investigation, such action shall be noted in the investigative file.

The tender of a resignation or retirement by itself shall not serve as grounds for the suspension
of the investigation.

1011.9   CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION
Where a member is accused of potential criminal conduct, a separate supervisor or investigator
shall be assigned to investigate the criminal allegations apart from any administrative investigation.
Any separate administrative investigation may parallel a criminal investigation.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 597

The Police Chief shall be notified as soon as practicable when a member is accused of criminal
conduct. The Police Chief may request a criminal investigation by an outside law enforcement
agency.

A member accused of criminal conduct shall be provided with all rights afforded to a civilian.
The member should not be administratively ordered to provide any information in the criminal
investigation.

The City of Sherwood Police Department may release information concerning the arrest or
detention of any member, including an officer, that has not led to a conviction. No disciplinary
action should be taken until an independent administrative investigation is conducted.

1011.10   POST-ADMINISTRATIVE INVESTIGATION PROCEDURES
Upon completion of a formal investigation, an investigation report should be forwarded to the
Police Chief through the chain of command. Each level of command should review the report and
include his/her comments in writing before forwarding the report. The Police Chief may accept or
modify any classification or recommendation for disciplinary action. Forms of discipline include, but
are not limited to, training, counseling and punitive action.

1011.10.1   SECTION COMMANDER RESPONSIBILITIES
Upon receipt of any completed personnel investigation, the Section Commander of the involved
member shall review the entire investigative file, the member's personnel file and any other
relevant materials.

The Section Commander may make recommendations regarding the disposition of any allegations
and the amount of discipline, if any, to be imposed.

Prior to forwarding recommendations to the Police Chief, the Section Commander may return the
entire investigation to the assigned investigator or supervisor for further investigation or action.

When forwarding any written recommendation to the Police Chief, the Section Commander
shall include all relevant materials supporting the recommendation. Actual copies of a member's
existing personnel file need not be provided and may be incorporated by reference.

1011.10.2   POLICE CHIEF RESPONSIBILITIES
Upon receipt of any written recommendation for disciplinary action, the Police Chief shall
review the recommendation and all accompanying materials. The Police Chief may modify any
recommendation and/or may return the file to the Section Commander for further investigation
or action.

Once the Police Chief is satisfied that no further investigation or action is required by staff, the
Police Chief shall determine the amount of discipline, if any that should be imposed. In the event
disciplinary action is proposed, the Police Chief shall provide the member with a written notice
and the following:

(a) Access to all of the materials considered by the Police Chief in recommending the
proposed discipline.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 598

(b) An opportunity to respond orally or in writing to the Police Chief within five days of
receiving the notice.

1. Upon a showing of good cause by the member, the Police Chief may grant a
reasonable extension of time for the member to respond.

2. If the member elects to respond orally, the presentation shall be recorded by
the Agency. Upon request, the member shall be provided with a copy of the
recording.

Once the member has completed his/her response or if the member has elected to waive any such
response, the Police Chief shall consider all information received in regard to the recommended
discipline. The Police Chief shall render a timely written decision to the member and specify the
grounds and reasons for discipline and the effective date of the discipline. Once the Police Chief
has issued a written decision, the discipline shall become effective.

1011.10.3   NOTICE OF FINAL DISPOSITION TO THE COMPLAINANT
The Police Chief or the authorized designee should ensure that the complainant is notified of
the disposition (i.e., sustained, not sustained, exonerated, unfounded) of the complaint (ORS
181A.830).

If the complaint is related to profiling, the complainant shall be notified in writing with a statement
of the final disposition within a reasonable time after the conclusion of the investigation (ORS
131.920).

1011.10.4   NOTICE REQUIREMENTS
If an investigation of an officer of this agency results from a complaint, the Agency may disclose
to the complainant the disposition of the complaint and if necessary provide a written summary of
the information obtained in the investigation (ORS 181A.830).

1011.11   PRE-DISCIPLINE EMPLOYEE RESPONSE
The pre-discipline process is intended to provide the accused employee with an opportunity to
present a written or oral response to the Police Chief after having had an opportunity to review
the supporting materials and prior to imposition of any recommended discipline. The employee
shall consider the following:

(a) The response is not intended to be an adversarial or formal hearing.

(b) Although the employee may be represented by an uninvolved representative or legal
counsel, the response is not designed to accommodate the presentation of testimony
or witnesses.

(c) The employee may suggest that further investigation could be conducted or the
employee may offer any additional information or mitigating factors for the Police
Chief to consider.

(d) In the event that the Police Chief elects to conduct further investigation, the employee
shall be provided with the results prior to the imposition of any discipline.



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Personnel Complaints

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Personnel Complaints - 599

(e) The employee may thereafter have the opportunity to further respond orally or in
writing to the Police Chief on the limited issues of information raised in any subsequent
materials.

1011.12   RESIGNATIONS/RETIREMENTS PRIOR TO DISCIPLINE
In the event that a member tenders a written resignation or notice of retirement prior to the
imposition of discipline, it shall be noted in the file. The tender of a resignation or retirement by
itself shall not serve as grounds for the termination of any pending investigation or discipline.

1011.13   POST-DISCIPLINE APPEAL RIGHTS
Non-probationary employees have the right to appeal a suspension without pay, punitive transfer,
demotion, reduction in pay or step, or termination from employment. The employee has the right to
appeal using the procedures established by any collective bargaining agreement and/or personnel
rules.

1011.14   PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES AND OTHER MEMBERS
At-will and probationary employees and members other than non-probationary employees may
be disciplined and/or released from employment without adherence to any of the procedures set
out in this policy, and without notice or cause at any time. These individuals are not entitled to
any rights under this policy. However, any of these individuals released for misconduct should be
afforded an opportunity solely to clear their names through a liberty interest hearing, which shall
be limited to a single appearance before the Police Chief or the authorized designee.

Any probationary period may be extended at the discretion of the Police Chief in cases where the
individual has been absent for more than a week or when additional time to review the individual
is considered to be appropriate.

1011.15   RETENTION OF PERSONNEL INVESTIGATION FILES
All personnel complaints shall be maintained in accordance with the established records retention
schedule and as described in the Personnel Files Policy.

1011.16   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY STANDARDS AND TRAINING COMPLAINTS
Complaints received from the Department of Public Safety Standards and Training (DPSST) that
involve officers or dispatchers will be investigated as outlined in this policy. The Police Chief or
the authorized designee is responsible for notifying DPSST of the disposition of the complaint
(OAR 259-008-0400).



Policy

1017
City of Sherwood Police Department

Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Employee Awards and Recognition - 612

Employee Awards and Recognition
1017.1   PURPOSE AND SCOPE
The City of Sherwood Police Department's Awards and Recognition Program provides ongoing
recognition to employees for achievements that occur throughout the year. The awards and
recognition program focuses on achievements that are considered above and beyond the regular
scope of employment and seeks to recognize members for their exceptional, meritorious or
distinguished service, heroism and bravery.

1017.2   PROCEDURES
Throughout the year, the Police Chief, or his designee, shall solicit award nominations from
members of the department. The solicitation should happen every other month and will include the
forwarding of an awards nomination form to all members of the department. This solicitation can
be done via electronic email. Each year the Police Chief shall form a standing Awards Committee
which will be made up of the following persons; Police Chief, Police Captains, Police Sergeants,
one representative from the Sherwood Police Officer's Association, and one member of non-sworn
staff.

The committee shall convene as necessary, but no less than once a quarter, to review all award
nominations and make final determination of the recipients. Any committee member that has
been nominated for any award will be excused from deliberating for that award. Once the final
determination of awards has been made, the Police Chief, or his designee, will assure that all
awards, medals and/or appropriate plaques are ordered as needed.

The Police Chief, or his designee, shall plan ongoing employee recognition events throughout the
year, no less than once every quarter, and an Annual Award Ceremony to issue any end of year
awards and to recap the awards and recognitions from the year. The quarterly events may be
held at the police department and the end of year ceremony will be held at a place and time as
determined by location and schedule availability. The end of year ceremony should take place no
later than January 31st.

1017.3   AWARD CATEGORIES
The Sherwood Police Department will recognize and bestow the following awards according to
the listed classifications:

Medal of Valor - This medal may be issued to any employee who demonstrates bravery, courage
and heroism in the face of danger and in an emergency situation that involved risk. The member
must have clearly demonstrated a selfless attitude and devotion to duty. The act may have
occurred either on-duty or off-duty and the member clearly demonstrated a selfless attitude and
devotion to duty.

Distinguished Service Medal - This medal may be issued to any employee who demonstrates
exceptional service that occurred either as a single act or event, or as a series of acts or events



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Employee Awards and Recognition

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Employee Awards and Recognition - 613

over the course of a specified period of time. Exceptional service shall be defined as service which
is clearly above and beyond the regular call or tour of duty, or involves unique courage, but does
not rise to the level of valor. The service may have occurred either on-duty or off-duty.

Lifesaving Medal - This medal may be issued to any employee who takes decisive and specific
action that saves the life of another human being, and but for the employee's action the person
would have perished. The act may have occurred either on-duty or off-duty.

Chief's Medal- This medal should be issued to any employee solely upon selection of the Police
Chief. For determination of the recipient of this award, the Police Chief shouldconsider who best
exemplifies the mission and values of the police department, has brought tremendous credit to
the department, and/or has demonstrated leadership qualities and a personal commitment to the
success of the department.

Police Officer of the Year Award - This award will be issued to one sworn police officer as
selected by the Sherwood Police Officer's Association. The focus of this award should be based
on performance and activity during the previous year.

General Staff Award - This award will be issued to one staff member (Captain, Sergeant, or
civilian employee), as selected by the Sherwood Police Officer's Association, that distinguishes
themselves above others. This award may be issued based on the recipient's exceptional attitude
and willingness to assist others, their mentorship and/or leadership.

Meritorious Service Award - This award may be issued to any employee who demonstrates and/or
performs exceptional service while on duty and representing the department. Exceptional service
is defined as service that is a part of the employee's regular job but clearly exceeds the usual
standards and expectations of the position.

Team Award - This award should be issued to either an individual or group of individuals that best
represents teamwork and cooperation. The award should be based on the level of collaboration
demonstrated by the recipient(s) during the course of duty.

1017.4   OTHER AWARDS
In addition to the above mentioned and described City of Sherwood Police Department awards,
department members are also eligible to receive other awards from professional and reputable
organizations such as, but not limited to, IACP, OACP, and OPOA.

Nothing in this policy shall preclude any member from receiving other awards as earned. In cases
where members are eligible for additional non-departmental awards, the Chief of Police, or his
designee, shall insure that proper nomination has been made for these awards. Any member who
is the recipient of any non-departmental awards shall immediately notify their supervisor of the
award.

The City of Sherwood Police Department shall recognize the following medals, earned by
department members while employed with a previous law enforcement agency;

(a) Any medals of honor, valor or bravery



City of Sherwood Police Department
Sherwood PD OR Policy Manual

Employee Awards and Recognition

Copyright Lexipol, LLC 2021/09/08, All Rights Reserved.
Published with permission by City of Sherwood Police
Department

***DRAFT*** Employee Awards and Recognition - 614

(b) Any lifesaving medals




